
AnnuAl REPORT 2011

SKEllERuP HOlDInGS lIMITED

Splined bumper section  
resists impact damage

Double hackle to fit  
standard and short shells

Vacuum shut-off groove

9mm Multi-fit tail piece

An
n

u
Al REPO

RT 2011

RegiSteReD Office 
Skellerup Holdings Limited 
1–37 Mt Wellington Highway 
Mt Wellington

PO Box 14-537, Panmure 
Auckland 1741, New Zealand

Telephone: +64 9 571 1208 
Facsimile: +64 9 571 5896 
Email: info@skellerupholdings.co.nz 
Website: www.skellerupholdings.co.nz



The Skellerup Group of 
companies develops, markets, 
manufactures and distributes 

technical polymer products 
and vacuum pumps for a 

variety of specialist industrial  
and agricultural applications. 

Founded more than 100 years 
ago, today Skellerup is a global 

company headquartered in 
New Zealand, with operations 
in Asia, Europe, North America 

and Australasia.
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Operating revenue up 7.1%  
to $193.6 million

Net Profit after Tax (NPAT)  
up 68.9% to $20.2 million

Operating Cash Flow $33.0 million

Net Debt reduced from $26.9 million 
to $9.1 million

Final Dividend of 4.0 cents per  
share (fully imputed) payable  
21 October 2011

$193.6 (million)

REVENUE
UP 7.1%

$33.0 (million) $20.2 (million)

OPERATING  
CASH FLOW

NPAT

UP 37.5%

UP 68.9%
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Year on year comparative table

Year ended 30 June 2011 2010 %

$000 $000 change

Operating Revenue 193,593 180,719 7.1%

Trading EBITDA 39,518 28,596 38.2%

Trading EBIT 32,227 21,690 48.6%

Surplus before Tax 29,560 16,905 74.9%

Taxation 9,360 4,947 89.2%

Surplus after Tax for year 20,200 11,958 68.9%

Operating Cash Flow 33,022 23,952 37.9%

Total Assets 173,931 172,778

Total Liabilities 63,606 71,888

Net Assets 110,325 100,890

Earnings per share 10.50c 6.81c

Dividends per share 6.0c 4.5c

Total shares on issue 192,805,807 191,147,928
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This result is an especially pleasing performance given the disruption 
Skellerup has experienced in Canterbury. It reflects an improved trading 
environment as our customers recover from the impact of the Global 
Financial Crisis (GFC) together with gains from winning business through 
our focus on new products and the benefits of operational improvements. 

OVERVIEW

At $20.2 million this year’s Net Profit after Tax (NPAT) is an 
increase of $8.2 million, or 68.9% on the previous year, and  
is a record for the Company.

This result is an especially pleasing performance given the 
disruption Skellerup has experienced in Canterbury. It reflects an 
improved trading environment as our customers recover from the 
impact of the Global Financial Crisis (GFC) together with gains 
from winning business through our focus on new products and 
the benefits of operational improvements. 

Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT) of $32.2 million is a 
48.6% increase over the FY2010 result. 

Sales growth was driven by stronger demand and new product 
launches. Both the Agri and Industrial Divisions performed in line 
with expectations, with the Industrial Division showing revenue 
growth of 7.6% and an EBIT increase of 45.6%. Meanwhile the 
Agri Division, which is less affected by economic cycles, posted  
a revenue increase of 6.4% with EBIT up 11.9% for the year.

This year’s Gross Profit margin was 39.9% compared with 
38.6% achieved in FY2010.

Operating cash flow was a respectable $33.0 million, up from 
$23.9 million in FY2010. This result was driven largely by 
improved profitability and tight control over working capital.

DEBT REDUCTION 

Net debt reduced during the year from $26.9 million to  
$9.1 million – a reduction of $17.8 million mainly as a result  
of strong earnings growth.

As at the end of the financial year, the percentage of debt  
to debt-plus-equity improved from 21.0% to 7.6%.

INDUSTRIAL DIVISION

Industrial sales for the year were 7.6% ahead of the previous 
year, reflecting good growth in demand for most industrial 
products, particularly the sale of industrial vacuum pumps into 
the North American oil and natural gas exploration markets.

Uncertainty in key markets due to the lingering effects of the 
GFC, especially in Europe, limited sales growth. Despite this 
impediment Earnings before Interest and tax (EBIT) is up 45%, 
from $13.8 million to $20.0 million, showing that the Industrial 
business can grow profitably even in a downturn.

Sales of our industrial vacuum pumps, assembled in our plant in 

Jiangsu, China and sold through our subsidiary Masport Inc in North 
America, are currently limited only by our ability to supply. We are 
working hard on increasing our capacity to meet market demand.

We have made good in-roads into new market segments, 
including hydraulic and dynamic shaft seals for the whiteware 
and pump manufacturing markets. In addition, we have 
leveraged the customer bases of our individual trading units  
to considerable advantage. We have also expanded our sales 
capacity in key markets such as North America and Europe.

New business won with Maserati is a strong pointer to future 
sales growth of motor vehicle rubber couplings. The introduction 
of a range of lower specification higher volume bonded washers 
saw sales gains for Deks in Asia and North and South America. 

Sales of products such as gaskets remain solid both in Australia 
and North America, despite somewhat depressed markets.

Significant new production capacity, both in Italy and in 
Vietnam, positions us well for any economic upturn. In the 
meantime our increased competitiveness, resourcing options 
and wider market range provide resilience and growth even in 
challenging market conditions.

Gulf Rubber is now committed to establishing a base in North 
America by the end of the calendar year. The new office will 
primarily operate as a sales and marketing base as well as 
providing product development opportunities and more extensive 
market intelligence. The strong performance of the Deks product 
range in North America in the past year has justified strengthening 
the sales team in North America to accelerate our penetration into 
this important market.

Our Industrial Division development team based in Auckland 
continues to build expertise in creating innovative composite 
polymer components. 

AGRI DIVISION
Agri sales for the year were 4.9% ahead of the previous year 
reflecting a small lift in demand from the dairy industry for our 
range of consumable products. EBIT at $17.1 million was  
11.9% ahead of FY2010.

Demand for capital items, such as dairy vacuum pumps, has 
improved, indicating a more positive outlook for dairying on the 
back of improved milk solid prices over the past year.

Agri production capacity has been stretched due to increased 
demand, both through natural growth and through re-stocking 
of the supply chain. The series of earthquakes and after shocks 
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experienced in Christchurch interrupted production and depleted 
on-hand inventory but thanks to the efforts and drive of our 
Christchurch staff the impact on our customers was minimal. 
Work on process improvement in our manufacturing facilities  
has provided additional resilience to our production capability.

As a result of increasing demand for dairy liners we are currently 
in the process of expanding our production capacity in 
Christchurch by approximately 40% at a cost of $5 million. Just 
under half of the additional capacity is now in place with the 
balance of the equipment to be commissioned during the 2012 
financial year.

A new ‘multi-fit’ milking liner designed so that it can fit either 
standard or large fittings was launched this season and has been 
well received by the market. 

Sales of dairy related products into the European market, have 
been positive as a result of demand returning from dairy Original 
Equipment Manufacturers (OEMs). However the North American 
market has been more demanding as a result of milk prices still 
being below the threshold required to see any significant 
increase in production in that market.

The Quatro and Red Band gumboot ranges continue to be well 
received in the New Zealand market.

A number of new footwear models are now in the process of being 
released into both the domestic and international markets, with 
the Quatro range being extended to safety and sport applications. 

BOARD APPOINTMENT AND RETIREMENT

We welcomed Ian Parton to our Board during May of this year  
as an Independent Director. Ian has had an extensive career  
in engineering and business management. His past experience 
includes Managing Director of consulting engineering firm 
Worley Group Limited (now AECOM); following which he spent  
a period of three years as regional development director for 
AECOM. In addition to his extensive engineering background  
Ian brings to the Board considerable experience in strategic 
planning and global business development as well as strong 
corporate governance.

Having welcomed Ian to the Board during the year it is with 
regret that we now farewell John Thompson from the Board.

John, who has been a Non-Executive Director of the Company 
since May 2008, has for personal reasons chosen to retire from 
the Board at this year’s Annual Meeting in October. John was 
the founder of Gulf Rubber, which the Company acquired in 

SIR SELWYN 
CUShING 
Chairman  
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February 2006. Through the acquisition Gulf Rubber the 
Company has significantly enhanced its reputation as a supplier 
of highly technical polymer products for a wide range of 
industries and now has customers in numerous countries 
throughout the world. As a result of his extensive knowledge 
relating to the manufacture and distribution of industrial 
polymer products John has made a significant contribution  
to the Company during his time on the Board. 

DIVIDEND

The Company’s dividend policy is to return to shareholders each 
year a total dividend payout within the range of 40% to 60% 
of NPAT. 

Accordingly the directors have resolved to pay a fully imputed 
final dividend of 4 cents per share that will be paid on  
21 October 2011 to shareholders on the register at 5pm on  
7 October 2011. Given the current strong financial position of the 
Company, the Dividend Reinvestment Plan will not be operative 
for this dividend payment.

ANNUAL MEETING

The Company’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held at 
Eden Park, Auckland, on Wednesday 26 October 2011 at 2.30 pm.

FOCUS GOING FORWARD

Our focus on product development, which extends now to much 
closer links with our customers at many levels, will continue. This 
has led to the acquisition of new customers across almost all 
business units within Skellerup. 

Meanwhile our work to improve operations, first through our 
vacuum pump supply chain and also within our Christchurch 
production facility, will be rolled out to our other operations in 
coming years. We see this work as delivering substantial value 
both in the short and in the long term, without requiring 
significant capital investment.

We will continue with our investment in developing new sales 
channels and opportunities, not only in our existing markets but 
also in emerging new markets such as China and South America.

OUTLOOK

We consider the outlook for the coming year to be positive for both 
divisions with earnings at the NPAT level for the June 2012 year 
expected to be within the range of $22 million to $23 million.

Sir Selwyn Cushing
Chairman  

DAVID MAIR 
Chief Executive  

David Mair
Chief Executive  
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ShAKEN BUT RESOLUTE

The earthquake that struck Christchurch on 13 June added 
further damage and disruption on to a city only just beginning  
to recover from the devastating 22 February earthquake.

While no fatalities were directly attributed to the 13 June 
earthquake and a relatively small number of injuries were 
recorded, another substantial shock, bringing to three the 
number of major disruptive events to hit the city in the space  
of a year, has had a deepening psychological effect on many.

Repeated trauma such as this would test anyone’s fortitude. Yet, 
on each occasion, Skellerup’s people have not only shouldered 
their personal burdens – they have come into work and done 
what was needed to quickly get Skellerup’s production and 
distribution facilities up and running again.

Thankfully, all of Skellerup’s approximately 200 staff have come 
through the three major quakes safely. We are relieved too that 
their families are safe and sound.

‘We must acknowledge and pay tribute to the strength of 
character and resilience shown by our staff in the face of these 
tremendous difficulties,’ said Chief Executive David Mair.

‘Through their determination and commitment our business  
has been able, at least as far as customers were concerned,  
to continue virtually uninterrupted.’

The June earthquake (and its precursor tremor), caused little 
additional damage to Skellerup’s facilities, so safety checks were 
carried out and production was fully restored within a few days. 
This is despite the fact that the earthquake was centred only  
a few kilometres from our Woolston factories and distribution 
centre. Suburbs surrounding Woolston were badly affected.

In the ensuing months, conditions at our Christchurch facilities 
have been made safe. Again, our staff, we are proud to say, have 
come through, in spite of the difficulties, to deliver full capacity 
across all our facilities.

All staff, including all temporary staff, continued to be paid. At 
the same time, customers experienced little or no interruption 
to supply.

‘We are working to turn all the temporary repairs into permanent 
fixes; we have established an alternate emergency water supply 
in the event of another earthquake causing the loss of city 
supply; we are employing more staff to cope with increased 
demand for our products as we install additional production 
capacity’, said David.

‘Skellerup has a proud history in Christchurch and by these 
actions we are pleased to show our commitment to Skellerup’s 
‘home town’ and to our loyal staff,’ said David.

RED BAND AND FRIENDS PITCh IN TO hELP OUT

After the February earthquake Skellerup donated 500 pairs of 
gumboots to the Student Volunteer Army to help the volunteers 
work in comfortable footwear as they cleaned up.

‘The Student volunteer army has done a fantastic job and we 
fully support them for what they did,’ said Perry Davis, Skellerup 
National Footwear and Dairy Manager.

In the months since, Skellerup has continued to help its 
neighbours with donations of gumboots to local organisations 
and groups, such as the North Brighton Citizens Group, the 
Salvation Army and numerous schools.

‘Skellerup has been part of the Canterbury community for more 
than 100 years and of course we are very happy to support our 
community in this way,” said Perry.

‘Skellerup has been part of the 
Canterbury community for more than 
100 years and of course we are very 
happy to support our community in 
this way,’

From left to right: Perry Davis, Skellerup National Footwear Manager, with 
Student Volunteer Army volunteers Sam Johnson, Vikki Stephens, Sam Gifford 
and Miriam Dawson in their new gumboots.

Christchurch Earthquake
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Operational leverage in the supply chain
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Skellerup’s Masport Inc (Minc) sales and distribution staff  
are based in Lincoln, Nebraska.

Minc has a strong reputation in the market place for the 
reliability of both its industrial vacuum pumps and its service.  
A recent significant increase in demand from all customers put 
pressure on the supply chain with little time to adapt. Skellerup 
senior management quickly set in motion a number of initiatives 
to sharpen up the supply chain.

The aims were three fold.

> Shorten lead times.

> Reduce costs by eliminating waste.

> Become more agile to meet the rapid change in demand.

REPLENIShMENT

The old way was based on ‘monthly’ thinking. A lot of time was 
spent forecasting ahead, with orders placed on that forecast. 
Inevitably, mismatches occurred between what was made and 
delivered and what was actually needed.

The new way is weekly thinking; what is sold one week defines 
the following week’s production order.

This weekly repeatable cycle means production plans are 
completed weekly; and every Thursday a container leaves the 
factory in Jiangsu China; every week a container arrives at Minc. 
We are now working with our suppliers to get weekly deliveries. 
This regular heartbeat is driving improvements throughout the 
supply chain.

Skellerup’s search for hidden value inside its own 
operations is driven with considerable enthusiasm  
by CEO David Mair.

‘Success is about winning with customers and we’re 
supporting our people with timely deliveries; we’re 
working with our customers to determine their true 
wants and needs and to deliver in the timeframes that 
they want.’

‘And we’re benefiting too, with reduced costs in many 
areas: no one’s spending hours doing forecasting – it’s 
unnecessary. Our senior managers have more time to 
deal with more important issues now they’re not 
worrying about shipping schedules. We’re turning 
uncertainty into certainty. That translates into 
competitive advantage.’

David says in spite of these advances, he believes 
there is room to increase productivity a further 30%  
or more in the Chinese factory and cut delivery time 
down to four weeks. ‘The trick is to recognise small 
points for operational leverage, and the beauty of it  
is that we can continue to improve operationally with 
no capital investment, nor are we asking people to 
work harder or longer.’

Quality also, will improve. ‘Over the next year we will 
surprise people at how effective we can become at 
delivering vacuum pumps and improving quality,’ says 
David. ‘It’s all about operational excellence and a way 
of thinking about problems’, he says. 

Next, the rest of the business. David says the 
operational improvements in the vacuum pump 
supply chain will be translated across Skellerup over 
the coming two to three years. ‘We can make similar 
big gains in units such as footwear and liners, by 
applying the same principles’.

Skellerup’s industrial vacuum 
pump supply chain stretches from 
its factory in China all the way to 
its customers in the mid-west of 
the USA.

SKELLERUP ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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Industrial Division report

OVERVIEW

Skellerup is New Zealand’s largest 
industrial rubber products supplier, with 
customers in more than 30 countries 
including Australia, Europe, North 
America and Asia. Skellerup subsidiary 
Gulf Rubber leads the way for the 
Industrial Division in the production  
of technical polymer products.
Deks Industries (DEKS) specialises in  
the manufacture and distribution of roof 
flashings and roof washers, while Masport 
Inc (Minc) is well known in the US for  
its range of industrial vacuum pumps. 

SKELLERUP ANNUAL REPORT 2011



Industrial Division

DEKTITE COMBO

Suitable for both 
standard and retrofit 
applications

Conforms with 
and follows all roof 
profiles

Diagonal fit for 
improved water 
run off

Twenty year 
warranty

DUAL hARDNESS PIPE GASKETS

Sizes ranging from 
3” - 24” diameter 

Bonded in place 
stainless steel teeth 
to retain  
pipe location

Potable water 
approved for  
use with  
drinking water

DRIVEShAFT COUPLING

Used in most  
rear wheel and  
all 4 wheel drive  
vehicles

Absorbs torsional 
shocks for a smooth 
and quiet ride

Requires precision 
moulding involving 
rubber, nylon yarn  
and steel

Must allow  
cardanic motion

SKELLERUP ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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FINANCIALS

The Industrial Division continues to weather the after-effects  
of the Global Financial Crisis (GFC) on its sales. Its key markets, 
especially Europe, have yet to fully recover and fears of  
a double-dip recession continue to dampen confidence.

Further uncertainty, at least for our Italian operation,  
is generated by the poor health of the Italian economy.

Despite these challenges, a range of actions taken by the 
Industrial Division business units in the last two years are 
beginning to have a positive effect.

With EBIT up 45%, from $13.8 million to $20 million, the 
Industrial Division’s performance shows it can grow profitably 
even in less buoyant times.

A highlight for the Industrial Division has been the surge in 
demand for the Skellerup range of industrial vacuum pumps, 
used in the oil and gas recovery sector. Sales of our industrial 
vacuum pumps, that are assembled in our plant in Jiangsu, China 
and sold through our subsidiary Minc in North America, are 
currently limited only by our ability to supply. We are working 
hard on increasing our capacity to meet market demand.

Increasing demand for industrial vacuum pumps due to a boom 
in oil and gas drilling operations in North America is expected to 
last at least two to three more years.

Sales of products such as gaskets remain solid both in Australia 
and North America, regardless of the depressed market, 
auguring well for sales when conditions improve.

Despite the challenges of the post-GFC market, our Italian 
operation has delivered good sales growth as a result of its 
access to new markets through cross-selling between the Italian 
and Australian customer bases, and from successful sales efforts 
of new products in a competitive market place. 

Similarly, while facing increasing competition both in Australia and 
its overseas markets, DEKS is holding its own through strengthened 
sales teams and competitive pricing supported by lower cost of 
landed products from production facilities in Asia.

Across the division, margins have been protected through driving 
efficiencies in resourcing and carefully managing pricing in 
response to the market being highly competitive.

MARKETS

Gulf Rubber is now committed to establishing a base in North 
America by the end of the current calendar year. The new office 
will primarily operate as a sales and marketing base. As well as 
outbound sales activities, the frontline staff will source product 
development opportunities and more extensive market 
intelligence. These leads will be fed back to the Auckland based 
design and development team.

DEKS is also expanding in North America, with the appointment  
of an additional sales person. This move reflects the strong 
performance of the DEKS product range in that market in the  
past year. 

DEKS UK has recorded another growth year and has relocated  
to new premises in Nailsea near Bristol.



Industrial Division Industrial Division

hIGh PERFORMANCE AIR-COOLED  
ROTARY VANE VACUUM PUMP
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In Europe we have opened up opportunities in new markets, 
especially in the area of hydraulic seals and dynamic shaft seals 
for the white goods and pump manufacture markets. The impact 
of sales into these new markets has yet to take full effect and will 
be felt more strongly in the coming financial year.

PRODUCTION

Record sales of vacuum pumps have stretched Skellerup 
production capacity at its Jiangsu, China facility.

Gulf Rubber production is now coming out of a new purpose-built 
20,000m2 factory in Vietnam. The new facility provides a much 
improved working space, substantial room for growth and the 
opportunity to streamline production. Furthermore, the new facility 
is expected to meet the production standards demanded by major 
international automobile manufacturers, such as BMW and 
Mercedes, opening the door to additional contracts in the future.

Tumedei similarly extended its production capacity through the 
addition of a third shift and the establishment of a specialised 
‘clean’ facility, required as part of the manufacturing process 
relating to rubber components for fuel injectors used in the 
motor industry.

Despite increases in raw material costs, DEKS prices remained 
competitive due to multi-sourcing actions, which introduced 
competition amongst suppliers. 

New process plant and equipment commissioned for closed-cell 
foam manufacture will position the product for the growth 
potential that is present for it in many markets and applications 
around the world.

Ultralon’s closed-cell foams are recognised internationally  
as one of the best materials on the market for its thermoforming 
properties. These properties make it an ideal material for  
use in sporting goods such as ski boots and sports protection 
gear. Ultralon foam’s uniqueness come from the specialised 
process controls, formulations and quality control that go into  
its manufacture.

PRODUCTS

Revenues from rubber couplings, used in the drive trains of most 
rear-wheel and all four-wheel drive vehicles, are up on last year, 
and new business won with Maserati is a strong pointer to future 
sales opportunities.

The introduction of a range of lower specification higher volume 
bonded washers saw sales gains for DEKS in Asia and North and 
South America. The full range of the new Dektite Combo roof 
flashing was released and taken up in Australia and North America.

A number of products that the Auckland based development 
team has worked on over the past year are now being 
transitioned from development to production. This involves:

> selecting the most cost-effective production facility

> establishing production processes 

> transferring custom-built assembly and test equipment.

On top of its capability in developing innovative composite 

components, the development team has this year demonstrated 
its strength in designing and building assembly and test 
equipment. This is proving to be a growth area for the business.

With numerous projects on hand and a growing advance work load, 
the development team took on an extra engineer this year and 
commissioned a fourth moulding machine to cope with demand.

Projects now are extending into production of assembly and 
sub-assembly components, to add value to co-moulded products.

OUTLOOK

Happily for the Industrial Division, its minor market share in  
very large markets, and its significant competitive advantages, 
mean that it is somewhat shielded from macro-economic  
market disruption.

At the same time, the Industrial Division trading units are 
becoming increasingly well positioned with new production 
capacity and bolstered sales and marketing power to take 
advantage of any upturn in economic conditions. In the meantime 
the Industrial Division is more than holding its own in the market, 
carving out new market share against its traditional competitors 
and opening up new markets, with innovative new products.

The capabilities of the development team are becoming more 
widely recognised within the Industrial Division’s target markets 
and momentum is building. Right now, the team has at least a 
year’s projects lined up, providing growing confidence that the 
product development model has a solid future.
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Industrial case study

BIG ThINGS START WITh A SMALL PACKAGE

It’s seemingly only a small plastic tube, barely three 
centimetres long.

But, as well as being far more complicated, in subtle ways, than  
it looks at first glance, the Industrial Division’s new check valve 
encapsulates the division’s business strategy.

The Auckland based development team’s approach is helping to 
take business away from established and dominant international 
vendors. For Skellerup, it is about being agile and responsive 
compared to the inertia – even disdain – of the incumbents.

The check valve is the culmination of nearly nine months work  
by the development team.

The development team had to set about constructing the check 
valve – in fact a product family consisting of a range of sizes 
– that could meet stringent international quality and functionality 
standards, yet is competitive in the market.

Starting with a blank page, the team created all the design 
drawings, which gave them a deep understanding of the 

Check Valve
The check valve’s function is to prevent the flow of 
water from the domestic system back into the mains 
supply. It’s a one-way valve that is designed to fit 
into domestic shower mixers, taps and water meters. 
While similar in function to the backflow preventer 
valve launched to European customers last year, this 
one is on a smaller scale, and contains fewer parts, 
but is actually two check valves in line.

It is this last feature that makes it stand out from 
the competition. Other manufacturers usually fit 
two single check valves into a brass housing. The 
check valve combines all of the components into 
one plastic moulded fitting, saving space, weight 
and brass – as well as costs for assembly of the more 
complex unit – while providing better functionality.

complexities and nuances of the components. The team then 
built all the mould tools, and at the same time set up a test 
facility with a range of test rigs that complied with Australian, 
North American and European standards.

The development team is in the middle of trialling the mould 
tools now, says Product Development Manager Shaun Spacey.

‘We’ve taken on another project engineer to cope with the extra 
work, and we’ve commissioned a new moulding machine and 
robot, in part to handle the demands of this project,’ he says.

Having developed the check valve across a range of standard 
sizes the international sales team is now positioned to begin 
exploring new market opportunities. ‘With the controls on design 
and production that we have we can grow the market through 
identifying applications that no one has captured before,’  
says Shaun.

‘We’re adaptable and innovative and responsive, and our 
customers like that. It’s that customer focus that differentiates 
us,’ says Shaun.

12
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Agri Division

AGRI DIVISION REPORT

Agri manufactures and distributes products for the dairy industry 
for all of the leading global and regional dairy industry Original 
Equipment Manufacturers (OEMs), as well as many leading dairy 
industry distributors.

The second largest dairy rubber supplier in the world, Agri 
operates in all major markets as well as emerging markets in  
Asia and South America.

The Division’s products, ranging from dairy consumables  
to footwear are highly specialised due to their technical 
sophistication, design, formulation and quality.

FINANCIALS

Agri enjoyed a healthy year, with sales ending 4.9% ahead  
of the prior year and EBIT up 11.9% to $17.1 million.

Local factors contributing to the good result included the high milk 
payout to NZ dairy farmers, an extended milking season and a 
strong forecast for next year. The result was tempered to some 
degree by a reduction in inventory levels in the retail channel. 

Restocking of inventory post the GFC increased demand, though 
stock levels in the channel are unlikely to return to pre GFC levels, 
with distributors and retailers now taking a ‘lean’ approach and 
pushing stock back onto their suppliers.

Unlike last year when farmers were focused on limiting spending 
only to essential maintenance, the improved farm economic 
conditions this year have encouraged farmers to be more diligent 
in replacing milking liners and other dairy consumables in a more 
timely fashion.

Along with the longer milking season, this diligent approach  
has resulted in strong sales of filters, which should, for best 
performance, be replaced after every milking.

Capital investment, in replacing old milking sheds with new, 
boosted demand for dairy rubberware, but the level of dairy 
conversions has not yet returned to pre GFC levels as high sheep 
and beef prices limit dairy’s allure.

Milk prices have increased around the world. This was reflected  
in a slight recovery in the dairy market in North America and  
a stronger recovery in Europe.

At the same time, recovery has attracted new competitors into 
the market including internet-based retailers.

Our emphasis on quality and standards helps to maintain our 
competitive advantage over price driven competitors. We will 
continue to be deeply involved in the drive to improving 
standards to meet global best practice.

Increased ranging across all categories of footwear was gained 
in key markets including rural, industrial and hardware, and 
increased promotional activities supported sales of Skellerup 
branded products. 

13
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PRODUCTION

Increased demand on the farm combined with restocking of the 
supply chain to some extent produced a double-demand; at the 
same time the three major earthquakes and associated after-
shocks that hit Christchurch disrupted production schedules. As  
a result, all production has been running at full capacity to keep  
up with demand, with extra shifts brought in to help cope.

A focus on process improvement over the last 12 months paid 
dividends as production capacity was tested.

A number of initiatives to increase productivity had already been 
identified and put into practice. These helped mitigate the 
challenges faced by manufacturing over the last year. 

Initiatives included quicker changeover times, less rework and 
reduced waste product. Now output is of higher quality, on 
specification, with increased productivity.

The continuous improvement process, now proved successful in 
manufacturing, will be rolled out in the coming year through 
other functions including supply chain and administration.

As a result of increasing demand for dairy liners we are currently  
in the process of enlarging our production capacity in Christchurch 
by approximately 40% at a cost of $5 million. Just under half of 
the additional capacity is now in place with the balance of the 
equipment to be commissioned during the 2012 financial year.

MARKETS

During the year, Agri invested in infrastructure and market 
development activities to support its product sales in existing 
and new markets.

In North America a senior business development executive with 
considerable retail channel experience has been taken on to lead 
the development of rural footwear sales in that market.

We test-launched the Quatro gumboot into the European market 
in September 2010, with a highly favourable response. A full 
launch across the UK and Europe is planned for the northern 
autumn. A new website, www.skellerupgumboots.com, promotes 
the development.

Meanwhile our international business go-to-market strategy for 
dairy liners is bearing fruit after three years in gestation. The 
approach is to build a stronger alignment with customers and their 
needs through bringing technical and design people, on both sides, 
to the table. In this way Agri has moved from a purely sales and 
production relationship to a much more trusted partnership that 
has Agri closely involved in its customers’ own market strategies.

Agri’s traditional market approach has been to operate 
essentially as a contract manufacturer to its OEM customers  
for dairy liners. In this way, it retained a simple sales relationship 
with its customer: Agri produced goods to order. However a 
relationship like this is prone to price and competitive pressure; 
the producer can struggle to differentiate and long term 
involvement with customers is often difficult to achieve.

To address this issue Agri embarked three years ago on a new 
programme to take its dairy liner design, development and 
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production services to the market, the aim being to become 
more closely involved with its international customers in 
particular at a deeper level and across multiple points of contact, 
in order to form partnerships to jointly develop new products. 
With each new product, having been designed and produced 
according to the customer’s specific requirements, the customer 
is given a specific differentiation and a competitive advantage.

Rather than just a sales representative sitting down with the 
customer to determine needs and take orders, a team 
comprising technical and product managers, as well as sales 
staff, are involved.

By working closely with our OEM customers we can create 
products that offer significant advantages for them in the  
market place. 

After the initial work to establish credibility and trust, Agri  
has had some significant wins in the past year. Along with 
investment in additional manufacturing capacity and staff, Agri 
is now moving out into new markets. The traditional markets of 
North America, United Kingdom and Europe are the base, but 
emerging markets, namely China and South America are 
showing genuine growth opportunities for Agri.

PRODUCTS

This season Agri launched a new ‘multi-fit’ milking liner for the 
retail market. The new liner which is proving to be popular is 
designed so that it can fit either standard or large fittings, and 
features a new design tail section that shuts off vacuum and 
resists splitting from impact damage.

Sales of VacPlus Square milking liners, now in their second 
season on the market, continue to grow. The VacPlus Square 
milking liner offers dairy farmers yield increases, energy savings 
and animal health benefits.

The Master Blaster Eco nozzle launched earlier in the year  
has proved popular as it uses at least 30% less water than 
comparable nozzles in the market. 

Sales of our dairy product range are now being supported 
through a new website launched this year which encourages  
best practice in dairying.

www.dairybestpractice.co.nz focuses on how end users can 
maximise production through yield increase, as well as saving 
energy through best use of the key components of milking plant 
such as liners, tubing and filters.

The best practice website emphasises the importance of 
replacing milking liners every 2,500 cow milkings and provides  
a raft of evidence, especially in terms of animal health costs,  
to support this practice.

An array of new footwear products have been launched or 
announced during the year. New gumboot styles broadened 
ranges while new products extended our iconic brands.

The much anticipated Red Band Juniors gumboots, for toddlers 
and pre-schoolers, were launched at Field Days in Hamilton in 
June. Red Band Juniors join the Red Band range, which now 

comprises models for men, women, youths and children as  
well as, now, the littlest member of the family. 

New additions to the Quatro technical boot range include 
Quatro Safety and Quatro Camo (camouflage). 

The Fire-fighter Extreme fire boot, currently being rolled out in  
New Zealand, is the result of extensive development collaboration 
between Agri and the New Zealand Fire Service (NZFS).

Looking forward the outlook for dairying worldwide remains 
positive and as a consequence Agri as a leading supplier of 
essential consumables to the dairy industry, including footwear, is 
expected to achieve on-going earnings growth in the year ahead. 
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Quatro comfort system inner sole

Anti-bacterial moisture wicking lining

QUATRO CAMO GUMBOOT 

UV resistant

Highest level in comfort & durability

Podiatrist inspired

For extreme weather conditions
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Case study: A bigger footprint  
for Skellerup gumboots

Red Band, once just a short gumboot, is taking on a life of its 
own with new developments rolled out during the year, and 
more in the pipeline.

This year saw the launch of the Red Band Junior gumboot,  
the Red Bands for the littlest members of the family. 

Of course, kids have had their own gummies for a long time,  
but real gumboots – Red Bands – were for many years the 
preserve of grown-ups with grown-up sized feet.

While women’s, youth and children’s Red Bands have been 
available since 1997, the all-important toddler demographic was 
left un-catered for.

Clearly, the range was incomplete without a product to fill this 
niche and parents let Skellerup know it.

‘We always have numerous requests for smaller sizes from Mums 
and Dads at Field Days, says National Footwear and Dairy 
Manager Perry Davis.

Happily bowing to market pressure, Skellerup released Red Band 
Junior earlier this year. 

‘Kids always want to look like their Mum and Dad and now they 
can have matching footwear,’ says Perry.

The Red Band Junior range is sized 3C to 7, to suit toddlers up to 
age 3, with a flatter heel than the other gumboots in the range. 
This design refinement gives infants more stability and better 
orthotic support for their age.

Like its big siblings, Red Band Junior is hand-built, but a 
lightweight construction method is used to give little legs a bit 
more mobility. Quick drying polyester lining and a 3mm sponge 

foam innersole for additional comfort complete the package.

‘Red Bands now cater for the whole family,’ says Perry, ‘from the 
time you are jumping in puddles and exploring, to riding ripsticks 
or motorbikes, and working in mud and on concrete.’

Red Band sales have been enhanced through entry into the 
Bunnings chain of home hardware retail stores, as well as the 
launch of a specially developed Red Band website  
(www.redband.co.nz) and other promotional activities.

Also during the year Skellerup released Red Band socks, designed 
to stay up in your Red Bands, and during the coming summer  
a special promotion will see Red Band jandals at barbecues  
and beaches throughout New Zealand.

Skellerup development team extended the footwear range in 
other ways during the year, including new special purpose boots 
and additions to the Quatro range.

The Fire-fighter Extreme fire boot is the result of extensive 
development collaboration between Skellerup and the New 
Zealand Fire Service (NZFS).

The new boot survived more than 12 months of market related 
rigorous testing and trialling in a variety of challenging 
environments before it was released. It features numerous 
technical and design innovations, that provide extra protection 
with less weight, while meeting national and international  
safety standards.

The result, says Perry, is a comfortable boot that is competitive 
with all other fire boots available on the market anywhere.

One of Skellerup innovations was in response to NZFS’s 
requirement for the range to include half sizes. To meet this need 
Skellerup developed new styles of inner sole so that boots could 
be matched more closely to the wearer’s foot size.

With testimonial support from NZFS, Skellerup is looking to take 
the new boot into the Australian and European markets over the 
next 12 months. Meanwhile, in New Zealand, the new boot will 
be rolled out to all operational staff as part of normal  
kit replacement.

Another brand extension is the Quatro Camo. As well as all 
Quatro’s technical and comfort features, the Camo version offers 
the Mossy Oak camouflage pattern, a proprietary design that is 
popular with other clothing preferred by hunting and  
fishing enthusiasts.

Perry is confident the boot will do well in this market. ‘This is  
a boot that is so comfortable it’s like a running shoe: it locks 
around your ankle so you can actually run in it.’

The boot will be marketed to the hunting and fishing sector,  
in knee length and calf-length models, next season.

To support the Quatro boot range and brand, a specially 
designed Quatro sock was launched during the year. The new 
sock was designed especially for the Quatro boot and features 
vents that allow the sock to breathe. The new sock has proved 
very popular, says Perry.
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health & Safety report

We know the importance of effective participatory H&S 
management in eliminating injuries. And we understand that 
improvements in safety and well-being lead to awareness and 
attentiveness that ultimately leads to better product quality.

Our safety and internal auditing programs, termed Key Element 
Assessments (KEA), seek to enhance the effectiveness and 
efficiency with which work is carried out while minimizing the  
risk to employees, by: 

> streamlining workplace layout and processes

>  ensuring all equipment used is up to standard and guarded  
as appropriate

> fully training staff members on policies and processes

>  ensuring the correct methods are used when performing 
specific tasks.

Skellerup has worked hard to reduce lost-time and medical 
treatment injury numbers and we are on track to reach the  
goal of a zero-injury workplace. 

Key Points for the 2010/2011 year:

>  Skellerup Total Incident Rate (TIR) that measures lost-time  
and medical treatment injuries per 200,000 hours worked  
has significantly decreased from 3.24 to 2.54. This is an 
all-time low for Skellerup. While this result indicates impressive 
dedication and effort from all staff at Skellerup, we are still 
continually searching for ways to decrease this score even 
further in the drive towards our zero injury target.

>  The KEA internal health and safety audit/improvement 
programme is ongoing. All businesses that had audits 

completed during the 12 months to June 2011 increased their 
KEA scores significantly, with one business unit increasing its 
KEA score by 30%.

>  In New Zealand we have once again retained the ACCPP 
(Accident Compensation Corporation Partnership Program) 
Accreditation Tertiary status. This is the third year running 
that we have obtained this status. It shows that our Auckland 
and Christchurch manufacturing and distribution operations 
are demonstrating well-established, continuous improvement 
frameworks that function actively in the workplace.

>  The H&S culture within our businesses has markedly improved 
since the implementation of the KEA audits and other H&S 
initiatives. This is evidenced by the continual improvements  
in hazard reporting and reporting of near-hit incidents by 
employees. The quality of hazard management and incident 
investigations has also markedly improved, and continues to 
improve with ongoing staff training and resourcing. As the 
number of actual injuries declines, more focus is applied to 
near-hit incidents to further mitigate the risk of injuries.

>  While we had staff onsite at the time of the September 
Christchurch earthquake and many of the substantial 
aftershocks, including the February shakes, there were few 
injuries and none were of a serious nature. This is partially due  
to our current processes, procedures and H&S program which, 
among other things, ensures that stock is in its proper place,  
all machinery is properly fixed and emergency shutdown 
procedures are followed. This is a good indication of the 
thoroughness and conscientious application of the H&S 
program at Skellerup.

While we had staff onsite at the time of the September 
Christchurch earthquake and many of the substantial 
aftershocks, including the February shakes, there were few 
injuries and none were of a serious nature. This is partially 
due to our current processes, procedures and Health & Safety 
(H&S) program which, among other things, ensures that stock 
is in its proper place, all machinery is properly fixed and 
emergency shutdown procedures are followed. This is a good 
indication of the thoroughness and conscientious application 
of the H&S program at Skellerup.
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ENVIRONMENTAL TARGETS SURPASSED

Over the last two years, we have focused on establishing a strong 
foundation for our Environmental Management activities. We 
have concentrated our efforts on our Woolston facility in 
Christchurch, being one of the largest manufacturing bases in 
the group.

Our activities have focused on three areas. We set a ‘stretch’ 
goal for each:

> Landfill – 50% decrease in weight.*

> Water usage – 50% reduction in volume.*

>  Electricity – more than 10% reduction in volume.* 

*From the baseline set two years ago.

We are pleased to report that these goals have been well and 
truly surpassed, inside the initial two year timeframe target that 
we had set for ourselves.

The achievement is magnified, given the difficulties the 
Christchurch manufacturing team has faced over the last year.  
At the same time Skellerup has increased production on site.

Now, the challenge is to maintain or reduce further the amounts 
of water and energy used and waste going to landfill, in the face 
of ongoing increases in production.

Subsequent activities will focus, for instance, on reducing further 
the electricity used per item manufactured.

In terms of landfill, over the last year more than 50% - more 
than 100 tonnes - of waste materials is now being sent to be 
recycled (waste cured liner and tubing rubber is turned into 
cycleway and walkway materials) rather than going to landfill. 
This saving is more than just a benefit to the environment: the 
landfill costs avoided through this exercise are significant.

An example of the way electricity has been saved is in the use  
of hydraulic power packs. In the past these power packs were 
running for the full production cycle. Now the process is supplied 
with power on demand. This initiative alone has saved some 
300,000 kilowatt-hours of electricity. Overall, more than one 
million kilowatt-hours have been saved since the start of the 
project, which is well above the target.

In terms of water savings, one initiative started last year, in  
the Manufacturing department, has seen some 30 million litres  
a year saved in primary processes. Secondary process savings  
are now being worked on. Overall some 50 million litres of water  
a year are being saved through better water use practices. As a 
result, the original 50% saving target, thought to be challenging,  
has been exceeded substantially.

While the environmental management programme was 
intended to be rolled out to other sites and units once the 
Woolston programme was established, this plan has been 
delayed as a result of the disruption caused by the series  
of earthquakes that hit Christchurch over the last year.

LANDFILL 

50% 
decrease in weight

WATER USAGE

50% 
reduction in volume

ELECTRICITY 

10% 
reduction in volume
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Board of Directors

Sir Selwyn Cushing  
KNzM, CMG, Chairman

Sir Selwyn has had a varied and broad-ranging career with many of New Zealand’s highest-profile 
companies, including the chairmanship of Air New Zealand, Brierley Investments, Carter Holt 
Harvey, Electricity Corporation, Huttons Kiwi, Whitcoulls Group, and was a director of Skellerup 
Industries Limited (the original Skellerup listed company) in the nineteen eighties. He has also 
served as a government-appointed member of the Securities Commission and the N.Z. Apple  
and Pear Marketing Board. His other current directorships include NZ Rural Property Trust, PGG 
Wrightson and Rural Equities.

David Mair  
B.E, MBA, Director and C.E.O

David joined the Board at the end of November 2006. David’s background of international 
operations management experience provides an excellent fit with the Company’s expansion of 
manufacturing capability and market penetration particularly in Asia. David is a former Executive 
Director of Interlock Group and was a Vice President of Asia Pacific Operations and an Operational 
Council Member of ASSA ABLOY (Sweden). He is a Director of A2 Corporation Limited and Methven 
Ltd. David was confirmed as Chief Executive Officer of the Company in August 2011.

John Thompson  
Director

John was the founder of Gulf Rubber (Sydney and Auckland) which Skellerup purchased in 
February 2006. He has had over 35 years’ experience in all aspects of the rubber industry 
globally, with particular expertise in sourcing highly technical polymer products from Asia.  
His experience also extends to the establishment of joint venture manufacturing relationships  
in Asia and Central America.

Liz Coutts  
B.MS, C.A, Director

A former Chief Executive of Caxton Group, Elizabeth is a Director of EBOS Group Limited,  
NZ Directories Holdings Limited, Ports of Auckland Limited, Ravensdown Fertiliser Co-operative 
Limited and Sanford Limited. She has previously been Chairman of Meritec Group Limited, 
Industrial Research Limited and Life Pharmacy Limited; Deputy Chairman of the Public Trust; and  
a Commissioner of both the Commerce Commission and the Earthquake Commission. She has 
been a Director of the Health Funding Authority, PHARMAC; Air New Zealand Limited; Sport & 
Recreation New Zealand; and Trust Bank New Zealand; and a member of both the Financial 
Reporting Standards Board of the New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants and the 
Monetary Policy Committee of the Reserve Bank of New Zealand. 

Dr Ian Parton  
Ph.D, Director

Ian brings to the Board an extensive engineering background. He has considerable experience  
in strategic planning, global business development and corporate governance. Ian is currently  
the Chairman of Babcock Fitzroy Limited and a director of Auckland Transport Limited and 
Construction Techniques Limited. He is also a Councillor and Pro-Chancellor of the University of 
Auckland. Ian was previously Managing Director of consulting engineering firm Worley Group 
Limited (now AECOM) and regional development Director for AECOM. His previous directorships 
include Industrial Research Limited and Deputy Chairmanship of Watercare Services Limited. Ian 
has a Ph.D. in engineering. He is a Past-President of the Institution of Professional Engineers of NZ.
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Corporate governance policy
The corporate governance practices adopted by the Company  
meet the requirements of the New Zealand Exchange’s Corporate 
Governance Best Practice Code.
The Board of Directors is committed to maintaining the highest 
standards of corporate governance. This report outlines the policies 
and procedures under which Skellerup Holdings is governed:

CODE OF EThICS
Skellerup’s Code of Ethics governs its conduct. Its purpose is to:
> Set policy and provide guidance for ethical issues,  
> Establish compliance standards and procedures,  
> Provide mechanisms to report unethical behaviour, and 
> Provide for disciplinary measures.

ROLE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors is elected by the Company’s shareholders  
to direct and supervise the management of the Company. 
The Board’s role is to:
> Establish the strategic direction and objectives of the Company  
>  Set the policy framework within which the Company will operate 
> Appoint the Chief Executive  
>  Delegate appropriate authority to the Chief Executive for the  

day-to-day management of the Company 
>  Monitor performance of the Chief Executive and the Board 

Committees on a regular basis
>  Approve the Company’s system of internal financial control; monitor 

and approve budgets; and monitor monthly financial performance.

BOARD SIzE AND STRUCTURE
The Board is currently comprised of four non-executive Directors  
and one executive Director. Non-executive directors are selected to  
ensure that a broad range of skills and experience are available.  
One of the non-executive directors is appointed as Chairman.
Board procedures ensure that all Directors have the information 
needed to contribute to informed discussion on all monthly 
agenda items and effectively carry out their duties. Senior 
managers make direct presentations to the Board on a regular 
basis to give the Directors a broad understanding of management 
philosophies and capabilities. 
A formal system has been put in place to review the performance  
of the Board and the individual Directors. 

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has three standing committees, described below. Special 
project committees are formed when required.
1. Audit and Risk Management Committee 
This committee comprises three non-executive directors, one of 
whom is appointed as Chairman. The Chief Executive and the Chief 
Financial Officer attend as ex-officio members; and the external 
auditors attend by invitation of the Chairman.
This Committee meets a minimum of four times each year. 
Its responsibilities are to: 
>  Ensure that the Company has adequate risk management 

controls in place; 
>  Advise the board on accounting policies, practices and disclosure;
> Review the scope and outcome of the external audit; and 
>  Review the annual and half-yearly statements prior to approval  

by the Board.
The Audit and Risk Management Committee reports the  
proceedings of each of its meetings to the full Board.
The current composition of the committee is Liz Coutts (Chair) and 
Sir Selwyn Cushing and Ian Parton. The Committee met four times 
during the year under review.

2. Remuneration Committee

This committee comprises two non-executive directors. It meets  
as required to: 
>  Review the remuneration packages of the Chief Executive  

and Senior Managers
>  Make recommendations to shareholders in relation to non-

executive director remuneration packages.
Remuneration packages are reviewed annually. Independent external 
surveys are used as a basis for establishing competitive packages.
The current composition of the Remuneration Committee is  
Sir Selwyn Cushing (Chairman) and John Thompson.
3. Board Nomination Committee

This committee comprises two non-executive directors. It meets  
as required to recommend new appointments to the Board.
The current composition of the Board Nomination Committee  
is Sir Selwyn Cushing (Chairman) and Liz Coutts.

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE AND FINANCIAL 
REPORTING
The Board has delegated the management responsibilities of the 
Company to the Chief Executive. 
The financial progress of the Company’s two divisions is reported 
separately to the Board each month to enable divisional financial 
performance to be analysed prior to consolidation of the accounts. 
Delegation of capital expenditure is limited and clearly defined with  
a Board-approved annual budget. This is monitored monthly.

INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROL AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT

The Board, advised by the Audit and Risk Management Committee, 
approves the Company’s system of internal financial control. This 
system includes clearly defined policies controlling treasury operations 
and capital expenditure authorisation. 
The Chief Financial Officer is responsible to the Chief Executive for 
ensuring that all operations within the Company adhere to the Board 
approved financial control policies.
The Board has established a framework for the relationship between 
the Company and the external auditor. This framework ensures that: 
>  Recommendations made by the external auditor and other 

independent advisers are critically evaluated and, where 
appropriate, applied; and

>  The Company has defined policies and procedures in place  
as appropriate internal controls to manage risk effectively.

The Board ensures that adequate external insurance cover is in place 
appropriate to the Company’s size and risk profile.
The Company has a risk register that identifies the key risks facing the 
business, and the status of initiatives implemented to manage them. 
This risk register is reviewed and updated on a regular basis.

ShAREhOLDER RELATIONS
The Board aims to ensure that shareholders are kept informed  
of major developments affecting the Company. Information is 
communicated to shareholders primarily through the annual and 
interim reports. 
Any material affecting the Company during the intervening period is 
immediately reported to the New Zealand Stock Exchange under the 
‘continuous disclosure’ regime.
The Board encourages shareholders to attend and participate fully at 
the Annual Meeting to ensure a high level of accountability. Investors 
can obtain information on the Company from its website  
(www.skellerupholdings.co.nz).
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Skellerup Holdings Limited

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the financial statements of Skellerup Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries on pages 24 to 72, which comprise the 
balance sheet of Skellerup Holdings Limited and the group as at 30 June 2011, and the statement of comprehensive income, income 
statement, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended of the company and group, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
This report is made solely to the company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with section 205(1) of the Companies Act 1993. 
Our audit has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s shareholders those matters we are required to state to them 
in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the company and the company’s shareholders as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions  
we have formed.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practice in New Zealand and that give a true and fair view of the matters to which they relate, and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether  
due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance  
with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). These auditing standards require that we comply with relevant ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  
The procedures selected, depend on our judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we have considered the internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view of the matters to which they relate in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness  
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
We believe we have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
Ernst & Young provides other assurance and consulting services to the company and group.
Partners and employees of our firm may deal with the company on normal terms within the ordinary course of trading activities  
of the business of the company.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 24 to 72:
> Comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; 
> Comply with International Financial Reporting Standards; and
>  Give a true and fair view of the financial position of Skellerup Holdings Limited and the group as at 30 June 2011 and the financial 

performance and cashflows of the company and group for the year then ended.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
In accordance with the Financial Reporting Act 1993, we report that: 
> We have obtained all the information and explanations that we have required.
>  In our opinion proper accounting records have been kept by Skellerup Holdings Limited as far as appears from our examination  

of those records.

24 August 2011 
Auckland

Chartered Accountants
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For the year ended 30 June 2011

The Directors are responsible for the preparation, in accordance with New Zealand law and 
generally accepted accounting practice, of financial statements which give a true and fair view  
of the financial position of Skellerup Holdings Limited and the Group as at 30 June 2011, and  
the results of their operations and cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2011.

The Directors consider that the financial statements of the Company and the Group have been 
prepared using accounting policies appropriate to the Company and Group circumstances, 
consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates, and  
that all applicable New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards have  
been followed. 

The Directors have responsibility for ensuring that proper accounting records have been kept which 
enable, with reasonable accuracy, the determination of the financial position of the Company  
and Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Financial 
Reporting Act 1993.

The Directors have responsibility for the maintenance of a system of internal control designed to 
provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial reporting. The Directors 
consider that adequate steps have been taken to safeguard the assets of the Company and Group 
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are pleased to present the financial statements of Skellerup Holdings Limited  
for the year ended 30 June 2011.

This Annual Report is dated 24 August 2011 and is signed in accordance with a resolution  
of the Directors made pursuant to section 211 of the Companies Act 1993.

Sir Selwyn Cushing
Chairman of the Board of Directors

E.M. Coutts
Director

For and on behalf of the Directors
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INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011   

notE GRoUP PAREnt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

REvENUE

operating revenue 2 193,593 180,719 8,506 8,747

Less cost of sales 116,210 110,881 - -

GROSS pROFIT 77,383 69,838 8,506 8,747

Plus other income 3 5,913 1,087 43 31

TOTAL INCOME 83,296 70,925 8,549 8,778

Less distribution expenses 12,339 13,085 - -

Less marketing expenses 16,053 14,312 - -

Less administration expenses 18,545 21,838 1,694 2,959

Less Canterbury earthquakes expenses 6 4,132 - - -

pROFIT FOR THE YEAR bEFORE TAx AND 
FINANCE COSTS 32,227 21,690 6,855 5,819

Less finance costs 4 2,667 4,785 690 1,276

pROFIT FOR THE YEAR bEFORE TAx 29,560 16,905 6,165 4,543

Less income tax expense 5 9,360 4,947 425 75

Net profit for the year attributable  
to owners of the parent 20,200 11,958 5,740 4,468

EARNINGS pER SHARE

Basic earnings per share 19 10.504 6.807 - -

Diluted earnings per share 19 10.504 6.807 - -

The above Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes24
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Sir Selwyn Cushing
Chairman of the Board of Directors

E.M. Coutts
Director

bALANCE SHEET AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 
 

notE               GRoUP        PAREnt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 7 12,766 9,567 1,579 630
trade and other receivables 8 40,658 39,312 110 131
Inventories 9 28,437 28,159 - -
Income tax receivable 5 347 329 - 37
Derivative financial assets 20 430 275 - -
Investments and advances 12 1,000 - - -

Total Current Assets 83,638 77,642 1,689 798

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 10 37,751 38,652 4 -
Deferred tax assets 5 2,646 2,536 15 3
Goodwill 11 45,543 46,031 - -
Intangible assets 11 4,258 4,877 - -
Derivative financial assets 20 95 40 - -
Investments and advances 12 - 3,000 74,523 76,729

Total Non-Current Assets 90,293 95,136 74,542 76,732

Total Assets 173,931 172,778 76,231 77,530

CURRENT LIAbILITIES
trade and other payables 13 23,918 22,634 667 958
Provisions 14 8,047 6,273 28 10
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 15 94 115 - -
Income tax payable 5 6,658 1,976 335 -
Derivative financial liabilities 20 291 1,012 - -

Total Current Liabilities 39,008 32,010 1,030 968
NON-CURRENT LIAbILITIES
Provisions 14 965 1,140 - -
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 15 21,752 36,380 - -
Derivative financial liabilities 20 129 359 - -
Deferred tax liabilities 5 1,752 1,999 - -

Total Non-Current Liabilities 24,598 39,878 - -

Total Liabilities 63,606 71,888 1,030 968

Net Assets 110,325 100,890 75,201 76,562

EqUITY
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Share capital 16 69,732 68,198 69,732 68,198
Reserves 17 (8,984) (5,314) - -
Retained earnings 18 49,577 38,006 5,469 8,364

Total Equity 110,325 100,890 75,201 76,562

For and on behalf of the board which authorised these financial statements on 24 August 2011

The above balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 25
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STATEMENT OF COMpREHENSIvE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

notE GRoUP PAREnt
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Net profit after tax for the year 20,200 11,958 5,740 4,468

OTHER COMpREHENSIvE INCOME

net gains/(losses) on hedge of net investments 17 (2,483) (2,454) - -

Foreign exchange movements on translation of 
foreign operations

17 (1,162) (1,181) - -

net gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges 17 639 3,461 - 175

tax relating to components of other comprehensive 
income

5 (653) (734) - (53)

Effect of movement in foreign currencies (11) - - -

Other comprehensive income net of tax (3,670) (908) - 122

Total comprehensive income  
for the period 16,530 11,050 5,740 4,590

Attributable to:
-  Equity holders of parent 16,530 11,050 5,740 4,590
-  non-controlling interests - - - -

16,530 11,050 5,740 4,590

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes26
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STATEMENT OF COMpREHENSIvE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

notE GRoUP PAREnt
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Net profit after tax for the year 20,200 11,958 5,740 4,468

OTHER COMpREHENSIvE INCOME

net gains/(losses) on hedge of net investments 17 (2,483) (2,454) - -

Foreign exchange movements on translation of 
foreign operations

17 (1,162) (1,181) - -

net gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges 17 639 3,461 - 175

tax relating to components of other comprehensive 
income

5 (653) (734) - (53)

Effect of movement in foreign currencies (11) - - -

Other comprehensive income net of tax (3,670) (908) - 122

Total comprehensive income  
for the period 16,530 11,050 5,740 4,590

Attributable to:
-  Equity holders of parent 16,530 11,050 5,740 4,590
-  non-controlling interests - - - -

16,530 11,050 5,740 4,590

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EqUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 

notE FULLY PAID  
oRDInARY 

SHARES

CASH FLoW 
HEDGE  

RESERVE

FoREIGn  
CURREnCY 

tRAnSLAtIon 
RESERVE

REtAInED  
EARnInGS

totAL

GROUp $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

balance 1 July 2009 46,025 (2,740) (1,666) 29,811 71,430

net profit after tax for year ending 
30 June 2010

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
11,958

 
11,958

other comprehensive income 17 - 2,433 (3,341) - (908)

TOTAL COMpREHENSIvE 
INCOME FOR THE pERIOD - 2,433 (3,341) 11,958 11,050

Issue of share capital 16 22,974 - - - 22,974

transaction costs 16 (801) - - - (801)

Dividends 18 - - - (3,763) (3,763)

balance 30 June 2010 68,198 (307) (5,007) 38,006 100,890

net profit after tax for year ending 
30 June 2011

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
20,200

 
20,200

other comprehensive income 17 - 432 (4,102) - (3,670)
TOTAL COMpREHENSIvE  
INCOME FOR THE pERIOD - 432 (4,102) 20,200 16,530
Issue of share capital 16 1,534 - - - 1,534
transaction costs 16 - - - - -
Dividends 18 - - - (8,629) (8,629)

balance 30 June 2011 69,732 125 (9,109) 49,577 110,325

notE FULLY PAID  
oRDInARY 

SHARES

CASH FLoW 
HEDGE  

RESERVE

REtAInED  
EARnInGS

totAL

pARENT $000 $000 $000 $000

balance 1 July 2009 46,025 (122) 7,665 53,568

net profit after tax for year ending  
30 June 2010 - - 4,468 4,468
other comprehensive income 17 - 122 - 122
TOTAL COMpREHENSIvE  
INCOME FOR THE pERIOD - 122 4,468 4,590

Issue of share capital 16 22,974 - - 22,974
transaction costs 16 (801) - - (801)
Dividends 18 - - (3,769) (3,769)

balance 30 June 2010 68,198 - 8,364 76,562

net profit after tax for year ending  
30 June 2011 - - 5,740 5,740
other comprehensive income 17 - - - -
TOTAL COMpREHENSIvE  
INCOME FOR THE pERIOD - - 5,740 5,740
Issue of share capital 16 1,534 - - 1,534
transaction costs 16 - - - -
Dividends 18 - - (8,635) (8,635)

balance 30 June 2011 69,732 - 5,469 75,201

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 27
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

notE     GRoUP PAREnt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM OpERATING ACTIvITIES     
Receipts from customers (inclusive of GSt/VAt) 188,529 169,073 - -
Interest received 488 479 43 31
Dividends received - - 4,780 4,300
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of 
GSt/VAt)

(147,426) (137,108) (1,965) (2,819)

Income tax refund/(paid) (5,695) (3,660) (64) 4
Interest and bank fees paid (2,874) (4,832) (671) (1,321)
Management fees received - - 3,726 4,447

Net cash flows from / (used in) operating  
activities 25 33,022 23,952 5,849 4,642

CASH FLOWS FROM INvESTING ACTIvITIES
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 49 1,026 - -
Payments for property, plant and equipment 10 (7,436) (4,961) (5) -
Payments for intangible assets 11 (270) (163) - -
Proceeds from/(payments to) related parties 22 - - 2,206 (12,994)

Net cash flows from / (used in) investing  
activities (7,657) (4,098) 2,201 (12,994)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIvITIES
Proceeds from issue of equity shares 16 - 21,536 - 21,536
transaction cost of equity shares 16 - (801) - (801)
Repayment of borrowings (14,649) (35,637) - (12,500)
Dividends paid to equity holders of parent (7,095) (2,325) (7,101) (2,331)

Net cash flows from / (used in) financing  
activities (21,744) (17,227) (7,101) 5,904

net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,621 2,627 949 (2,448)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 9,567 6,853 630 3,078
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations (422) 87 - -

Cash and cash equivalents at the end  
of the year 7 12,766 9,567 1,579 630

The above Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes28

Financial Statements (continued)



29SKELLERUP AnnUAL REPoRt 2011

Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

1. CORpORATE INFORMATION  

The financial statements of Skellerup Holdings Limited for the year ended 30 June 2011 were authorised for issue in accordance  
with a resolution of the directors on 24 August 2011. 

Skellerup Holdings Limited is registered under the Companies Act 1993 incorporated in New Zealand and listed on the New Zealand 
Exchange. Skellerup Holdings Limited is an issuer for the purposes of the Financial Reporting Act 1993.

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are described in the Segment Information under Note 24.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING pOLICIES 

(a) basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand and the 
requirements of the Companies Act 1993 and the Financial Reporting Act 1993. The financial statements have also been prepared  
on a historical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments that have been measured at fair value. 

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011 have been prepared in accordance with New Zealand 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practices. They comply with the New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (NZIFRS) and other applicable Financial Reporting Standards as appropriate for profit oriented entities. The financial 
statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The Group is a profit oriented entity and the operational results may fluctuate with movements in the international markets.

(b) basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Skellerup Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries as  
at 30 June 2011 (‘the Group’). 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent 
accounting policies. 

When subsidiaries are initially consolidated, adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances, income and expense transactions, and profit and 
losses resulting from intra-group activities, have been eliminated. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from the  
date on which control is transferred out of the Group. 

Where there is loss of control of a subsidiary, the consolidated financial statements include the results for the part of the reporting 
year during which Skellerup Holdings Limited has control. 

(c) New accounting standards and interpretations

NZ IFRS Standards which have been issued but not yet effective and have not been adopted for the Annual Report ending 30 June 
2011, are as follows:

REFEREnCE tItLE SUMMARY
APPLICAtIon 

DAtE oF 
StAnDARD

IMPACt on GRoUP 
FInAnCIAL StAtEMEntS

APPLICAtIon 
DAtE FoR 

GRoUP

Improvements to 
NZ Equivalents to 
IFRS (2010)

Amendments 
to New Zealand 
Accounting 
Standards arising 
from the Annual 
Improvements 
Project (2010)

The amendments to NZ IFRS 7 emphasise the interaction between quantitative and 
qualitative disclosures and the nature and extent of risks associated with financial 
instruments.

1 January 2011

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements 
and have no material impact 
on the measurement and 
recognition of amounts in the 
Financial Statements.

1 July 2011

Improvements to 
NZ Equivalents 
to IFRS (2010) 
(Cont.)

Amendments 
to New Zealand 
Accounting 
Standards arising 
from the Annual 
Improvements 
Project (2010) 
(Cont.)

The amendments to NZ IAS 34 provides guidance to illustrate how to apply disclosure 
principles in NZ IAS 34 and add disclosure requirements around: ►
 
•	 The circumstances likely to affect fair values of financial instruments and their 

classification.
•	 Transfers of financial instruments between different levels of the fair value hierarchy.
•	 Changes in classification of financial assets.
•	 Changes in contingent liabilities and assets.

1 January 2011

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements 
and have no material impact 
on the measurement and 
recognition of amounts in the 
Financial Statements.

1 July 2011
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REFEREnCE tItLE SUMMARY
APPLICAtIon 

DAtE oF 
StAnDARD

IMPACt on GRoUP 
FInAnCIAL StAtEMEntS

APPLICAtIon 
DAtE FoR 

GRoUP

NZ IAS 24
Related Party 
Disclosures (Revised 
2009)

The revised NZ IAS 24 simplifies the definition of a related party, clarifying its intended 
meaning and eliminating inconsistencies from the definition. 1 January 2011

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts in the Financial 
Statements.

1 July 2011

NZ IAS 27 Separate Financial 
Statements

NZ IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (as amended in 2011) removes the accounting 
and disclosure requirements for consolidated financial statements, as a result of the issue 
of NZ IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and NZ IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests 
in Other Entities, which establish new consolidation and disclosure standards.

1 January 2013

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts in the Financial 
Statements.

1 July 2013

NZ IFRS 7

Amendments to 
NZ IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: 
Disclosures

The amendments to NZ IFRS 7 enhance the transparency of disclosure requirements for 
the transfer of financial assets. 1 July 2011

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts in the Financial 
Statements.

1 July 2011

NZ IFRS 9 (2009) Financial 
Instruments

NZ IFRS 9 (2009) includes requirements for the classification and measurement of 
financial assets resulting from the first part of Phase 1 of the IASB’s project to replace NZ 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

These requirements improve and simplify the approach for classification and measurement 
of financial assets compared with the requirements of NZ IAS 39. The revised Standard 
introduces a number of changes to the accounting for financial assets.

1 January 2013

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts in the Financial 
Statements.

1 July 2013

NZ IFRS 9 (2010) Financial 
Instruments

NZ IFRS 9 (2010) supersedes NZ IFRS 9 (2009).

The requirements for classifying and measuring financial liabilities were added to NZ IFRS 
9 as issued in 2009. The existing NZ IAS 39 requirements for the classification of financial 
liabilities and the ability to use the fair value option have been retained. However, where 
the fair value option is used for financial liabilities, the change in fair value is accounted 
for as follows:

•	 The change attributable to changes in credit risk is presented in other comprehensive 
income (OCI).

•	 The remaining change is presented in profit or loss.
If this approach creates or enlarges an accounting mismatch in the profit or loss, the effect 
of the changes in credit risk are also presented in profit or loss.

1 January 2013

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts in the Financial 
Statements.

1 July 2013

NZ IFRS 10
Consolidated 
Financial 
Statements

NZ IFRS 10 establishes a new control model. It replaces part of NZ IAS 27 Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements dealing with the accounting for consolidated financial 
statements and SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.

1 January 2013

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts in the Financial 
Statements.

1 July 2013

NZ IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

NZ IFRS 11 replaces NZ IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly-controlled 
Entities – Non-monetary Contributions by Ventures. NZ IFRS 11 uses the principle of 
control in NZ IFRS 10 to define joint control, and therefore the determination of whether 
joint control exists may change. In addition NZ IFRS 11 removes the option to account for 
jointly controlled entities (JCEs) using proportionate consolidation. Instead, accounting for 
a joint arrangement is dependent on the nature of the rights and obligations arising from 
the arrangement.

1 January 2013

These amendments are not 
expected to have any impact on 
the Group’s Financial Statements 
since the Group does not have 
any joint arrangements.

1 July 2013

NZ IFRS 12
Disclosure of 
Interests in Other 
Entities

NZ IFRS 12 includes all disclosures relating to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint 
arrangements, associates and structures entities. New disclosures have been introduced 
about the judgments made by management to determine whether control exists, and 
to require summarised information about joint arrangements, associates and structured 
entities and subsidiaries with non-controlling interests.

1 January 2013

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts in the Financial 
Statements.

1 July 2013

NZ IFRS 13 Fair Value 
Measurement

NZ IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under NZ IFRS for determining the fair 
value of assets and liabilities. NZ IFRS 13 does not change when an entity is required to 
use fair value, but rather, provides guidance on how to determine fair value under NZ IFRS 
when fair value is required or permitted by NZ IFRS. Application of this guidance may result 
in different fair values being determined for the relevant assets.

NZ IFRS 13 also expands the disclosure requirements for all assets or liabilities carried at 
fair value. This includes information about the assumptions made and the qualitative 
impact of those assumptions on the fair value determined.

1 January 2013

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts in the Financial 
Statements.

1 July 2013

FRS 44
New Zealand 
Additional 
Disclosures

FRS 44 is a consequence of the joint Trans-Tasman Convergence project of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and Financial Reporting Standards Board (FRSB).

This standard relocates New Zealand specific disclosures from other standards to one place 
and revises disclosures in a number of areas.

1 July 2011

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts in the Financial 
Statements.

1 July 2011

Harmonisation 
Amendments

Amendments 
to NZ IFRS to 
Harmonise with 
IFRS and Australian 
Accounting 
Standards.

(NZ IAS 1, 7, 8, 12, 
16, 20, 28, 31, 34 
and 40)

These amendments
(a) Remove the disclosures which have been relocated to FRS 44.
(b) Harmonise audit fee disclosure requirements in NZ IFRS 1 with AASB 101.
(c) Harmonise imputation/franking credits’ disclosure requirements in NZ IAS 12 with 

AASB 101.
(d) Introduce the option to use the indirect method of reporting cash flows in NZ IAS 7.
(e) Introduce an accounting policy choice to use the cost model for investment property 

under NZ IAS 40.
(f) Remove the requirement to use an independent valuer and the related disclosure 

requirements currently in NZ IAS 16 and NZ IAS 40.
(g) Remove some NZ-specific disclosures.

1 January 2011

These amendments are expected 
only to affect the presentation of 
the Group’s Financial Statements 
and have no material impact on 
the measurement and recognition 
of amounts in the Financial 
Statements.

1 July 2011

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING pOLICIES (continued)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING pOLICIES (continued) (d) business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination  
shall be measured at fair value, which shall be calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by  
the Group, the liabilities incurred by the Group to former owners of the acquiree and the equity issued by the Group, and the amount 
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group measures the non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are 
expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and 
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic conditions, the Group’s operating or accounting policies and other 
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in  
the acquiree is remeasured at fair value as at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent 
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability will be recognised in accordance 
with NZ IAS 39 either in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it shall 
not be remeasured.

Except for non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale (which are measured at fair value less costs to sell), all 
identifiable assets acquired, liabilities, and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination, are measured initially at their  
fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non controlling interests. The excess of the cost of the business 
combination over the net fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill. If the cost  
of acquisition is less than the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable net assets of the subsidiary, the difference is recognised  
as a gain in the income statement, but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired.

Where settlement of any part of the consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present  
value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which similar 
borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.

(e) Segment reporting

An operating segment is a distinguishable component of the entity which is reported as an organisational unit, engages in business 
activities, earning revenues and incurs expenses, and whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision 
maker to allocate resources and assess performance.

Factors which determine a separate operating segment include the nature of the products, services and production processes, 
together with the type and class of the customer. Such segments will have discreet financial information available so that the chief 
operating decision maker is able to assess performance and allocate resources. Operating segments that meet the quantitative criteria 
as prescribed by NZ IFRS 8 are reported separately. However, an operating segment that does not meet the quantitative criteria is still 
reported separately where this separate disclosure meets the above definition of a separate operating segment and is useful to users 
of the Financial Statements.

(f) Foreign currency translation 

Functional and Presentation Currency

Both the functional and presentation currency of Skellerup Holdings Limited and its New Zealand subsidiaries is New Zealand dollars.

The functional currency of the foreign subsidiaries is the currency relating to the country where the subsidiary is domiciled.

Transactions and Balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the exchange rates ruling at the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the 
balance sheet date.

All differences in the financial statements are taken to the income statement with the exception of differences on foreign currency 
borrowings that provide a hedge against a net investment in a foreign entity. These are taken directly to statement of comprehensive 
income until the disposal of the net investment, at which time they are recognised in the income statement.

Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those borrowings are also recognised directly in the statement  
of comprehensive income.
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Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate  
as at the date of the initial transaction.

Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the  
fair value was determined.

As at the reporting date the assets and liabilities of these overseas subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency of 
Skellerup Holdings Limited at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and the income statements are translated  
at the weighted average month end exchange rates for the year. 

The exchange differences arising on translation are taken directly to a separate component of the statement of comprehensive income. 

(g) property, plant and equipment

All classes of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost, including costs directly attributable in bringing the asset  
to the working condition and ready for its intended use.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Buildings  - 40 years 

Plant and Equipment  -  2 to 20 years 

Furniture, Fittings and Other  -  5 to 10 years

Impairment

The carrying values of assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may 
be less than the recoverable amount. 

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs.

If any such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating 
units are written down to their recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

Disposals

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise 
from the continued use of the asset. 

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the item) is included in the income statement in the year the item is derecognised. 

(h) Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the consideration transferred over the 
fair value of the Group’s net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration transferred is lower than the fair 
value of the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in the income statement.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at the amount recognised at acquisition date less any accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each  
of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units. Each unit  
or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for 
internal management purposes, and is not larger than an operating segment determined in accordance with NZ IFRS 8.

Impairment testing is undertaken as at 31 May each year and is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the goodwill relates. 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
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Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the 
income statement. Impairment losses recognised are not subsequently reversed.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated 
with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of 
the operation. 

Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion 
of the cash-generating unit retained.

(i) Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately or in a business combination, are capitalised at cost at the date of acquisition. 

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

The useful lives of these separately acquired intangible assets are assessed to be finite. 

Where amortisation is charged on assets with finite lives, this expense is taken to the income statement.

Intangible assets with finite lives, excluding development costs, created within the business are not capitalised and expenditure  
is charged to the income statement in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment where an indicator of impairment exists, and in the case of intangibles with indefinite 
lives, annually, either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Where an intangible asset is impaired, the carrying amount,  
less any recoverable amount as defined in Note 1(j) is charged to the income statement. Useful lives are also examined on an annual 
basis and adjustments, where applicable, are made on a prospective basis.

The Group’s intangible assets mainly consist of software costs and land use rights. A 10-year straight line amortisation rate is currently 
used for software costs. Land use rights are amortised over the period the land is available to be used, being 50 years.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the income statement when the asset is derecognised.

Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. 

Development expenditure incurred on an individual project is carried forward when its future recoverability can reasonably  
be regarded as assured. 

Following the initial recognition of the development expenditure, the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be carried at  
cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Any expenditure carried forward is amortised over the period of expected future sales from the related project.

The amortisation period and amortisation method for development costs is reviewed at each financial year-end. If the useful life or 
method of consumption is different from the previous assessment, changes are made accordingly. The carrying value of development 
costs is reviewed for indicators of impairment annually.

(j) Recoverable amount of non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where an indicator of 
impairment exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. It is determined for an individual asset, unless the 
asset’s value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value less costs to sell and it does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
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(k) Investments 

All investments in subsidiaries are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given, including acquisition 
charges associated with the investment. Investments will continue to be measured at cost in the parent’s Financial Statements.

(l) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition are accounted for as follows:

 > Raw materials – purchase cost on a first-in, first-out basis;

 > Finished goods and work-in-progress – cost of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing overheads based  
on normal operating capacity but excluding borrowing costs.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(m) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have 30 - 120 day terms, are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance  
for any uncollectible amounts. 

An estimate for doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence of impairment of the full amount. Bad debts are written  
off when identified. A debt is considered to be uncollectible when the debtor files for receivership or liquidation.

(n) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity 
of three months or less.

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above,  
net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(o) Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale and measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction. They are not depreciated  
or amortised. For an asset or disposal group to be classified as held for sale, it must be available for immediate sale in its present 
condition and its sale must be highly probable.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less costs to sell. 
A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal group), but not in excess of any 
cumulative impairment loss previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current 
asset (or disposal group) is recognised at the date of derecognition.

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale and that represents  
a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of such a line of 
business or area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results of discontinued operations are 
presented separately on the face of the income statement.

(p) Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of NZ IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are classified as either financial 
assets at fair value through the income statement, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale financial 
assets. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value 
through the income statement, directly attributable transaction costs. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets 
after initial recognition and, when allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year-end.

Recognition and derecognition

All regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date that the Group commits to purchase 
the asset. Regular purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets under contracts that require delivery of the assets within 
the period established generally by regulation or convention in the market place. Financial assets are derecognised when the right to 
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or been transferred. Gains and losses on financial assets are exclusive of 
interest and dividends which are recognised separately.    
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(i) Financial assets at fair value through the income statement 

Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in the category ‘financial assets at fair value through the income 
statement’. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term with  
the intention of making a profit. Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging 
instruments. Gains or losses on investments held for trading are recognised in the income statement.

(ii) Held-to-maturity investments 

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-to-maturity when the 
Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Investments intended to be held for an undefined period are not 
included in this classification. Investments that are intended to be held-to-maturity, such as bonds, are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. This cost is computed as the amount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative 
amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between the initially recognised amount and the maturity 
amount. This calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums and discounts. For investments carried at amortised cost, gains 
and losses are recognised in the income statement when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the 
amortisation process.

(iii) Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables including loan notes and loans to key management personnel are non-derivative financial assets with fixed  
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the loans and receivables are derecognised or 
impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

(iv) Available-for-sale investments 

Available-for-sale investments are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classified 
as any of the three preceding categories. After initial recognition available-for-sale investments are measured at fair value with 
gains or losses being recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is derecognised or until the investment  
is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in the statement of comprehensive 
income is recognised in the income statement.

The fair values of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets are determined by reference to quoted market 
bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For investments with no active market, fair values are determined 
using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions, reference to the current market 
value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models making as 
much use of available and supportable market data as possible and keeping judgemental inputs to a minimum.

(q) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities that are yield related are included as part of the carrying amount  
of the loans and borrowings.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least  
12 months after the reporting date.

(r) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost, and due to their short term nature, are not discounted. They represent 
liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid, and arise when the Group 
becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. The amounts are unsecured and 
usually paid within 30 to 60 days of recognition.

(s) provisions and employee benefits

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. 

Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is 
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recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented 
in the income statement net of any reimbursement. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimates of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at the balance date.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a 
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Certain businesses within New Zealand qualify to be in the Accident Compensation Commission Partnership Programme, where 
medical costs relating to work related incidents are the liability of the business under certain conditions. The liability arising from such 
future work related medical costs are valued by an independent actuary, discounted to a present value and recorded as a current 
liability on the Balance Sheet.

Employee benefits

(i) Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date. They are 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are 
recognised when the leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable.

(ii) Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in 
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using a probability calculation of the employee reaching the 
future service milestones. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures,  
and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date with terms to maturity 
and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

(iii) Defined contribution scheme

The Group contributes to post employment schemes for its employees. Under these schemes the benefits received by the employee 
are determined by the amount of the contribution paid by the Group, together with any investment returns and hence the actuarial 
and investment risk is borne entirely by the employee. Therefore, because the Group’s obligations are determined by the amount 
paid during each period, no actuarial assumptions are required to measure the obligation or the expense.

(t) Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an 
assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement 
conveys a right to use the asset.

Finance leases

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are 
capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum  
lease payments. Where the leased item is capitalised, the item is depreciated over its economic useful life.

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate  
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are included in the income statement as finance costs.

Operating leases

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

(u) Contributed equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown  
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(v) Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue  
can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:
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Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer and can be 
measured reliably. Risks and rewards are considered passed to the buyer at the time of delivery of the goods to the customer.

Rendering of services

Revenue from rendering services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion. 

Stage of completion is measured by reference to labour hours incurred to date as a percentage of total estimated labour hours  
for each contract.

Where the contract outcome cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of the expenses recognised  
that are recoverable.

Interest

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues (using the effective interest method which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset).

Dividends

Revenue is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive the payment is established.

Rental income

Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rental income is recognised as income  
in the periods in which it is earned.

(w) Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all 
attaching conditions will be complied with.  

When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as a liability initially, and released as income over the periods necessary  
to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. 

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is released to the income statement 
over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.  

(x) Income tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from, or paid 
to, the taxation authorities based on the current period’s taxable income. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences:

 > except for a deferred income tax liability arising from the initial recognition of goodwill;

> except where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is  
not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax 
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the 
carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

 > when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit 
nor taxable profit or loss, or

 > when the deductible temporary difference is associated with investment in subsidiaries, in which case a deferred tax asset is only 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit 
will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is  
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has 
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become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or  
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current assets against current liabilities 
and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

Income tax relating to items recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income are recognised in the statement  
of comprehensive income and not in the income statement.

(y) Other taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST/VAT except:

 > where the GST/VAT incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case  
the GST/VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

 > receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST/VAT included.

The net amount of GST/VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in 
the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis and the GST/VAT component of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST/VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.

(z) Earnings per share

Earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to exclude any costs of servicing equity 
(other than dividends), divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares.

(aa) Derecognition of financial instruments 

The derecognition of a financial instrument takes place when the Group no longer controls the contractual rights that comprise  
the financial instrument, which is normally the case when the instrument is sold, or all the cash flows attributable to the instrument 
are passed through to an independent third party.

(ab) Derivative financial instruments and hedging 

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its risks 
associated with interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair 
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to fair value. Certain derivative 
instruments are also held for trading for the purpose of making short term gains. These derivatives do not qualify for hedge 
accounting and changes in fair value are recognised immediately in profit or loss in other revenue and expenses. Derivatives are 
carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives, except for those that qualify as cash flows hedges, are taken 
directly to profit or loss for the year. The fair values of forward currency contracts are calculated by reference to current forward 
exchange rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles. The fair values of interest rate swap and commodity contracts are 
determined by reference to market values for similar instruments.

For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

 > Fair value hedges when they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability;

 > Cash flow hedges when they hedge the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable either to a particular risk associated 
with a recognised asset or liability or to a forecast transaction; or

 > Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to which the Group 
wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking the hedge. The documentation 
includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the 
entity will assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair values or cash 
flows attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair values or 
cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout the financial 
reporting periods for which they were designated.
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Hedges that meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows:

(i) Fair value hedges

Fair value hedges are hedges of the Group’s exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an 
unrecognised firm commitment, or an identified portion of such an asset, liability or firm commitment that is attributable to  
a particular risk and could affect profit or loss. For fair value hedges, the carrying amount of the hedged item is adjusted for gains  
and losses attributable to the risk being hedged and the derivative is remeasured to fair value. Gains and losses from both are 
recognised in profit or loss.

When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated as a hedged item, the subsequent cumulative change in the fair value  
of the firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk is recognised as an asset or liability with a corresponding gain or loss 
recognised in profit or loss. The changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are also recognised in profit or loss.

The Group discontinues fair value hedge accounting if the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, the hedge 
no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the Group revokes the designation. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of 
a hedged financial instrument for which the effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss. Amortisation may begin 
as soon as an adjustment exists and shall begin no later than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair 
value attributable to the risk being hedged.

(ii) Cash flow hedges

Cash flow hedges are hedges of the Group’s exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated 
with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction and that could affect profit or loss. The effective portion 
of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income, while the ineffective 
portion is recognised in the income statement.

Amounts taken to the statement of comprehensive income are transferred out of the statement of comprehensive income and 
included in the measurement of the hedged transaction (sales or inventory purchases) when the forecast transaction occurs. 

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, amounts previously recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income are transferred to the income statement. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without 
replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, amounts previously recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income remain in the statement of comprehensive income until the forecast transaction occurs. If the related 
transaction is not expected to occur, the amount is recognised in the income statement.

(iii) Hedges of a net investment

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted for as part of the  
net investment, are accounted for in a similar way to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating to  
the effective portion of the hedge are recognised directly in equity while any gains or losses relating to the ineffective portion are 
recognised in profit or loss. On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of any such gains or losses recognised directly  
in equity is transferred to profit or loss.

(ac) Significant accounting judgements and assumptions

Management has identified the following critical accounting policies for which significant judgements, estimates and assumptions  
are made. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions and may materially affect 
financial results or the financial position reported in future periods.

Details of the material accounting judgements and assumptions are as follows:

(i) Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill with indefinite useful lives are impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires certain 
assumptions being made in determining the recoverable amount of the cash generation units, using a value in use discounted cash 
flow methodology, to which the goodwill has been allocated. The assumptions used in determining the recoverable amount and 
the carrying amount of goodwill are disclosed in Note 11.

(ii) Warranty provisions

In determining the level of provision required for warranties, the Group has made judgements in respect of the expected 
performance of products and the costs of rectifying any products that do not meet the customers’ quality standards. Historical 
experience and trends of past expenditure have been used by management in determining the appropriate provision required.  
The related carrying amount of provisions is disclosed in Note 14.
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(iii) Inventory obsolescence

The Group applies an inventory valuation policy of valuing at the lower of original cost, or net realisable value. Where inventory 
 is written down below cost, estimates are made of the realisable value less cost to sell to determine the net realisable value.  
The estimated write down is disclosed in Note 9.

(iv) Estimation of useful lives of assets

The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on historical experience, manufacturers’ warranties, lease terms and 
management’s judgement on the performance of the asset. Adjustments to useful lives are made when considered necessary.

The depreciation changes are disclosed in Note 10.

(v) Recovery of the deferred tax asset

The deferred tax asset represents the temporary differences that arise where expenditure recognised by the Group can be claimed 
in a future period, when the expenditure is considered to be an allowable deduction for tax purposes. The assumption made is that 
it is probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available in future periods in each tax jurisdiction that the deferred tax relates,  
to utilise the tax benefit represented by the deferred tax asset.

The deferred tax asset is disclosed in Note 5.

 (vi) Impairment of non financial assets other than goodwill

The Group assesses impairment of all assets at each reporting date, by evaluating conditions specific to the group and to the particular 
assets held. The assessment made includes product and manufacturing performances, technology, economic and political 
environments and future product expectations. If an impairment exists the recoverable amount is determined and the asset written 
down to the recoverable amount. Management have determined there are no material impairments of non financial assets.

(vii) Management’s expectation of future payments

Management closely monitor the cash needs of the Group so that adequate financial resources are available to meet the 
immediate cash commitments.

A balanced view of cash inflows and outflows are considered when determining the cash resources available, in addition to 
ensuring appropriate credit lines are available from the Group’s bankers to cover short and long term cash demands. Under Note 
20, management has disclosed their estimates of the timing of future cash commitments from the realisation of financial assets 
and financial liabilities.

(viii) Assumptions relating to the Canterbury earthquake insurance recovery

As a result of the damage to buildings and business interruptions caused by the Canterbury earthquakes, management have made 
certain assumptions regarding the estimated recovery which will result from claims made on insurance policies.

For expenses relating to increased costs of operating, temporary repairs and certain business interruption costs which can be 
quantified, the expenses and sundry income expected to be recovered under insurance policies have been recorded in the financial 
statements. The expenses are recorded in note 6 and the sundry income in note 3. A summary of the impact on the Group’s result 
is reported in note 27.

For buildings which are subject to significant structural engineering evaluation to determine whether the structures can be repaired 
or replaced, the insurance claim values cannot be reliably measured with virtual certainty, because of the range of options available 
to reinstate, and negotiations with underwriters have not commenced.

Because the values cannot be determined with virtual certainty, the possible insurance proceeds have not been quantified  
in the financial statements.

(ad) Changes to accounting policies

There have been no changes to accounting policies during the reported period other than the application of the following new 
standards and interpretations which has impacted presentation, and has no material impact on the measurement and recognition  
of amounts in the Financial Statements:

 > NZ IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements

 > NZ IAS 7 - Statement of Cash Flows

 > NZ IAS 36 - Impairment of Assets

 > NZ IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING pOLICIES (continued)

2. OpERATING REvENUE

An analysis of the revenue for the year is as follows:       

notE GRoUP PAREnt
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Sale of goods 193,443 180,470 - -
Management fees from subsidiaries 22 - - 3,726 4,447
Rental revenue 23 150 249 - -

Dividends from subsidiaries 22 - - 4,780 4,300

Total operating revenue 193,593 180,719 8,506 8,747

3. OTHER INCOME

notE GRoUP PAREnt
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Interest income 488 479 43 31
Government grants received 68 358 - -
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - - - -
Foreign currency gains 265 - - -
Canterbury earthquakes insurance claims 6 4,132 - - -
other sundry income 960 250 - -

Total other income 5,913 1,087 43 31

As a result of the Canterbury earthquakes in September 2010 and February 2011, certain costs have been incurred (refer note 6). 
These costs are subject to an insurance claim with the company’s underwriters, and therefore these costs have been recognised  
as income, and a receivable, in the 2011 year.

4. FINANCE COSTS

GRoUP PAREnt
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Interest on bank overdrafts and borrowings 1,967 3,721 10 401
Bank facility fees 693 1,047 680 875
Interest on finance leases 7 17 - -

Total finance costs 2,667 4,785 690 1,276

 



5. TAxATION

(a) Income Statement

notE GRoUP PAREnt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

CURRENT INCOME TAx
Current income tax charge/(credit) 9,555 4,567 375 7
Prior year adjustments 59 (261) 61 -

DEFERRED INCOME TAx
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary 
differences (253) 7 47 66
Due to change in tax legislation - 80 - -
Due to change in tax rates 28 139 (3) -
Prior year adjustments (153) 18 (55) 2

Effect of movements in foreign currencies 124 397 - -

Income tax expense as per income  
statement 9,360 4,947 425 75

(b) Amounts charged to other comprehensive income

      
                 GRoUP PAREnt

2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

RESERvES
Deferred tax on forward exchange and interest rate 
swap derivatives taken to the hedge reserve

 
17

 
186

 
1,028

 
-

 
53

tax on unrealised foreign exchange gains/(losses) in 
year taken to foreign currency revaluation reserve

 
17

 
(346)

 
(294)

 
-

 
-

Prior year adjustments 17 813 - - -

Total income tax expense relating to other 
comprehensive income 653 734 - 53
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5. TAxATION (continued)

 (c) Reconciliation

 

             GRoUP PAREnt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

total profit as reported 29,560 16,905 6,165 4,543
Less tax charge 9,360 4,947 425 75
tax percentage 31.7% 29.3% 6.9% 1.7%

Net profit after tax 20,200 11,958 5,740 4,468

tax % at parent company rate 30% 30% 30% 30%
tax at parent company rate 8,868 5,071 1,850 1,363
Due to change in tax legislation - 80 - -
Due to change in tax rates 28 139 (3) -
Adjustments for prior years (94) (243) 5 2
non deductibles/(non taxables) 28 (137) (1,427) (1,290)
Effect of different foreign tax rates 185 24 - -
Controlled foreign company tax charge 221 - - -
Effect of movements in foreign currencies 124 13 - -

Income tax as per income statement 9,360 4,947 425 75

Tax Legislation Amendment

The tax legislation changes announcement made by the New Zealand Government in May 2010 has impacted the deferred  
tax charge for the prior period for the New Zealand based entities.

The impact of these changes is as follows:

(1)  The Company income tax rate is to reduce to 28% (currently 30%) for periods from and including the 2012 year.

The impact on temporary differences reversing in the 2012 year or subsequent periods resulted in an additional deferred tax charge 
of $28,000 for the period (2010, $139,000).

(2)  The tax rate for depreciation on buildings, which have a life of 50 years or greater, was reduced to zero for periods from  
and including 2012. There was no impact in the current year.

The impact resulted in an additional deferred tax charge for the previous period of $80,000 as a result of the tax depreciation  
base for buildings being reduced to zero for future periods.
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5. TAxATION (continued)

(d) Recognised current and deferred tax assets and liabilities

notE GRoUP

2011  
CURREnt 

InCoME tAX

2011  
DEFERRED 

InCoME tAX

2010  
CURREnt 

InCoME tAX

2010  
DEFERRED 

InCoME tAX
$000 $000 $000 $000

opening balance (1,647) 537 (868) 1,647
CHARGED TO INCOME 
Current year charge (9,555) 253 (4,567) (87)
Prior year adjustments (136) 230 261 (18)
Payments/(refunds) 5,695 - 3,660 -
Effect of change in future tax rates - (28) - (139)

CHARGED TO OTHER COMpREHENSIvE INCOME
Deferred tax on forward exchange and interest rate 
swap derivatives taken to the hedge reserve 17 - (186) - (1,028)
Deferred tax on unrealised foreign exchange gains in 
year taken to foreign currency revaluation reserve 17 346 - - 294
Prior year adjustments 17 (803) (10) - -

Effect of movements in foreign currencies (211) 98 (133) (132)

Closing balance (6,311) 894 (1,647) 537

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet:
- tax asset 347 2,646 329 2,536
- tax liability (6,658) (1,752) (1,976) (1,999)

Net tax asset/(liability) (6,311) 894 (1,647) 537

GRoUP

2011  
DEFERRED 

InCoME tAX

2010  
DEFERRED 

InCoME tAX
$000 $000

(i) DEFERRED TAx LIAbILITIES
Accelerated depreciation (3,130) (4,044)

Gross deferred tax liabilities (3,130) (4,044)

(ii) DEFERRED TAx ASSETS
Inventory 468 592
Restructuring - -
Annual leave, long service leave (incl. sick leave) 1,505 1,457
Doubtful debts 158 211
Warranty 679 489
General 941 997
Derivatives (50) 149
Loss available for future offset 323 686

Gross deferred tax assets 4,024 4,581
Set-off deferred tax liabilities (3,130) (4,044)

Net deferred tax assets 894 537

The deferred tax asset and liabilities can only be offset if in the same tax jurisdiction.
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5. TAxATION (continued)

(d) Recognised current and deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)

notE          PAREnt
2011  

CURREnt  
InCoME tAX

2011  
DEFERRED  

InCoME tAX

2010  
CURREnt  

InCoME tAX

2010  
DEFERRED 

InCoME tAX
$000 $000 $000 $000

opening balance 37 3 48 124
Charged to income (375) (47) (7) (66)
Charged to income – previous year (61) 56 - (2)
Payments 64 - (4) -
Effect of change in future tax rates - 3 - -

CHARGED TO OTHER COMpREHENSIvE INCOME

Deferred tax on interest rate swap derivatives taken to 
the hedge reserve 17 - - - (53)

Closing balance (335) 15 37 3

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet:
-  tax asset - 15 37 3
-  tax liability (335) - - -

Net tax asset (335) 15 37 3

        PAREnt

2011  
DEFERRED 

 InCoME tAX

2010  
DEFERRED 

InCoME tAX
$000 $000

(i) DEFERRED TAx LIAbILITIES
Derivatives - -

Gross deferred tax liabilities - -

(ii) DEFERRED TAx ASSETS
Annual leave, long service leave (incl. sick leave) 7 3
other 8 -

Gross deferred tax assets 15 3

IMpUTATION CREDIT ACCOUNT

               GRoUP   PAREnt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at beginning of year 5,185 5,321 4,604 4,531
Attached to dividends received - - 2,048 1,843
Attached to dividends paid (3,680) (1,847) (3,680) (1,847)
Income tax paid/(refunds) in new Zealand 1,450 1,711 44 77

Total imputation credits 2,955 5,185 3,016 4,604
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6. ExpENDITURE INCLUDED IN NET pROFIT FOR THE YEAR       

Net Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging / (crediting):       

      notE        GRoUP  PAREnt
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS:
Audit of the financial statements by parent  
company auditor
- new Zealand companies 175 162 59 67
- overseas companies 174 102 - -
other services provided by parent company auditor 
– assurance services related to the earthquakes 
insurance claims 50 - - -
nZ IFRS, It and internal assurance services and 
statutory audits performed for foreign subsidiaries - 103 - -
other auditors fees for the audit of the financial 
statements in foreign jurisdictions 76 97 - -

Total remuneration of auditors 475 464 59 67
EMpLOYEE bENEFITS ExpENSE:
Wages and salaries (including annual leave,  
long service and sick leave) 41,298 39,024 727 643
termination benefits 28 1,298 - 1,100
Defined contribution expense 1,015 712 - -

Total employee benefits expense 42,341 41,034 727 1,743
DEpRECIATION AND AMORTISATION ExpENSES:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10 6,411 6,054 1 1
Amortisation of intangible assets 11 880 852 - -

Total depreciation and amortisation expense 7,291 6,906 1 1
LOSS OF DISpOSAL OF pROpERTY,  
pLANT AND EqUIpMENT 80 220 - 1

RESTRUCTURING ExpENSES
Restructuring expenses are reported as distribution 
expenses - 37 - -

pRODUCT DEvELOpMENT COSTS 676 834 - -

RENTALS AND OpERATING LEASE COSTS
- Property, vehicles and plant & equipment 5,646 4,719 35 38

FOREIGN CURRENCY LOSSES - 2,521 - 4

INEFFECTIvE pORTION OF CASHFLOW HEDGES:
- Interest rate swaps 9 718 - -
- Foreign currency contracts - 105 - -

Total ineffective portion of cash flow hedges 9 823 - -

CANTERbURY EARTHqUAkES IMpACT
Included in the net profit for the year were expenses related to increased operating costs and repair expenses resulting from the 
Canterbury earthquakes during the year. The expenses recognised are as follows:
- Impairment of buildings – accelerated depreciation 1,420 - - -
- Increased expenses associated with maintaining 
distribution and manufacturing operations 2,712 - - -

Total Canterbury earthquake expenses 4,132 - - -

These expenses are subject to insurance claims with our underwriters and are expected to be recovered under our insurance policies. 
Therefore the expenses have also been recorded as sundry income (refer note 3), and a receivable, in the 2011 year.
A summary of the impact from the Canterbury earthquakes on the group’s results as at 30 June 2011 is reported at note 27.
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7. CASH AND CASH EqUIvALENTS       

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks and investments in money 
market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

In New Zealand, some companies operate bank accounts in overdraft. Under the Group bank facility overdrafts have a legal right  
of set off against bank accounts in funds. Therefore, only the net in funds position has been disclosed. Cash and cash equivalents  
at the end of the year as shown in the cash flow statement can be reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as follows.

All cash is available and under control of the Group, and there are no restrictions relating to the use of the cash balances disclosed.

          GRoUP          PAREnt
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Cash and bank balances 12,766 9,567 1,579 630

Total cash and bank balances 12,766 9,567 1,579 630

8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIvAbLES

          GRoUP          PAREnt
2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000
trade receivables 34,799 36,941 - -
Less allowance for doubtful debts 624 816 - -

34,175 36,125 - -

GSt/VAt receivable 427 479 - -
other 6,056 2,708 110 131

Total trade and other receivables 40,658 39,312 110 131

The average credit period for sales of goods is 61 days (2010: 62 days). No interest is charged on the trade receivables.
An allowance for doubtful debts has been determined for specific balances based on management’s assessment of the recoverability 
of trade and other receivables.
Before accepting a new customer, the Group verifies the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. 
Limits and the credit performance of the customers are reviewed monthly. Of the trade receivables balance at the end of the year, 
$3.81 million (2010:$3.4 million) representing 10.9% (2010: 9.2%) of the trade receivables are due from the Group’s three largest 
customers. The balances due from these customers are current and are considered to be a low credit risk to the Group.
Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $7.4 million (2010:$7.9 million) which are 
past due but not impaired at the reporting date for which the Group has not provided since there has not been a significant change  
in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. Apart from retention of title, and in some cases, registration of NZ 
overdue debts on the Personal Property Securities Register, the Group does not hold any other collateral over these balances. 

Ageing of past due but not impaired trade receivables:

         GRoUP         PAREnt
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

01-30 days 5,398 5,566 - -
31-60 days 1,252 1,666 - -
61 days plus 767 723 - -

Total past due trade receivables 7,417 7,955 - -

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts:
Balance at the beginning of year 816 769 - -
Impaired losses recognised 221 218 - -
Amounts written off as uncollectable - (76) - -
Impairment losses reversed (399) (59) - -
net foreign currency exchange differences (14) (36) - -

balance at the end of year 624 816 - -

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable 
from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base 
being large and unrelated. Accordingly, the directors believe that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance 
for doubtful debts.
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8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIvAbLES (continued)

The impairment recognized represents the difference between the carrying amount of these trade receivables and the present value 
of the expected liquidation proceeds. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. The net carrying amount is 
considered to approximate their fair value.

9. INvENTORIES

          GRoUP PAREnt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

Raw materials at cost 6,706 6,354 - -

Work in progress at cost 3,413 3,066 - -

Finished goods at cost 18,318 18,739 - -

Total inventories 28,437 28,159 - -

The cost of inventories is net of $1.9 million (2010: $2.4 million) in respect of write downs across all categories of inventory  
to net realisable value. All inventory write down movements are included in the cost of sales.

Certain inventories are subject to retention of title clauses where the inventory has not been paid for.

10. pROpERTY, pLANT AND EqUIpMENT

FREEHoLD LAnD 
(At CoSt)

FREEHoLD 
BUILDInGS 

(At CoSt)

PLAnt AnD 
EQUIPMEnt  

(At CoSt)

FURnItURE, 
FIttInGS AnD 

otHER  
(At CoSt)

totAL

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

GROUp

Cost

balance 1 July 2009 183 1,732 54,313 3,884 60,112

Additions - - 4,374 587 4,961

Disposals (7) (48) (3,273) (854) (4,182)

net foreign currency exchange differences (1) (2) (2,980) (264) (3,247)

balance 30 June 2010 175 1,682 52,434 3,353 57,644

Additions - - 6,881 555 7,436

Disposals - - (574) (196) (770)

net foreign currency exchange differences - - (629) (27) (656)

balance 30 June 2011 175 1,682 58,112 3,685 63,654
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10. pROpERTY, pLANT AND EqUIpMENT (continued)

notE FREEHoLD  
LAnD

FREEHoLD 
BUILDInGS

PLAnt AnD 
EQUIPMEnt

FURnItURE, 
FIttInGS AnD 

otHER

totAL

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
GROUp
Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment
balance 1 July 2009 - 254 14,267 2,472 16,993

Depreciation expense 6 - 45 5,536 473 6,054
Impairment expense - - - - -
Disposals - (58) (2,477) (366) (2,901)
net foreign currency exchange 
differences - (2) (940) (212) (1,154)
balance 30 June 2010 - 239 16,386 2,367 18,992

Depreciation expense 6 - 23 5,980 408 6,411
Impairment expense 6 - 1,420 - - 1,420
Disposals - - (467) (137) (604)
net foreign currency exchange 
differences - - (382) 66 (316)
balance 30 June 2011 - 1,682 21,517 2,704 25,903

Carrying value      
As at 30 June 2010 175 1,443 36,048 986 38,652

As at 30 June 2011 175 - 36,595 981 37,751

Capital expenditure commitments are $4,201,000 (2010: $313,000). The increased capital expenditure commitment relates mainly 
to the additional agricultural plant and machinery being installed and commissioned at the Woolston, Christchurch factory, as well  
as other plant and equipment at other subsidiaries.

As a result of the Canterbury earthquakes in September 2010 and February 2011, some freehold buildings at the Woolston, 
Christchurch, site have been damaged.

An impairment of $1,420,000 has been recognised in the June 2011 result to account for the damage to freehold buildings.  
The impairment has been recorded through the corporate segment.

notE FURnItURE, FIttInGS 
AnD otHER 

$000
pARENT
Cost
balance 1 July 2009 18
Additions -
Disposals (11)
balance 30 June 2010 7
Additions 5
Disposals -

balance 30 June 2011 12
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
balance 1 July 2009 17
Depreciation expense 6 1
Disposals (11)
balance 30 June 2010 7
Depreciation expense 6 1
Disposals -

balance 30 June 2011 8
Carrying value
As at 30 June 2010 -

As at 30 June 2011 4
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11. GOODWILL AND INTANGIbLE ASSETS

notE GRoUP PAREnt

GooDWILL SoFtWARE otHER  
IntAnGIBLE 

ASSEtS

totAL

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
GROUp
Cost
balance 1 July 2009 49,336 7,408 - 56,744 -

Acquired - 163 - 163 -
net foreign currency exchange differences (3,305) (44) - (3,349) -
balance 30 June 2010 46,031 7,527 - 53,558 -

Additions - 150 120 270 -
Disposals - (94) - (94) -
net foreign currency exchange differences (488) (9) - (497) -

balance 30 June 2011 45,543 7,574 120 53,237 -

GROUp
Accumulated amortisation
balance 1 July 2009 - 1,798 - 1,798 -

Amortisation expense 6 - 852 - 852 -
balance 30 June 2010 - 2,650 - 2,650 -

Disposals - (94) - (94) -
Amortisation expense 6 - 880 - 880 -
balance 30 June 2011 - 3,436 - 3,436 -

Carrying value -
As at 30 June 2010 46,031 4,877 - 50,908 -

As at 30 June 2011 45,543 4,138 120 49,801 -

Impairment tests for goodwill

(i) Description of cash generating units
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to the business units acquired. Subsequent business 
reorganisations within the Group have resulted in the original cash generating unit being combined with other Group businesses.

In such circumstances the original goodwill has been allocated across the combined cash generating unit to fairly determine  
the recoverable amount against the value in use.

The goodwill allocated to each cash generating unit is as follows:

2011 2010
$000 $000

CASH GENERATING UNIT

- Gulf Rubber / tumedei / Skellerup Rubber Services 32,047 31,991
- Ambic Equipment 6,747 7,515
- Deks Industries 4,568 4,344
- thorndon Rubber 1,750 1,750
- Stevens Filterite 431 431

Total goodwill 45,543 46,031

The net present value of future estimated cashflows exceed the recoverable amount of goodwill allocated to each cash generating 
unit based on a value in use calculation. A discount rate of 12.15% (2010, 13.0%) has been applied to discount future cashflows  
to their present value.
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11. GOODWILL AND INTANGIbLE ASSETS (continued)

The Gulf Rubber/Tumedei/Skellerup Rubber Services Goodwill makes up 70.4% (2010: 69.5%) of the total Group Goodwill. Although 
this cash generating unit carries a significant portion of the total Group Goodwill, it does reflect the value attached to these operations 
and the opportunities available for this cash generating unit to produce consistent growth in operating cash flows. Currently, the Net 
Present Value of future cash flows being the value in use, exceeds the carrying value by 62.9% (2010: 73.7%) for this cash generating unit.

The remaining cash generating units which hold 29.6% (2010: 30.5%) of the Goodwill, collectively report their net present value of 
future cash flows above their carrying value by 88.6% (2010: 92.6%).

(ii) Assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount

The future cashflows generated have been determined from the strategic quantifications and detailed budgets undertaken by 
management as part of the annual business planning that is reviewed and accepted by the Board of Directors. Such forecasts analyse 
and quantify a range of growth objectives which form the basis for determining the business growth and direction over the next five years.

For periods from 2012 onwards we have anticipated that normal trading conditions will prevail, given that all businesses have traded 
strongly through 2011 as markets recover from the global recession.

The cash flow in perpetuity is represented by the realisation value of the net assets at book value in the fifth year. A check for 
reasonableness has been made by determining the price earnings ratio on EBITDA to ensure this is within an acceptable range. 

A number of attributes contribute to the overall growth of these businesses over the future five year period under review. The revenue 
growth percentages range from approximately -2.7% to +12.8% per annum over the five years across the various business units.

Key assumptions used in the value in use calculations are as follows:

Revenue assumptions

Revenues have been forecasted to show moderate increases over the following five-year period in line with our strategic business plans  
to develop and introduce new products, in addition to continuing to support and grow our existing global customer relationships.

Discount rate assumptions

The discount rate is intended to reflect the time value of money and the risks specific to each cash generating unit achieving their 
forecasted cash flows. In determining the appropriate discount rate regard has been given to the weighted average cost of capital  
of the Group, which has been updated as at 30 June 2011, to reflect the current market interest rates and the additional cost of 
capital applicable in the current risk adverse environment.

Commodity cost pricing assumptions

With the base raw material component being synthetic and natural rubbers sourced from Asia, the pricing of these raw materials  
can fluctuate with many of the synthetics being a by-product of the petrochemical industry, and natural rubbers being influenced  
by global supply and demand influences. Pricing assumptions have been made in our forecasts that any cost increases driven by 
commodity price changes will be passed through to the market.

Market share assumptions

In preparing our forecasts, our business plans show no loss of market share. Our strategy is to expand into global markets particularly 
in Europe and United States of America. Through the Gulf Rubber/Tumedei/Skellerup Rubber Services cash generating unit, we have  
in our business plans opportunities to expand into these new markets and increase our market share.

Growth rate assumptions

The growth rates have been based on business plan assumptions applied in preparation of the annual budgets for the new financial 
year and the following four years. This is based on key strategies that have been quantified at a product and customer level, reviewed 
by senior management, and signed off by the Board of Directors.

(iii) Sensitivity to assumption changes

Estimates made of future cash flows are based on current market conditions. With trading across a number of different products 
covering a wide industry base, and through a number of international markets, the risk of significant change to cash flow projections  
is mitigated. Any change in future cash flow projections, which is influenced by price changes, foreign currency movements and 
competitor activities, will only have minimal impact, and is unlikely to cause an impairment risk of the Goodwill allocated to the 
various cash generating units, particularly with the net present value of each cash generating unit reported being significantly  
above the carrying value of the net assets.
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The average credit period on purchases of all goods and services represents an average of 41 days’ credit (2010: 40 days’ credit). The Group 
has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are met within acceptable terms and conditions of purchase.

Accident Compensation Corporation partnership programme:

The liability for the Accident Compensation Corporation Partnership Programme is measured at the present value of anticipated 
future payments to be made in respect of the employee injuries and claims in New Zealand up to the reporting date using actuarial 
techniques. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, and experience of employee claims and injuries.

Expected future payments are discounted using year end market yields on government bonds with terms to maturity that match,  
as closely to possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The Group manages its exposure arising from the programme by promoting a safe and healthy working environment by:

 > implementing and monitoring health and safety policies;

 > induction training on health and safety;

 > actively managing work place injuries to ensure employees return to work as soon as practical;

 > recording and monitoring work place injuries and near misses to identify risk areas and implementing mitigating actions; and

 > identification of work place hazards and implementation of appropriate safety procedures.

A stop loss limit of 250% of the industry standard levy premium has been agreed with the Accident Compensation Corporation to limit 
the annual exposure of all claims in New Zealand. In addition, a high claim cost cover has been introduced to limit any single claim,  
in any year, to $250,000 in New Zealand.

The Group is not exposed to any significant concentrations of insurance risk as work related injuries are generally the result of an 
isolated event to an individual employee.

An external independent actuarial valuer, Mark Weaver [B.A. (Econometrics) FIAA, FINZA)] of Melville, Jessup and Weaver, has 
calculated the Group’s liability, and this valuation is effective 30 June 2011. There are no qualifications contained in the actuarial valuer’s 
report. The value of the liability at 30 June 2011, which has been recognised on the Balance Sheet, is $124,000 (2010: $131,000).

There have been no changes to the assumptions applied, from the 2010 year, for determining this valuation.

The value of this liability has been classified as a current liability on the Balance Sheet.

12. INvESTMENTS AND ADvANCES

notE             GRoUP           PAREnt
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Debenture note (secured) 1,000 3,000 - -
Investment in subsidiaries 22 - - 46,633 46,633
Advance to subsidiaries 22 - - 27,890 30,096

Total investments and advances 1,000 3,000 74,523 76,729

The debenture note relates to vendor finance provided to Tiri Group Limited on divestment of the non core business in April 2008.  
The note is interest bearing with a fixed rate and a remaining term of one year. The debenture is due to mature on 29 June 2012.  
The interest rate applicable at balance date was 12.3% (2010: 12.3%) per annum.

13. TRADE AND OTHER pAYAbLES

                        GRoUP PAREnt
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

trade payables 12,087 11,098 - -
Employee entitlements 2,582 2,617 - -
Accident Compensation Corporation partnership 
accrual 261 269 - -
Sundry payables & accruals 8,271 7,863 137 427
Goods and services tax 717 787 530 531

Total trade and other payables 23,918 22,634 667 958

52

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)



(i)  The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave, sick leave and long service leave entitlements accrued and 
compensation claims made by employees. Long service leave is based on the various subsidiaries’ company policies.

(ii)  The provision for warranty claims represents the present value of the directors’ best estimate of the future outflow of economic 
benefits that will be required under the Group’s various product warranty programmes. The estimate has been made on the basis 
of historical warranty trends and may vary as a result of new materials, altered manufacturing processes or other events affecting 
product quality.

(iii) The provision for restructuring costs represents the present value of the directors’ best estimate of the direct costs of the 
restructuring the business which are not associated with the ongoing activities of the Group. The restructuring relates mainly  
to employment benefits and plant impairment.

14. pROvISIONS

                                   GRoUP        PAREnt
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

provisions
Employee entitlements 6,596 5,791 28 10
Warranties 2,416 1,622 - -

Total provisions 9,012 7,413 28 10

Current 8,047 6,273 28 10
non-current 965 1,140 - -

Total provisions 9,012 7,413 28 10

  
WARRAntIES REStRUCtURInG 

CoStS
$000 $000

GROUp
balance 1 July 2009 1,643 477
Additional provisions recognised 407 37
Reductions arising from payments / 
sacrifices of economic benefits (429) (511)
Reductions arising from remeasurement 
or settlement without cost 6 -
net foreign currency exchange 
differences (5) (3)
balance 30 June 2010 1,622 -
Additional provisions recognised 1,089 -
Reductions arising from payments / 
sacrifices of economic benefits (299) -
Reductions arising from remeasurement 
or settlement without cost (1) -
net foreign currency exchange 
differences 5 -

balance 30 June 2011 2,416 -
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notE       GRoUP PAREnt
EFFECtIVE 

IntERESt RAtE
CARRYInG 
AMoUnt

CARRYInG 
AMoUnt

bALANCE 30 JUNE 2011  
CURRENT LIAbILITIES  
SECURED

obligations under finance leases and hire  
purchase contracts 23 8.22% 94 -

Total current liabilities 94 -

NON-CURRENT LIAbILITIES  
SECURED
 - at amortised cost
BAnK LoAnS
     AUD term Loans            AUD 15,520 6.86% 20,101 -
     EUR term Loan            EUR                800 2.88% 1,402 -

21,503 -

obligations under finance leases and hire  
purchase contracts 23 8.22% 249 -

Total non-current liabilities 21,752 -

bALANCE 30 JUNE 2010
CURRENT LIAbILITIES
SECURED
obligations under finance leases 23 5.16% 115 -

Total current liabilities 115 -

NON-CURRENT LIAbILITIES  
SECURED
 - at amortised cost
BAnK LoAnS
     AUD term Loans           AUD  17,220 5.90% 21,144 -
     EUR term Loan                 EUR        8,400 1.70% 14,973 -

36,117
obligations under finance leases 23 5.16% 263 -

Total non-current liabilities 36,380  -

The carrying amounts disclosed above approximate fair value.

The bank loans are under a multi-currency facility agreement with ANZ National Bank Limited which has a review date maturing  
in September 2012. 

Derivative financial instruments are used by the Group in the normal course of business in order to hedge exposure to fluctuations  
in interest and foreign exchange rates. Details of these derivatives are included in Note 20.

Apart from the assets held by Skellerup Rubber Products Jiangsu Limited and some of the assets held by Tumedei SpA, the carrying  
amount of all tangible assets totaling $121.0m are pledged as security to the bank to secure the above term loans.

15. INTEREST bEARING LOANS AND bORROWINGS
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All shares are fully paid, carry one vote per share, carry equal rights to dividends and have no par value. Further details relating to  
the dividend paid and the dividend reinvestment plan, which resulted in additional ordinary shares being issued, is disclosed under 
Retained Earnings in Note 18.

Capital Management

When managing capital, the directors’ objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern, as well as maintaining optimal 
returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 

The directors aim to provide a capital structure which:

> Provides an efficient and cost effective source of funds;

> Is balanced with external debt to provide a secure structure to support the short and long term funding of the group;

> The ratio of funds sourced from shareholders and external debt is maintained proportionately at a level which does not create  
a credit and liquidity risk to the Group.

With the parent being listed on the NZ Exchange, there are continuous disclosure obligations to inform shareholders and the market 
of any matters which affect the capital of the parent company. This includes changes to the capital structure, new share issues, 
dividend payments, and any other significant matter which affects the credit worthiness or liquidity of the Group.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

16. CONTRIbUTED EqUITY

GRoUP AnD PAREnt
nUMBER oF 

SHARES
VALUE

$000

balance 1 July 2009 134,597,224 46,025

ordinary shares issued from the renounceable rights issue on 8 october 2009 53,838,890 21,536
ordinary shares issued under the dividend reinvestment plan relating to dividends  
paid on 31 March 2010 2,711,814 1,438
transaction costs - (801)

balance 30 June 2010 191,147,928 68,198
ordinary shares issued in lieu of dividends under the dividend reinvestment scheme on  
21 october 2010 1,657,879 1,534

balance at 30 June 2011 192,805,807 69,732

55SKELLERUP AnnUAL REPoRt 2011

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)



17. RESERvES 
 

notE                   GRoUP   PAREnt
2011 2010 2011 2010

 $000 $000 $000 $000
Reserve balances
Cash flow hedge reserve 125 (307) - -
Foreign currency translation reserve (9,109) (5,007) - -

Total reserves (8,984) (5,314) - -

          GRoUP PAREnt
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

CASH FLOW HEDGE RESERvE
Balance at beginning of year (307) (2,740) - (122)

Gain/(loss) recognised on cash flow hedges:
-  Forward foreign exchange contracts 215 1,288 - -
-  Interest rate swaps 424 2,173 - 175
-   Income tax related to gains /(losses) recognised 

in other comprehensive income 5 (186) (1,028) - (53)
Prior year adjustment for tax 5 (10) - - -
Effect of movement in foreign currencies (11) - - -
Movement for the year 432 2,433 - 122

balance at end of year 125 (307) - -

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERvE
Balance at beginning of year (5,007) (1,666) - -

Gain/(loss) recognition:
- translation of net investments (2,483) (2,454) - -
- translation of foreign operations (1,162) (1,181) - -
-  Income tax related to gains/(losses) recognised in 

other comprehensive income 5 346 294 - -
Prior year adjustment for tax 5 (803) - - -
Movement for the year (4,102) (3,341) - -

balance at end of year (9,109) (5,007) - -

The cash flow hedge reserve is intended to recognise the fair value movements of the effective derivatives held to hedge interest rate 
and foreign currency risk.

Exchange differences relating to the translation from the functional currencies of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries into New Zealand 
dollars are brought to account by entries made directly to the foreign currency translation reserve. Gains and losses on hedging 
instruments that are designated as hedges of net investments in foreign operations, are also included in the foreign currency 
translation reserve.
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18. RETAINED EARNINGS

        GRoUP    PAREnt

 2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at beginning of year 38,006 29,811 8,364 7,665
net profit for the year 20,200 11,958 5,740 4,468
Payment of dividends (8,629) (3,763) (8,635) (3,769)

balance at end of year 49,577 38,006 5,469 8,364

During the reported period a dividend of 2.5 cents per share was paid on 21 October 2010 and 2.0 cents per share on 31 March 2011. 
All dividends paid were fully imputed with imputation tax credits totaling $3,680,296.

The Group dividend for 2011 is less than the Parent due to dividends retained by the Group on shares held by the Employee Share 
Trustee Company.

The Group provided a dividend reinvestment plan for the dividend paid on 21 October 2010 current reporting period. The value  
of the shares issued are noted in the table below.

2011 2010

CEntS PER 
SHARE

totAL 
DIVIDEnD  

 
$000

IMPUtAtIon 
CREDItS 

 
$000

SHARES ISSUED 
DIVIDEnD 

REInVEStMEnt 
PLAn

% oF totAL 
SHARES

DIVIDEnDS 
REInVEStED  

 
$000

CEntS 
PER 

SHARE

totAL 
DIVIDEnD 

 
$000

DIvIDENDS
Fully paid ordinary 
shares
- Final – prior year 2.5 4,779 2,036 1,657,879 0.9% 1,534 - -
- Interim – current  
   year

2.0 3,856 1,644 - - - 2.00 3,769

4.5 8,635 3,680 1,657,879 1,534 2.00 3,769

19. EARNINGS pER SHARE   

           GRoUP
2011  

CEntS  
PER SHARE

2010  
CEntS  

PER SHARE

bASIC AND DILUTED

Total earnings per share 10.504 6.807
the net tangible asset per share 30.96 28.75

the earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of earnings per share are as follows: 
GRoUP

2011 2010
$000 $000

net profit for the year 20,200 11,958

Earnings used in the calculation of earnings per share 20,200 11,958

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of earnings per share 192,297,088 175,654,345
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20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Detail of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement 
and the basis in which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity 
instrument, are disclosed in the Statement of Accounting Policies.

Categories of financial instruments           
CASH &  

BAnK  
BALAnCES

tRADE & otHER 
RECEIVABLES

DERIVAtIVES DEBEntURE 
notE

totAL 
FInAnCIAL 

ASSEtS
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

GROUp
2011
Fair value through profit and loss 12,766 - - - 12,766
Hedge instruments - - 525 - 525
Loans and receivables - 40,658 - - 40,658
Held to maturity - - - 1,000 1,000
Total financial assets 12,766 40,658 525 1,000 54,949
2010
Fair value through profit and loss 9,567 - - - 9,567
Hedge instruments - - 315 - 315
Loans and receivables - 39,312 - - 39,312
Held to maturity - - - 3,000 3,000

Total financial assets 9,567 39,312 315 3,000 52,194
pARENT
2011
Fair value through profit and loss 1,579 - - - 1,579
Loans and receivables - 110 - - 110
Total financial assets 1,579 110 - - 1,689
2010
Fair value through profit and loss 630 - - - 630
Loans and receivables - 131 - - 131

Total financial assets 630 131 - - 761

tRADE & otHER 
PAYABLES

DERIVAtIVES BoRRoWInGS totAL 
FInAnCIAL 
LIABILItIES

$000 $000 $000 $000
GROUp
2011
Fair value through profit and loss - - - -
Hedge instruments - 420 - 420
other financial liabilities 23,918 - 21,846 45,764

Total financial liabilities 23,918 420 21,846 46,184
2010
Fair value through profit and loss - 522 - 522
Hedge instruments - 849 - 849
other financial liabilities 22,634 - 36,495 59,129

Total financial liabilities 22,634 1,371 36,495 60,500
pARENT
2011
Fair value through profit and loss - - - -
other financial liabilities 667 - - 667
Total financial liabilities 667 - - 667
2010
Fair value through profit and loss - - - -
other financial liabilities 958 - - 958

Total financial liabilities 958 - - 958

Where the financial assets and financial liabilities are shown at amortised cost, their cost would approximate fair value.
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20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Instruments used by the Group
Derivative financial instruments are used by the Group in the normal course of business in order to hedge exposure to fluctuations  
in interest and foreign exchange rates.

Details of the derivatives held and their fair value at balance date was as follows:

Derivative financial instruments           
      GRoUP            PAREnt

2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

CURRENT ASSETS
- Forward currency contract – cash flow hedge 430 275 - -
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
- Forward currency contract – cash flow hedge 95 40 - -

Total assets 525 315 - -
CURRENT LIAbILITIES
- Forward currency contracts – cash flow hedge 9 10 - -
- Forward currency contract – held for trading - 105 - -
- Interest rate swaps – cash flow hedge 282 480 - -
- Interest rate swaps – held for trading - 417 - -
total current liabilities 291 1,012 - -
NON-CURRENT LIAbILITIES
- Forward currency contracts – cash flow hedge 1 - - -
- Interest rate swaps – cash flow hedge 128 359 - -
total non current liabilities 129 359 - -

Total liabilities 420 1,371 - -

(i) Forward exchange contracts 
The Group imports a large proportion of its raw materials and finished goods, and has exports sales to a number of customers. As a result, 
the Group has both inward and outward foreign currency cash flows. Both the inward cash flows and the outward cash flows are tested and 
hedged against highly probable forecasted sales and purchases. The main currency exposures are in US dollars, Euros and Australian dollars.

At balance date, details of outstanding foreign currency contracts are as follows:

notIonAL AMoUnt AVERAGE EXCHAnGE RAtES
2011 2010 2011 2010

nZ$000 nZ$000

bUY NZD / SELL EUR 4,582 3,526 0.5181 0.5105
Maturing 1-15 months (2010: 1-3 months)
bUY NZD / SELL Gbp 1,331 - 0.4508 -
Maturing 1-15 months (2010: n/A)
bUY EUR / SELL AUD 1,018 1,198 0.7153 0.6662
Maturing 1-12 months (2010: 1-12 months)
bUY AUD / SELL USD - 4,005 - 0.8262
Maturing n/A (2010: 1-14 months)
bUY Gbp / SELL EUR - 873 - 1.1715
Maturing n/A (2010: 1-15 months)
bUY EUR / SELL USD 121 - 1.4409 -
Maturing 1-3 months (2010: n/A)
bUY AUD / SELL Gbp 291 - 0.6406 -
Maturing 1-6 months (2010: n/A)

The forward currency contracts are considered to be highly effective hedges as they are matched against forecasted inventory purchases 
and export sales, and any gain or loss on the contracts attributable to the hedge risk is taken directly to other comprehensive income. 
Amounts are transferred out of other comprehensive income and included in the measurement of the hedged transaction (sales or 
purchases) when the forecast transaction occurs.

The following forward exchange contracts held were not designated as a cash flow hedge.

bUY USD / SELL NZD - 5,910 - 0.6768

Maturing n/A (2010: 1-8 months)

Movements in the cash flow hedge reserve are recorded in the statement of comprehensive income.
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20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)         

(ii) Interest rate swaps - cashflow hedges          
Interest bearing loans of the Group bear an average variable interest rate of 5.35% (2010: 5.23%). In order to protect against interest 
rate volatility, the Group entered into interest rate swap contracts under which it has the right to receive interest at variable rates and 
pay interest at fixed rates. Swaps in place cover approximately 63.2% (2010: 52%) of the principal outstanding. The fixed interest rates 
range between 7.26% and 7.39% (2010: 4.25% and 7.39%).

At 30 June 2011, the notional principal amounts and period of expiry of the interest rate swaps are as follows:

GRoUP PAREnt
MAtURItY 2011 2010 2011 2010

DAtE $000 $000 $000 $000
AUD AUD AUD AUD

AUD Swap 7.26% 4-Jul-13 4,000 4,000 - -
AUD Swap 7.39% 30-Jan-12 6,500 6,500 - -
AUD Swap 7.33% 27-Jun-11 - 5,000 - -

Gbp GBP Gbp GBP
GBP Swap 5.85% 4-oct-10 - 3,900 - -

USD USD USD USD
USD Swap 4.25% 28-Feb-11 - 5,000 - -
 
The interest rate swaps require settlement of net interest receivable each quarter. Swaps which are matched directly against the appropriate 
loans and interest expense are considered highly effective. These swaps are measured at fair value and all gains attributable to the hedge risk 
are taken directly to other comprehensive income and reclassified to the Income Statement when the interest expense is recognised.

The USD and GBP swaps became ineffective during 2010, resulting in the ineffective amount of $717,704 being charged directly  
to the Income Statement. There were no ineffective interest rate swaps during the 2011 year.

Movement in the Cashflow Hedge Reserve is recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.     
 
(iii) Hedge of net investment in foreign operations

As at June 2011, the following foreign currency loans were held as a designated hedge of the net investment in foreign subsidiaries  
in Australia and Italy. Surplus operating cash flow has resulted in the borrowing held in Euros being partially repaid during the year.

GRoUP PAREnt
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Australian Dollar AUD 15,520 AUD 15,520 - -
Euro EUR 800 EUR 8,400 - -

Credit risk
Credit Risk arises from potential failure of counter parties to meet their obligations at maturity of contracts. Because the counter party 
of the above financial derivatives is the ANZ National Bank Ltd, there is minimal credit risk.

Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
The Group, through its foreign subsidiaries, holds monetary assets and liabilities that are in a currency other than the parent’s base 
currency. These foreign currency values provide a translation risk to the Group. The monetary assets and liabilities consist primarily  
of trade receivables, trade creditors and cash as follows:

2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

CURREnt  
ASSEtS

CURREnt  
LIABILItIES

nEt MonEtARY 
ASSEtS

CURREnt  
ASSEtS

CURREnt  
LIABILItIES

nEt MonEtARY 
ASSEtS

USD 3,399 2,968 431 2,828 1,775 1,053
AUD 14,914 3,133 11,781 11,972 4,443 7,529
CnY 15,441 4,070 11,371 15,304 2,638 12,666
GBP 1,635 212 1,423 1,224 169 1,055
EUR 2,895 980 1,915 2,245 1,143 1,102

NZD NZD NZD NZD NZD NZD
NZD equivalent 34,547 10,531 24,016 28,772 11,013 17,759



21. FINANCIAL RISk MANAGEMENT ObJECTIvES AND pOLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of receivables, payables, bank loans and overdrafts, cash and derivatives. 
Because of these financial instruments, the principal financial risks to the Group are movements in foreign currency and interest rates. 
Credit risk and liquidity risk are also considered to be risk areas and therefore closely managed.

The Group enters into derivative transactions, principally interest rate swaps and forward foreign currency contracts. The purpose  
is to manage the interest rate and currency risks arising from the Group’s operations and its sources of finance.

The Group uses different methods to measure and manage different types of risks to which it is exposed. These include monitoring 
levels of exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange risk by reviewing trading forecasts that impact on these areas.

Credit risk is managed through regular review of aged analysis of receivable ledgers. The credit risk exposures are the receivables 
recorded in Note 8. The management of this credit risk is also stated in Note 8.

Liquidity risk is monitored through the review of future rolling cash flow forecasts.

These cash flow forecasts are updated on a weekly basis with particular emphasis placed on the prospective four week period.  
These forecasts are constantly monitored against limitations of the entire debt facility.

The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing financial risk.

RISk ExpOSURES AND RESpONSES

(i) Interest rate risk           

The Group’s exposure to market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long term debt obligations.

The level of debt is disclosed in Note 15.

At Balance Date the Group had the following mix of financial assets and liabilities exposed to variable interest rates that are not 
designated in cash flow hedges:

              GRoUP         PAREnt
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

FINANCIAL ASSETS
- Cash and cash equivalents 12,766 9,567 1,579 630

FINANCIAL LIAbILITIES
- Bank Loans 7,904 17,085 - -

Net exposure 4,862 (7,518) 1,579 630

Interest rate swap contracts in Note 20 (ii), with a fair value of $410,000, (2010: $1,256,000), are exposed to fair value movements  
if interest rates change. 

The Group’s policy is to constantly monitor its interest rate exposure and to hedge the volatility arising from interest rate changes by 
entering into interest rate swap contracts that cover a minimum of 50% of the variable interest rate debt. At 30 June 2011, the Group 
held interest rate swaps which covered 63.2% of the variable interest rate debt.
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21. FINANCIAL RISk MANAGEMENT ObJECTIvES AND pOLICIES (continued)

The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposure in existence at balance date. With all other variables held 
constant, post tax profit and other comprehensive income would be affected as follows: 
   

nEt PRoFIt AFtER tAX 
HIGHER/(LoWER)

otHER CoMPREHEnSIVE 
InCoME 

HIGHER/(LoWER)
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

GROUp
+1% (100 basis points) (55) (10) 194 359
-0.5% (50 basis points) 28 5 (97) (180)
pARENT
+1% (100 basis points) - - - -
-0.5% (50 basis points) - - - -

Significant assumptions used in the interest rate sensitivity analysis:
(a)  Current sources of funds will be available to the Group in the future on similar terms and pricing that have been experienced since  

the last debt renewal in September 2010.

(b) The relationship with Group bankers will remain strong and confident.

(c)  The level of debt and gearing ratios will remain at a level which will not cause bankers to consider a change in the risk profile of the Group.

(d)  The net exposure at balance date is representative of what the Group has experienced, and is likely to experience  
in the next twelve months.

(e)  The effect on other comprehensive income is the effect on the cashflow hedge reserve for those derivatives which have an effective hedge.

(ii) Foreign currency risk
The Group imports raw materials and finished goods, and exports finished goods to a number of foreign customers. The main foreign 
currencies traded are US dollars, Euro, Australian dollars, and Great British pounds.

The Group seeks to cover 80% to 100% of the net foreign currency cash flow forecast, for the next 12 month period with foreign 
currency contracts. Where the foreign currency cash flows can be reliably forecasted beyond the future 12 month period, such cash flows 
are also covered by foreign currency contracts to 80% of the forecast cash flows.

The Group also has translational currency exposures. Such exposures arise from subsidiary operating entities who transact in currencies 
other than the Group’s functional currency. The Group has hedged the Net Investment in these foreign subsidiaries by converting some 
of the external borrowings into same denominated currencies as the functional currency of the foreign subsidiary. However, with the 
reduction in external borrowings from repayments made from operating cash flows, the ability to hold external borrowings in an 
equivalent currency to the net involvement in the foreign subsidiary has become limited.

Foreign Currency Net Monetary Assets
As at 30 June 2011 the Group has the following net monetary assets in foreign currency values which are in a different currency  
to the subsidiary’s base currency and will revalue either through the income statement or statement of comprehensive income:

 
CASH &  

CASH EQUIVALEntS
RECEIVABLES PAYABLES nEt MonEtARY 

ASSEtS
$000 $000 $000 $000

30 JUNE 2011
USD 1,683 5,487 3,459 3,711
AUD 109 1,671 73 1,707
GBP 283 653 237 699
EUR 154 876 211 819
nZD - 51 44 7

30 JUNE 2010
USD 1,898 6,780 3,655 5,023
AUD 214 1,540 70 1,684
GBP 202 401 226 377
EUR 60 1,216 188 1,088
nZD - 63 43 20
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The sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end financial assets and liabilities do  
not reflect the exposure during the year.

Significant assumptions used in the foreign currency exposure sensitivity analysis:

(a) The range of possible foreign exchange rate movements was determined by a review of the last two years’ historical movements 
and economists’ view of future movements.

(b) The Group’s trend of trading in foreign currency values is not expected to change materially over future periods.

(c) Apart from repayment of foreign currency loans over the reporting period, the Group’s net exposure to foreign currency at balance 
date is representative of past periods and is expected to remain relatively consistent for the future twelve month period.

(d) The price sensitivity of derivatives has been based on a reasonably possible movement of the spot rate applied at balance date.

(e) The effect on other comprehensive income results from foreign currency revaluations through the cash flow hedge reserve and  
the foreign currency translation reserve.

(f) The sensitivity analysis does not include financial instruments that are non monetary items as these are not considered to give rise 
to a currency risk.

(iii) Credit risk
All customers who trade with any Group subsidiary on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures including an 
assessment of their independent credit rating and financial position. Risk limits are set for individual customers according to their risk 
profile and where it is considered appropriate, registrations are made on the Personal Property Security Register for debts outstanding 
in New Zealand to record a secured interest in the products supplied.

Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with appropriate provisions held for doubtful debts.

The counter parties who hold the debenture note and cash are considered a low credit risk. Refer to Note 12.

21. FINANCIAL RISk MANAGEMENT ObJECTIvES AND pOLICIES (continued)

The foreign currency denominated values as shown in the above table converted to New Zealand Dollars as follows:

GRoUP PAREnt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

FINANCIAL ASSETS
- Cash and cash equivalents 2,990 3,576 - -
- trade and other receivables 11,642 14,805 - 27

14,632 18,381 - 27
Financial liabilities
- trade and other payables 5,105 6,235 - -

Net exposure 9,527 12,146 - 27

The above monetary assets and liabilities will revalue through the income statement or the statement of comprehensive income if  
the foreign exchange rate for New Zealand Dollars moves relative to other denominated foreign currencies. The impact of the entries 
through the income statement or the statement of comprehensive income would be as follows: 
 

nEt PRoFIt AFtER tAX
HIGHER / (LoWER)

nEt EQUItY
HIGHER / (LoWER)

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

GROUp
Foreign currency rates
- Increase +10% (598) (781) (598) (781)
- Decrease -5% 346 452 346 452
pARENT
Foreign currency rates
- Increase +10% - (2) - (2)
- Decrease -5% - 1 - 1
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21. FINANCIAL RISk MANAGEMENT ObJECTIvES AND pOLICIES (continued)

 (iv) Liquidity risk           

The Group monitors its future cash inflows and outflows through rolling cashflow forecasts. 

At balance date the liquidity risk is considered to be low with the bank facility not fully drawn, compliance with bank covenants, and 
forecasted cashflows reporting positive operating cash generation for the Group over the next financial year. The following maturity 
analysis shows the profile of future payment commitments of the Group. With the available bank facility and the ability for the business 
to generate future positive operating cash inflows, the obligation to meet the forward commitments is considered to be a low risk.

Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities 

The following table represents both the expected and contractual maturity and cash flows of receipts and payments. There is a further 
analysis of future operating lease commitments under Note 23 which are not included in this analysis.

bALANCE 30 JUNE 2011 0-6 MontHS 7-12 MontHS 1-5 YEARS oVER 5 YEARS totAL
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

GROUp
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 12,766 - - - 12,766
trade and other receivables 39,862 796 - - 40,658
Derivatives 215 215 95 - 525
Debenture note - 1,123 - - 1,123

52,843 2,134 95 - 55,072
FINANCIAL LIAbILITIES
trade and other payables 22,164 1,754 - - 23,918
Interest bearing loans 629 629 22,048 - 23,306

146 145 129 - 420
22,939 2,528 22,177 - 47,644

Net total 29,904 (394) (22,082) - 7,428

the negative cash position in years 1-5 is the result of the term debt expiring in September 2012. We will arrange for a renewal  
of the term debt facility prior to the September 2012 expiry date.

bALANCE 30 JUNE 2010 0-6 MontHS 7-12 MontHS 1-5 YEARS oVER 5 YEARS totAL
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

GROUp
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 9,567 - - - 9,567
trade and other receivables 37,825 1,487 - - 39,312
Derivatives 165 110 40 - 315
Debenture note - - 3,000 - 3,000

47,557 1,597 3,040 - 52,194
FINANCIAL LIAbILITIES
trade and other payables 22,487 147 - - 22,634
Interest bearing loans 57 57 36,381 - 36,495
Derivatives 325 687 359 - 1,371

22,869 891 36,740 - 60,500

Net total 24,688 706 (33,700) - (8,306)
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21. FINANCIAL RISk MANAGEMENT ObJECTIvES AND pOLICIES (continued)

(v) Fair Value

Under the International Financial Reporting Standards there are three methods available for estimating fair value of financial instruments.

The methods are:

Level 1 - the fair value is calculated using quoted prices in active markets.

Level 2 - the fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the assets  
or liabilities, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

Level 3 - the fair value is estimated using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

In determining the fair value of all financial instruments, the Group has applied the Level 2 method of fair value by using estimated 
inputs, other than quoted prices, that are observable for assets and liabilities, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived 
from prices).

Financial instruments that use valuation techniques with only observable market inputs include interest rate swaps and foreign 
exchange contracts.

The financial instruments that have been fair valued by the Group are detailed in Note 20 and have a fair value of $105,000 
(2010, $1,056,000).
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

22. RELATED pARTIES        

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the following significant companies:

a) Subsidiary Companies Country of Incorporation Holding balance Date
2011 2010

Skellerup Industries Limited New Zealand 100% 100% 30 June 
Ultralon Products (NZ) Limited New Zealand 100% 100% 30 June 
Skellerup BRC Limited New Zealand 100% 100% 30 June 
Skellerup Footwear Limited New Zealand 100% 100% 30 June 
Flomax International Limited New Zealand 100% 100% 30 June 
*Conewango Products Corp United States 100% 100% 30 June 
*Masport Inc. United States 100% 100% 30 June 
*Deks Industries Pty Limited Australia 100% 100% 30 June 
*Skellerup Industrial Pty Limited Australia 100% 100% 30 June 
*Skellerup Rubber Products Jiangsu Limited China 100% 100% 30 June 
*Stevens Filterite Limited New Zealand 100% 100% 30 June 
*Thorndon Rubber Co. Limited New Zealand 100% 100% 30 June 
*Rubber Services Limited New Zealand 100% 100% 30 June 
*Jenco Products Pty Limited Australia 100% 100% 30 June 
*Ambic Equipment Limited United Kingdom 100% 100% 30 June 
*Gulf Rubber Australia Pty Limited Australia 100% 100% 30 June 
*Skellerup Rubber Services Limited New Zealand 100% 100% 30 June 
*Tumedei SpA Italy 100% 100% 30 June 

Skellerup Industries Limited is involved in the manufacture and distribution of dairy rubber products, industrial rubber products, 
rural supplies and vacuum pumps in New Zealand and internationally.

Ultralon products (NZ) Limited is involved in the manufacture and distribution of closed cell polyethylene and ethyl vinyl acetate 
foam products in New Zealand and internationally. 

Skellerup bRC Limited is non trading. 

Skellerup Footwear Limited is a property owning company. 

Flomax International Limited was involved in the manufacture and distribution of vacuum pumps and associated equipment  
in New Zealand and internationally. Distribution of vacuum pumps and associated equipment is now managed through Skellerup 
Industries Limited. 

*Held indirectly by the parent company through its direct subsidiaries: 

Conewango products Corp. distributes dairy rubberware in the North American market. 

Masport Inc. distributes vacuum pumps and associated equipment in the North American market. 

Deks Industries pty Limited manufactures, distributes and markets rubber products for the building, plumbing and construction 
markets in New Zealand, Australia, North America and Europe. 

Skellerup Industrial pty Limited is non trading. 

Skellerup Rubber products Jiangsu Limited manufactures rubber footwear and vacuum pumps in China for the New Zealand, 
Australian and North American markets. 

Stevens Filterite Limited manufactures milk filters for distribution in New Zealand and Australia. 

Thorndon Rubber Co. Limited specialises in the recovering of rubber rollers for the printing industry. 

Rubber Services Limited is non trading. 

Jenco products pty Limited is non trading, with the products now distributed to the Australian plumbing industry through  
Deks Industries Pty Limited. 

Ambic Equipment Limited is a marketer and distributor of products for dairy cattle teat hygiene in the United Kingdom, North 
America, Australia and New Zealand markets.

Gulf Rubber Australia pty Limited is involved in the design and manufacture of highly technical rubber and associated polymer 
products for the Australian and North American markets.

Skellerup Rubber Services Limited manufactures and distributes moulded and extruded technical polymer products for the New 
Zealand market.

Tumedei SpA manufactures, markets and distributes highly technical polymer products for European markets.



22. RELATED pARTIES (continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties                 
PAREnt

2011 2010
$000 $000

ADvANCES TO SUbSIDIARIES
-  Balance at beginning of year 30,096 17,102
-  Plus funds advanced to subsidiaries - 12,994
-  Less funds repaid by subsidiaries (2,206) -

Balance at end of year 27,890 30,096
Investment in subsidiaries 46,633 46,633

Investment and advances 74,523 76,729

The parent company provides a treasury service to all subsidiary companies. Funds are advanced and banking facilities arranged  
to ensure each subsidiary has sufficient funds available for trading. There are no maturity dates for these advances and interest is 
charged to foreign subsidiaries. Interest rates charged range from 2%-10% per annum. The advances are unsecured. There has  
been no forgiveness of debt.

The parent company receives management fees and dividends from its subsidiaries. Management fees and dividends received  
were as follows:

      
PAREnt

2011 2010

$000 $000

Management fees  3,726 4,447
Dividends 4,780 4,300

Total management fees and dividends 8,506 8,747
the above are eliminated on consolidation with the Group.

 

(c) Compensation of key management

The remuneration of directors and senior management during the year was as follows: 

                GRoUP PAREnt
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Short term benefits:
-  Directors’ fees 322 278 322 278
-  Senior management 2,524 2,599 778 757
-  termination benefits - 1,100 - 1,100

Contribution to defined benefit schemes 
 -  Senior management 48 33 9 -
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23. LEASE COMMITMENTS          

Group as lessee       

Operating lease commitments       

The Group has entered into commercial leases on properties, motor vehicles, and plant.

The motor vehicle leases, and plant leases, have an average life between 1 and 4 years.

The property leases have a life ranging between 1 and 9 years. Some property leases have rights of renewal.

   
                   GRoUP PAREnt

2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Payments recognised as an expense
- Minimum lease payments 5,646 4,719 35 38

non-cancellable operating lease commitments
- Within one year 4,366 4,715 - 35
- After one year but not more than five years 7,103 9,390 - -
- After more than five years 1,917 2,363 - -

Total minimum lease payments 13,386 16,468 - 35

Finance leases       

The Group has entered into finance leases to purchase motor vehicles. These leases have terms ranging from 1 to 3 years.

 
       GRoUP PAREnt

2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Minimum future lease payments 388 472 - -
Present value of future lease payments 343 378 - -

Reported as:
-  Current liability 94 115 - -
-  term liability 249 263 - -

property, plant and equipment under finance leases 343 378 - -

Group as lessor       

The Group subleases surplus areas of leased properties.

Sublease arrangements range from short terms to 2 year periods.

GRoUP PAREnt
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Rentals receivable recognised as Revenue 150 249 - -

Future rental receivable under lease contract terms is $29,428 (2010: $100,907).
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24. SEGMENT INFORMATION         

The Group’s operating segments are Agri, Industrial and Corporate, being the divisions reported to the executive management  
and Board of Directors to assess performance of the Group and allocate resources.

The principal measure of performance for each segment is EBIT (earnings before interest and tax). As a result, finance costs and 
taxation have not been allocated to each segment.

AGRI SEGMENT
The Agri segment manufactures and distributes dairy rubberware which includes milking liners, tubing, filters and feeding teats, 
together with other related agricultural products and dairy vacuum pumps to global agricultural markets.

INDUSTRIAL SEGMENT
The Industrial segment manufactures and distributes technical polymer products across a number of industrial markets, including 
construction, infrastructure, automotive, mining and general industrial, together with industrial vacuum pump equipment for a variety 
of industrial applications worldwide. 

CORpORATE SEGMENT
The Corporate segment includes the parent company and other central administration expenses that have not been allocated to  
the Agri and Industrial segments. With the Group operating a central treasury function, finance costs and costs relating to fair value 
derivatives have been retained in the corporate segment.

In the prior year unallocated expenditure includes termination benefits paid to the Managing Director, FX losses relating to non 
trading derivatives and deferred tax adjustments due to changes in tax legislation. Due to the nature of this expenditure and being 
non repetitive, they have not been allocated to the operating segments.

bUSINESS SEGMENT ANALYSIS  

FoR tHE YEAR EnDED 30 JUnE 2011 AGRI InDUStRIAL CoRPoRAtE totAL

REvENUE
Sales to customers 68,990 124,453 150 193,593
Total revenue 68,990 124,453 150 193,593
RESULT
Segment EbIT 17,106 20,040 (4,919) 32,227
Less unallocated expenses -
Profit before tax and finance costs 32,227
Less finance expenses 2,667
profit before tax 29,560
Less taxation 9,360
Net profit after tax 20,200
ASSETS AND LIAbILITIES
Segment assets 48,029 101,870 24,032 173,931
Segment liabilities 10,194 20,673 32,739 63,606
Net Assets 37,835 81,197 (8,707) 110,325
OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION
Capital expenditure 4,410 3,195 101 7,706
Earthquakes            - Impairment expense - - 1,420 1,420
                                  - other expenses - - 2,712 2,712

CASH FLOW
Segment EBIt 17,106 20,040 (4,919) 32,227
Adjustments for:
   - Depreciation and amortisation 2,634 4,212 445 7,291
   - Impaired assets - - 1,420 1,420
   - non cash items - - (283) (283)
Movement in working capital 3,860 751 (217) 4,394
Segment cash flow 23,600 25,003 (3,554) 45,049
Finance and tax cash expense (8,569)
Movement in finance & tax accrual (3,458)
Net cash flow from operating activities 33,022
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24. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

bUSINESS SEGMENT ANALYSIS
FoR tHE YEAR EnDED 30 JUnE 2010 AGRI InDUStRIAL CoRPoRAtE totAL
REvENUE
Sales to customers 64,847 115,623 249 180,719
Total revenue 64,847 115,623 249 180,719
RESULT
Segment EbIT 15,284 13,768 (4,129) 24,923
Less unallocated expenses (3,233)
Profit before tax and finance costs 21,690
Less finance expenses 4,785
Profit before tax 16,905
Less taxation 4,947
Net profit after tax 11,958
ASSETS & LIAbILITIES
Segment assets 49,651 102,798 20,329 172,778
Segment liabilities 8,194 20,364 43,330 71,888
Net Assets 41,457 82,434 (23,001) 100,890
OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION
Capital Expenditure 1,090 3,867 4 4,961
Impairment Losses - - - -
CASH FLOW
Segment EBIt 15,284 13,768 (4,129) 24,923
Plus depreciation and amortisation 2,583 3,959 364 6,906
Movement in working capital (219) 215 3,516 3,512
Segment cash flow 17,648 17,942 (249) 35,341
Finance expenses and tax (8,492)
Unallocated operating cash flows (2,897)
Net cash flow from operating activities 23,952

MAJOR CUSTOMERS
The Agri and Industrial segments generate revenue from a diverse number of customers.
For the Agri segment the three largest customers account for 25.6% (2010, 23.6%) of the Agri segment revenue.

For the Industrial segment, the three largest customers account for 11.4% (2010, 11.7%) of the Industrial segment revenue. 

INTER SEGMENT REvENUE
Intra segment transfer prices are set on an arm’s length basis. Such intra segment revenue for the year was $3.903 million (2010, $2.292 million) 
and relates to a range of Vacuum Pumps which the Industrial segment manufactures and transfers to the Agri segment to fulfill the sales demand 
for Agri customers.

Inter segment revenue and expenses within each segment are eliminated prior to disclosing the consolidated result for the individual segment.

SEGMENT REvENUE RECONCILIATION
(a) Inter/Intra Segment Revenue

FoR tHE YEAR EnDED 30 JUnE 2011 AGRI InDUStRIAL CoRPoRAtE ELIM. totAL
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

GROSS REvENUE 83,684 142,659 - (32,900) 193,443
Less inter segment revenue (14,694) (14,303) - 28,997 -
Less intra segment revenue - (3,903) - 3,903 -
other revenue - - 150 - 150
Total revenue 68,990 124,453 150 - 193,593

FoR tHE YEAR EnDED 30 JUnE 2010 AGRI InDUStRIAL CoRPoRAtE ELIM. totAL
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

GROSS REvENUE 79,907 128,066 - (27,503) 180,470
Less inter segment revenue (15,060) (10,151) - 25,211 -
Less intra segment revenue - (2,292) - 2,292 -
other revenue - - 249 - 249
Total revenue 64,847 115,623 249 - 180,719



24. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Geographic Revenue

Revenue from external customers by geographical locations is detailed below. Revenue is attributed to each geographic location based 
on the location of the customers. Differences in foreign currency translation rates can impact comparisons between years, particularly 
with the USD, EUR and GBP, where these currencies were weaker compared to the NZD during the 2010 year.

2011 2010
$000 $000

new Zealand 47,201 41,628
Australia 56,085 58,894
north America 43,145 36,709
Europe 24,666 20,981
U.K. & Ireland 11,833 12,442
Asia 7,457 6,450
other 3,206 3,615

Total revenue 193,593 180,719

(c) Assets by Geographic Location

The non-current segment assets are scheduled by the geographic location where the asset is held.

The non-current assets, which include property plant & equipment, goodwill, intangible assets and investments & advances,  
for each geographic location is as follows:

2011 2010

$000 $000
new Zealand 42,305 45,050
Australia 17,519 17,622
Europe 15,901 16,556
U.K. 7,352 7,961
China 3,997 4,945
north America 478 426

Non-current assets by geographic location 87,552 92,560

25. CASH FLOW RECONCILIATION          
Reconciliation of net profit after tax to net cashflow from operations     

    notE        GRoUP PAREnt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

NET pROFIT AFTER TAx 20,200 11,958 5,740 4,468

Adjustments for:

-  Depreciation 10 6,411 6,054 1 1

-  Amortisation 11 880 852 - -

-  Impaired assets 1,420 - - -

-   Foreign currency movements on translating foreign 
assets and liabilities (409) 494 - -

-  Bad debts written off 37 39 - -

-   Ineffective portion of cash flow hedges charged to 
Income Statement 6 9 823 - -

-  Loss on sale of assets 6 80 220 - -

-  net movement in working capital 4,394 3,512 108 173

Net cash inflow from operating activities 33,022 23,952 5,849 4,642
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26. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIAbILITIES       

(a) Contingent Assets

notE        GRoUP        PAREnt
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

- Canterbury earthquakes insurance recovery 6 - - - -

Because the insurance proceeds relating to the damaged buildings cannot be reliably estimated the contingent asset cannot be quantified.

(b) Contingent Liabilities
               GRoUP PAREnt

2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Bank guarantees 75 75 75 75

Total contingent liabilities 75 75 75 75

The Bank Guarantee is provided to the NZ Exchange. 

27. CANTERbURY EARTHqUAkES

As a result of the Canterbury earthquakes the following income and costs have been recorded in the Group financial statements: 

InCoME 
StAtEMEnt

BALAnCE 
SHEEt

$000 $000
Buildings Buildings

Cost 1,682
Accumulated depreciation 262

Impairment - accelerated depreciation 1,420 Impairment-accelerated 
depreciation 1,420

  book value -

Earthquake Expenses              
Increased costs for repairs and to maintain 
operations 2,712
Total expenses     4,132

other Income 
       Provisional cash settlement from insurers 1,414
       Receivable from insurers   2,718 Receivable 2,718
Total Other Income 4,132

The Skellerup owned buildings on the Woolston, Christchurch site which have been damaged have now been fully depreciated and 
their book value is zero. These buildings have full insurance cover under a replacement insurance policy. These buildings were primarily 
tenanted by external parties.

The agri manufacturing operations on the Woolston site are located in leased buildings. There has been no damage to the machinery 
however the leased buildings have incurred damage and will also be subject to an insurance claim.

Skellerup has also expensed $73,000 in administration expenses being the insurance deductible based upon the above expenses.

Skellerup is currently working with its engineering consultants and insurance specialists to lodge its insurance claim for material 
damage and business interruption with the underwriters. The claims will be recognised when the receivable is virtually certain  
and can be reliably measured.

28. SIGNIFICANT EvENTS AFTER bALANCE DATE

The directors have agreed to pay a final dividend fully imputed, of 4.0 cents per share on 21 October 2011, to shareholders  
on the register at 5pm on 7 October 2011.

There are no other events subsequent to balance date that require additional disclosure.
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DIRECTORS

(a) Directors holding office during the year
Sir Selwyn Cushing  (Non-Executive) 

Elizabeth Coutts  (Independent)

David Mair  (Chief Executive)

John Thompson  (Non-Executive) 

Dr Ian Parton  (Independent) – appointed 16 May 2011

(b) Directors’ Remuneration and Other Benefits
Directors’ remuneration and other benefits required to be disclosed pursuant to section 211(1) of the Companies  
Act 1993 for the year ended 30 June 2011 were as follows:

GRoUP AnD PAREnt
2011 2010
$000 $000

Sir Selwyn Cushing 130 90
Elizabeth Coutts 75 60
John thompson 65 55
Dr Ian Parton 8 -
David Mair 4 55
Graham Fraser - 23
Total directors fees 282 283

David Mair - Salary and contributions to deferred benefits 452 -
Donald Stewart  - Salary - 500
                              - termination benefits and annual leave entitlements - 1,180

An additional payment was made to Mrs Coutts ($40,000) during the year in respect of work carried out on behalf of the company 
during the 2010 financial year, outside the normal duties of a director.

EMpLOYEE REMUNERATION

The number of employees whose remuneration and benefits are within defined bands are as follows:

REMUnERAtIon  
RAnGE

no. oF  
EMPLoYEES

REMUnERAtIon  
RAnGE

no. oF  
EMPLoYEES

REMUnERAtIon  
RAnGE

no. oF   
EMPLoYEES

$100K-$109K 9 $180K-$189K 2 $290K-$299K 2
$110K-$119K 21 $190K-$199K 4 $320K-$329K 1
$120K-$129K 13 $200K-$209K 1 $350K-$359K 1
$130K-$139K 6 $210K-$219K 7 $360K-$369K 1
$140K-$149K 7 $220K-$229K 3 $380K-$389K 1
$150K-$159K 4 $240K-$249K 2 $390K-$399K 2
$160K-$169K 5 $250K-$259K 2 $450K-$459K 1
$170K-$179K 3 $270K-$279K 1 $620K-$619K 1

The above includes salaries, benefits and performance incentive payments. Executives based in foreign subsidiaries have been 
included in the above analysis in New Zealand dollars which have been converted at exchange rates ruling at 30 June 2011.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS  

Directors held the following equity securities in the Company

non  
BEnEFICIAL 

IntERESt

HELD  
BEnEFICIALLY

HELD BY  
ASSoCIAtED 

PERSonS
30 JUnE 2011 30 JUnE 2011 30 JUnE 2011

Sir Selwyn Cushing 1,137,500 12,173,826
Elizabeth Coutts 571,960
David Mair 2,427,506
John thompson 13,697,942
Dr Ian Parton 20,000
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Other Annual Report Disclosures (continued)

During the year the following directors (or associated persons) acquired or disposed of equity securities in the Company  
 

nUMBER 
oF SHARES 
ACQUIRED

CLASS oF 
SHARES

ConSIDERAtIon 
PAID

DAtE oF 
tRAnSACtIon

Elizabeth Coutts 14,418* ordinary 13,341 21/10/2010
*Purchased under Dividend Reinvestment Plan

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION  

Substantial Security Holders 

Pursuant to Section 26 of the Securities Amendment Act 1988, the substantial security holders as at 1 September 2011 were as follows:  
 

AMP Capital Investors Limited 38,912,026 20.182%

Balmain Trust and related entities 13,697,947 7.105%

Sir Selwyn Cushing 12,173,826 6.314%

Accident Compensation Corporation 10,766,754 5.584%

principal Shareholders      

The names and holdings of the twenty largest registered shareholders as at 1 September 2011

1 AMP Investment Strategic Equity Growth Fund 20,027,663 10.387%
2 Accident Compensation Corporation 10,766,754 5.584%
3 H & G Limited 10,616,169 5.506%
4 Investment Custodial Services Limited (A/C 990018567) 9,399,947 4.875%
5 N Z Superannuation Fund Nominees Limited 9,364,830 4.857%
6 NZGT Nominees Limited - AIF Equity Fund 8,708,527 4.517%
7 TEA Custodians Limited 4,678,038 2.426%
8 Investment Custodial Services Limited 4,165,000 2.160%
9 S K Shares Limited 3,877,486 2.011%

10 New Zealand Permanent Trustees Limited 3,265,000 1.693%
11 Superlife Trustee Nominees Limited 3,084,836 1.600%
12 Citibank Nominees (NZ) Limited 2,579,058 1.338%
13 D W Mair & J G Phipps 2,427,506 1.259%
14 Custody and Investment Nominees Limited 2,290,083 1.188%
15 Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited 2,214,588 1.149%
16 Maxima Investments Limited 2,000,000 1.037%
17 Seajay Securities Limited 1,457,642 0.756%
18 Custodial Services Limited 1,323,999 0.687%
19 Asteron Life Life Limited 1,227,226 0.637%
20 New Zealand Depository Nominee Limited 1,224,160 0.635%

104,698,512 54.303%

TOTAL SHARES ON ISSUE 192,805,807

Distribution of Shareholding as at 1 September 2011

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDING totAL SHARES HELD %

1 - 4,999 4,236,486 2.20%
5,000 - 9,999 8,241,983 4.27%
10,000 - 49,999 33,054,604 17.14%
50,000 - 99,999 12,131,793 6.29%
100,000 - 499,999 17,161,934 8.90%
500,000 - 999,999 8,763,581 4.55%
1,000,000 and over 109,215,426 56.65%
TOTAL SHARES ON ISSUE 192,805,807 100.00%

  



Directors

Sir Selwyn Cushing, KNZM, CMG 
CHAIRMAN
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

G.P. Keogh, C.A. 
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Registered Office
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New Zealand
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Managing your shareholding online

To change your address, update your payment  
instructions and to view your investment portfolio 
including transactions, please visit;

www.computershare.co.nz/investorcentre

General enquiries can be directed to; 
enquiry@computershare.co.nz
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Telephone +64 9 488 8777  
Facsimile +64 9 488 8787

Please assist our registrar by quoting  
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SKELLERUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notice of Annual Meeting
MEETING TO bE HELD 
 
WEDNESDay 26 OcTObER 2011 aT 2.30 P.M.



Notice is given that the Annual Meeting 
of Shareholders of Skellerup Holdings 
Limited (the Company or Skellerup) will 
be held in the South Stand at Eden Park, 
Reimers Avenue, Auckland on Wednesday, 
26 October 2011 at 2.30 p.m.

BUSINESS

1. Annual Report

To receive and consider the annual report, including the financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2011 and the report of 
the auditor thereon.

2. Election of Director

In accordance with Clause 25.2 of the Company’s Constitution 
Dr Ian Parton, who was appointed by the Directors to the Board 
of the Company since the last Annual Meeting, retires and being 
eligible offers himself for election to the Board. 

3. Non Executive Director Remuneration

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass an ordinary resolution  
to increase the total Non Executive Director remuneration from 
$320,000 per annum to $475,000 per annum with effect for  
the financial year commencing 1 July 2011 pursuant to NZSX  
Listing Rule 3.5.1. 

4. Chief Executive Long Term Incentive Scheme

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution  
as an ordinary resolution of the Company pursuant to NZSX  
Listing Rule 7.3.1:

“That the shareholders approve the issue and allotment of 
1,947,533 partly paid redeemable ordinary shares in the 
Company to David Mair on the terms and conditions described 
in Explanatory Note to Item 4.”

5. Remuneration of Auditor

To authorise the directors to fix the remuneration of the auditor 
for the ensuing year. 

EXPLANATORY NOTE TO ITEM 2

Dr Parton has had an extensive career in engineering and 
business management. His past experience includes Managing 
Director of consulting engineering firm Worley Group Limited 

(now AECOM) following which he spent a period of three years 
as regional development Director for AECOM. He has a Ph.D.  
in engineering and is a Past President of the institution of 
Professional Engineers of NZ.

Dr Parton is currently the Chairman of Babcock Fitzroy Limited 
(which manages the Devonport Naval dockyard), a director of 
Auckland Transport Limited and of Construction Techniques 
Limited. He is also a Councillor and Pro Chancellor of the 
University of Auckland. His previous directorships include 
Industrial Research Limited and Deputy Chairmanship of 
Watercare Services Limited.

In addition to his extensive engineering background Dr Parton 
brings to the Board of the Company considerable experience in 
strategic planning and global business development as well as 
strong corporate governance.

Dr Parton was appointed as an Independent Director by  
the Board of the Company on 16 May 2011.

EXPLANATORY NOTE TO ITEM 3 – NON EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR REMUNERATION

The resolution is put to shareholders in accordance with NZSX 
Listing Rule 3.5.1, and expresses the Non Executive Directors 
remuneration as a monetary sum payable to all such Directors 
taken together in any financial year. The aggregate Non 
Executive Directors’ remuneration for the year ended  
30 June 2011 was $278,000. In addition, a one off payment  
of $40,000 was paid to Elizabeth Coutts for services provided 
outside the normal duties of a Director. Directors’ Fees are not 
paid to Executive Directors.

The proposed increase in remuneration reflects the following:

(a)  Non Executive Directors’ remuneration has not been 
reviewed since September 2006.

(b)  The proposed increase is based on advice received from 
outside consultants and reflects the remuneration being paid 
to Non Executive Directors in other similar sized NZSX listed 
companies plus an allowance for an additional Non Executive 
Director to be appointed to the Board and for possible  
CPI-based increases in the future. 

(c)  Skellerup wishes to offer competitive fees in order to attract 
and retain the highest quality directors.

For these reasons, the Board considers that the proposed 
increase in Non Executive Director remuneration is justified  
and appropriate.

Notice of Annual Meeting
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Under NZSX Listing Rule 9.3.1, the Non Executive Directors 
(being all of the Directors other than David Mair) and their 
Associated Persons (as that term is defined in the NZSX Listing 
Rules) are precluded from voting in respect of this resolution.  
This does not however prevent a Non Executive Director who has 
been appointed as a proxy or voting representative by another 
person who is not disqualified from voting, or an Associated 
Person of such a Non Executive Director, from voting in respect of 
the shares held by that other person in accordance with the 
express instructions of that other person. 

EXPLANATORY NOTE TO ITEM 4 – CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE LONG TERM INCENTIVE SCHEME

Introduction

The Skellerup board have established a Chief Executive Incentive 
Scheme (Scheme). The purpose of the Scheme is to further the 
success of Skellerup by retaining David Mair (Mair) as the 
company’s Chief Executive Officer, to align the interests of Mair 
with those of Skellerup’s shareholders, and to provide to Mair 
incentives and rewards reflecting the performance and success 
of Skellerup.

Under the NZSX Listing Rules, any issue of shares to a director 
must be approved by shareholders in circumstances where the 
director is not participating in the offer on the same terms as 
other offerees or their participation is not determined by criteria 
applying to employees generally. Accordingly, the board is 
seeking shareholder approval to the issue of shares to Mair under 
the Scheme.

Scheme outline

The key elements of the Scheme are as follows.

Skellerup Holdings Employee Share Trustee Company Limited 
(Trustee), a wholly owned subsidiary of Skellerup, will act as a 
corporate Trustee under the Scheme.

1,947,533 partly paid redeemable ordinary shares will be issued 
to the Trustee to hold on behalf of Mair. The partly paid 
redeemable shares are reclassified and converted into ordinary 
shares once fully paid. Such shares will be issued to the Trustee 
as soon as practicable following the meeting (provided this 
resolution is approved).

The Trustee shall subscribe, on behalf of and for the benefit of 
Mair, for the number of shares allocated at the issue price - the 
volume weighted average sale price of ordinary shares of 
Skellerup (ignoring ostensibly abnormal transactions) recorded 
on the NZSX market operated by NZX in the period of sixty 

consecutive trading days prior to the date on which the Trustee 
subscribes for the shares. Skellerup has the discretion as to 
whether to ignore ostensibly abnormal transactions for the 
purposes of determining the issue price of the shares.

Mair will partly pay to the Trustee the sum of one cent for  
each share of the issue price.

The partly paid redeemable shares are entitled to participate in 
any distribution of surplus assets of Skellerup on liquidation only 
to the extent of repayment of the amount paid up, which shall 
rank in priority ahead of ordinary shares.

Mair will not be eligible for dividends or other distributions on the 
partly paid redeemable shares until such time as the shares are 
fully paid up and transferred by the Trustee to Mair. Thus, Mair 
will only benefit from the Scheme through capital appreciation 
(as he does not benefit through receipt of normal dividends paid 
out during the period while the shares are unpaid). 

The partly paid redeemable shares carry only a fraction of the 
vote that would be exercised if the share was fully paid up, 
equivalent to the proportion which the amount paid up is of  
the total issue price (excluding any amounts paid in advance). 

From the commencement of, and during the term of, the 
Scheme, Mair and/or his related parties (such as a family trust 
controlled by Mair) must hold a number of ordinary shares in 
Skellerup equal to not less than 25% of the number of shares 
allocated to Mair under the Scheme. 

Mair may request a transfer of the shares from the Trustee to 
himself (at which time Mair needs to fully pay the balance of  
the issue price for the shares) on or at any time after the fourth 
anniversary of the issue date, but may not request a transfer 
which would result in more than half of Mair’s shares being 
transferred before the fifth anniversary of the issue date.

Mair is not obliged to request a transfer on the fourth or fifth 
anniversaries. He can request a transfer of any amount at any 
time after the fourth anniversary as long as he complies with  
the limitations above. The rights of Mair under the scheme 
terminate after seven years. At that point, Mair shall have no 
right to request a transfer of the shares to him and the Trustee 
shall redeem all shares that have not been transferred to him.

In the event that a full takeover offer is made, or any merger, 
scheme or arrangement, or amalgamation is announced, and 
the board recommend a full offer or merger the Trustee may 
accept the offer, or vote for the merger, or may allow Mair to  
fully pay for the shares, and participate in the offer or merger 
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allowing the share to be fully paid and sold into the offer.

As from the date on which a redeemable share is both fully paid, 
and transferred by the Trustee to Mair, that share shall convert into 
an ordinary share and shall rank in all respects equally with the 
ordinary shares, other than in respect of any distribution or other 
benefit the record date for which occurred before that date.

If, during the Scheme period, Skellerup undertakes a rights issue 
Mair is entitled to subscribe for the rights issue securities but any 
securities he wishes to acquire must be held by the Trustee until 
Mair pays up the redeemable shares.

If, during the Scheme period, Skellerup makes any bonus issue of 
securities or reconstructs its securities the resulting securities must 
be held by the Trustee until Mair pays up the redeemable shares. 

Proposed participation in Scheme

It is proposed that an offer be formally made to Mair as soon as 
practicable following the shareholder meeting. The 1,947,533 
shares proposed to be offered would represent 1% of the shares 
Skellerup would have on issue, taking account of the 
192,805,807 ordinary shares currently on issue and the 
redeemable shares.

Requirement for shareholder approval

NZSX Listing Rule 7.3.1 requires shareholder approval of the 
issue of the redeemable partly paid shares to Mair, by ordinary 
resolution. An ordinary resolution is a resolution passed by a 
simple majority of the votes cast of shareholders present at the 
annual meeting in person or represented by proxy entitled to 
vote and voting.

Under NZSX Listing Rule 9.3.1, Mair and his associated persons 
will not be eligible to vote on the resolution. In addition, they  
will not be able to vote as a proxy for another shareholder unless  
he or she is specifically directed whether to vote for or against 
the resolution.

An independent appraisal report on the merits of issuing the 
shares has been obtained from Simmons Corporate Finance 
Limited and accompanies this notice of meeting (as required 
under NZSX Listing Rule 6.2.2(b)). In summary, the report 
concludes that the terms and conditions of the Scheme are fair 
to the Company’s shareholders not associated with Mair. 

Directors’ Recommendation

The directors of Skellerup recommend the shareholders approve 
the resolution so that the shares can be issued and allotted to 
Mair under the Scheme.

PROXIES

Any shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the meeting 
may instead appoint a proxy to attend and vote on their behalf. 
The Chairman of the Company is willing to act as proxy for any 
shareholder who may wish to appoint him for that purpose. The 
Chairman intends to vote any undirected proxies in favour of the 
resolutions, other than in respect of the resolution relating to Non 
Executive Director remuneration (which the Chairman is precluded 
from voting on). However, the Chairman can vote on the resolution 
relating to Non Executive Director remuneration in respect of 
shares held by another person who is not disqualified from voting 
on that resolution in accordance with the express instructions of 
that other person.

If you wish to appoint a proxy please complete the enclosed 
proxy form and mail to:

 Computershare Investor Services Limited

 Private Bag 92119

 Auckland 1142

Alternatively you can complete a proxy form online at  
www.investorvote.co.nz. You will need your CSN/security  
holder number and FIN to vote online.

In either case, for your vote to be effective, it must be received 
not less than 48 hours before the time of holding the meeting.

NOTE

Tea and coffee will be served at the conclusion of the meeting.

For and on behalf of the Board

Jim Greenwood

Company Secretary 

Auckland

23 September 2011
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1. Introduction 

1.1 Background 

Skellerup Holdings Limited (Skellerup or the Company) is listed on the main 
equities security market (NZSX) operated by NZX Limited with a market 
capitalisation of $243 million as at 14 September 2011 and audited total equity of 
$110 million as at 30 June 2011. 

The Skellerup group of companies develops, markets, manufactures and distributes 
technical polymer products and vacuum pumps for a variety of specialist industrial 
and agricultural applications. 

The Company was founded in 1910.  Today, Skellerup is a global company 
headquartered in New Zealand with operations in Asia, Europe, the United States, 
Australia and New Zealand. 

1.2 Chief Executive Incentive Scheme 

Overview 

The Skellerup board of directors (the Board) proposes to introduce a long-term 
equity-based incentive scheme (the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme) for 
Skellerup’s executive director and chief executive officer (CEO), David Mair, with 
the following key attributes: 

• the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme will involve the issue of redeemable 
ordinary shares (the CEO ROS), redeemable into 1% of the Company’s 
ordinary shares currently on issue plus the CEO ROS 

• the issue price of the CEO ROS will be based on the 60 day volume weighted 
average share price (VWAP) of Skellerup’s ordinary shares up to the issue 
date 

• Skellerup Holdings Employee Scheme Trustee Company Limited (the 
Trustee) will subscribe for and hold the CEO ROS as trustee on Mr Mair’s 
behalf 

• the CEO ROS will be issued partly paid to $0.01 per share 

• Mr Mair will be required to pay the unpaid amounts on the CEO ROS in order 
for them to be transferred to him and for the CEO ROS to convert into 
ordinary shares  

• Mr Mair will be able to request a transfer of the CEO ROS between the 4th 
and 7th anniversary of their issue. 
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Terms 

The terms of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme are set out in the draft Chief 
Executive Incentive Scheme Deed between Skellerup, the Trustee and Mr Mair (the 
Scheme Deed).   

The key terms of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme are: 

• the Trustee is a wholly owned subsidiary of Skellerup and will act as a 
corporate trustee  

• 1,947,533 CEO ROS will be issued to the Trustee to hold on behalf of Mr 
Mair.  This will represent 1% of the total of the ordinary shares currently on 
issue plus the CEO ROS 

• the CEO ROS will be reclassified and converted into ordinary shares once 
they are fully paid 

• the Trustee shall subscribe, on behalf of and for the benefit of Mr Mair, for the 
1,947,533 CEO ROS at an issue price that will be calculated based on the 
Skellerup VWAP for 60 consecutive trading days prior to the date on which 
the Trustee subscribes for the CEO ROS.  Skellerup has the discretion as to 
whether to ignore ostensibly abnormal transactions for the purposes of 
determining the issue price of the shares 

• Mr Mair will partly pay to the Trustee the sum of $0.01 for each CEO ROS 

• from the commencement of, and during the term of, the Chief Executive 
Incentive Scheme, Mr Mair and / or his related parties (such as members of 
his immediate family or a company or a family trust controlled by him) must 
hold a number of ordinary shares in Skellerup equal to or not less than 25% 
of the CEO ROS allocated to Mr Mair.  This equates to not less than 486,883 
ordinary shares  

• the CEO ROS carry only a fraction of the vote that would be exercised if the 
share was a fully paid ordinary share.  The fraction is equivalent to the 
proportion which the amount paid up is of the total issue price (excluding any 
amounts paid in advance)  

• the CEO ROS are entitled to participate in any distribution of surplus assets of 
Skellerup on liquidation only to the extent of repayment of the amount paid 
up, which shall rank in priority ahead of the ordinary shares 

• the CEO ROS will not be eligible for dividends or other distributions until such 
time as they are fully paid up and transferred by the Trustee to Mr Mair 

• the CEO ROS may be redeemed at the option of Mr Mair by giving notice to 
the Company.  The amount payable on redemption will be the amount paid up 
on the CEO ROS at the date of redemption   

• Mr Mair may request a transfer of the CEO ROS from the Trustee to himself 
(at which time he must fully pay the balance of the issue price for the CEO 
ROS) on or at any time after the 4th anniversary of the issue date.  However, 
he may not request a transfer which would result in more than half of the CEO 
ROS being transferred before the 5th anniversary of the issue date 
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• Mr Mair is not obliged to request a transfer on the 4th or 5th anniversaries. He 
can request a transfer of any amount at any time after the 4th anniversary as 
long as he complies with the limitations above.  The right to request a transfer 
terminates after 7 years.  At that point, the Trustee shall redeem all CEO ROS 
that have not been transferred to Mr Mair 

• if Mr Mair ceases to be an executive of Skellerup then he shall no longer have 
any rights under the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme and shall no longer be 
entitled to request a transfer of the CEO ROS.  The Company will redeem the 
CEO ROS for the amount paid up on each share.  However, the Board may at 
its discretion elect to permit Mr Mair to remain in the Chief Executive Incentive 
Scheme 

• when a CEO ROS is both fully paid and transferred by the Trustee to Mr Mair, 
the CEO ROS shall convert into an ordinary share and shall rank in all 
respects equally with the Company’s ordinary shares (other than in respect of 
any distribution or other benefit for which the record date occurred before the 
date of the CEO ROS transfer) and shall be of the same class as the 
Company’s ordinary shares 

• if, during the period of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme: 

- Skellerup undertakes a rights issue, Mr Mair will be entitled to subscribe 
for the rights issue securities but any securities he wishes to acquire will 
be held by the Trustee until Mr Mair requests the Trustee to transfer the 
securities to him 

- Skellerup makes any bonus issue of securities or reconstructs its 
securities, the resulting securities will be held by the Trustee until 
Mr Mair requests the Trustee to transfer the securities to him 

• in the event that a full takeover offer is made or any merger, scheme of 
arrangement or amalgamation is announced and the Board recommends a 
full offer or merger, the Trustee may accept the offer or vote for the merger, or 
may allow Mr Mair to fully pay for the CEO ROS and participate in the offer or 
merger allowing the CEO ROS to be fully paid and sold into the offer 

• the issue of the CEO ROS is conditional on shareholder approval. 

It is proposed that the 1,947,533 CEO ROS be issued as soon as practicable 
following the shareholder meeting, provided the resolution approving the issue of 
shares is approved. 

No financial assistance is being provided to Mr Mair in connection with the 
acquisition of the CEO ROS. 
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1.3 Regulatory Requirements 

Listing Rule 7.3.1 of the NZSX Listing Rules (the Listing Rules) states that no 
Issuer shall issue any Equity Securities unless the precise terms and conditions of 
the specific proposal to issue those Equity Securities have been approved by 
separate resolutions (passed by a simple majority of votes) of holders of each 
Class of Quoted Equity Securities of the Issuer whose rights or entitlements could 
be affected by that issue. 

Listing Rule 6.2.2(b) requires an Appraisal Report to be prepared where a meeting 
will consider a resolution where more than 50% of the securities to be issued will be 
acquired by directors of the Issuer. 

Shareholders will vote on an ordinary resolution in respect of the Chief Executive 
Incentive Scheme at Skellerup’s annual meeting on 26 October 2011 (resolution 4).  
Only the Company’s shareholders not associated with Mr Mair (the 
Non-associated Shareholders) may vote on the resolution. 

1.4 Purpose of the Report 

The directors of Skellerup not associated with Mr Mair (the Non-associated 
Directors) have engaged Simmons Corporate Finance Limited (Simmons 
Corporate Finance) to prepare an Appraisal Report on the fairness of the Chief 
Executive Incentive Scheme in accordance with Listing Rule 6.2.2(b). 

Simmons Corporate Finance was approved by NZX on 29 August 2011 to prepare 
the Appraisal Report. 

Simmons Corporate Finance issues this Appraisal Report to the Non-associated 
Directors for the benefit of the Non-associated Shareholders to assist them in 
forming their own opinion on whether to vote for or against the resolution in respect 
of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme. 

We note that each shareholder’s circumstances and objectives are unique.  
Accordingly, it is not possible to report on the fairness of the Chief Executive 
Incentive Scheme in relation to each shareholder.  This report on the fairness of the 
Chief Executive Incentive Scheme is therefore necessarily general in nature. 

The Appraisal Report is not to be used for any other purpose without our prior 
written consent. 
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2. Evaluation of the Fairness of the Chief Executive Incentive 
Scheme 

2.1 Basis of Evaluation 

Listing Rule 1.7.2 requires an Appraisal Report to consider whether the 
consideration and the terms and conditions of the Chief Executive Incentive 
Scheme are fair to the Non-associated Shareholders.   

There is no legal definition of the term fair in New Zealand in either the Listing 
Rules or in any statute dealing with securities or commercial law.  

In our opinion, the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme will be fair to the 
Non-associated Shareholders if: 

• the CEO ROS issued to Mr Mair under the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme 
represent a fair level of remuneration to Mr Mair  

• the terms and conditions of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme are fair. 

We have evaluated the fairness of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme by 
reference to: 

• the rationale for the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme 

• the terms and conditions of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme 

• the value of the CEO ROS to Mr Mair 

• the impact of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme on shareholding levels 

• the impact of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme on Skellerup’s share 
price. 

Our opinion should be considered as a whole.  Selecting portions of the evaluation 
without considering all the factors and analyses together could create a misleading 
view of the process underlying the opinion. 

2.2 Opinion on the Fairness of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme 

In our opinion, after having regard to all relevant factors, the consideration and the 
terms and conditions of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme are fair to the 
Non-associated Shareholders. 

The basis for our opinion is set out in detail in sections 2.3 to 2.10.  In summary, the 
key factors leading to our opinion are: 

• the rationale for the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme is sound as it seeks to 
provide a long-term incentive to Mr Mair that aligns his interests with the 
Non-associated Shareholders 

• the CEO ROS are issued at the money (ie the issue price is the current share 
price).  The CEO ROS will only have value to Mr Mair if the Company’s share 
price is higher at the transfer date than when the CEO ROS were issued 

• the CEO ROS can only be exercised in the period commencing 4 years after 
their issue date and ending 7 years after they are issued, thus aiding in the 
retention of Mr Mair 



 

 

Skellerup Holdings Limited Page 6 Appraisal Report 

• the overall remuneration level for Mr Mair appears to be reasonable (bearing 
in mind that the level of his short-term incentive bonus payment has yet to be 
determined) 

• the dilutionary impact of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme on 
Non-associated Shareholders is negligible at 1% 

• the CEO ROS are unlikely to have any material impact on Skellerup’s share 
price or the liquidity of its shares. 

2.3 Background to the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme 

Mr Mair was appointed to the Board in November 2006 as an independent director.  
He assumed the role of acting CEO in July 2010 when the Company’s long-
standing managing director Donald Stewart departed.  Mr Mair was appointed CEO 
in August 2011 and remains an executive director of the Company. 

Mr Mair’s employment terms are recorded in an individual employment agreement 
dated 23 August 2011 (the CEO Employment Agreement).  He receives a base 
salary, KiwiSaver contributions, a short-term incentive based on performance and 
long-term incentive remuneration in the form of the Chief Executive Incentive 
Scheme. 

2.4 Rationale for the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme 

In determining Mr Mair’s remuneration package, the Non-associated Directors were 
of the view that a part of Mr Mair’s remuneration should be linked to the value he 
creates for the Company’s shareholders through increases in share price.  The 
Non-associated Directors consider that the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme will 
aid in the retention of Mr Mair, align his interests with those of the Company’s 
shareholders and provide Mr Mair with incentives and rewards reflecting the 
performance and success of the Company. 

In general terms, companies provide equity-based long-term executive incentive  
remuneration to tie executives’ remuneration to the annual and long-term financial 
performance of the company and to align the interests of the executives with 
shareholders.  Key benefits to the company include: 

• equity-based long-term executive incentive remuneration helps to attract and 
retain top executives 

• it enables executives to build equity ownership in the company 

• executives’ interests are more closely aligned with shareholders’ interests. 

There has been growing criticism in New Zealand and abroad in respect of the 
equity-based incentive remuneration.  The criticisms centre around: 

• the lack of performance hurdles and/or inadequate explanation of 
performance hurdles 

• the length of term for the equity-based incentive remuneration being too short 
and hence not aligning with shareholder interests 

• already generous remuneration for executives. 
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In our view, the rationale for the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme as a component 
of Mr Mair’s remuneration package is sound: 

• it aims to provide a long-term incentive - spanning up to 7 years, thus aiding 
in the retention of Mr Mair 

• it is designed to align the interests of Mr Mair with those of the Company’s 
shareholders by issuing the CEO ROS at the money, thereby ensuring that 
the CEO ROS will only have value to Mr Mair if the Company’s share price 
has increased by the time he requests their transfer. 

However, we note that Mr Mair already has a strong alignment of interests with the 
Non-associated Shareholders as he and his associates are the 13th largest 
shareholder in the Company, holding 1.26% of the Company’s shares.  Therefore it 
is questionable as to whether the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme provides any 
significant incremental incentive to Mr Mair to enhance the value of the Company. 

2.5 Terms of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme 

Positive Features 

We consider the following terms are positive features of the Chief Executive 
Incentive Scheme: 

• the CEO ROS are issued at the money 

• the transfer period of the CEO ROS is over a 3 year period between the 4th 
and 7th anniversary of their issue 

• the CEO ROS are not eligible for distributions 

• the CEO ROS are not transferable. 

CEO ROS are Issued at the Money 

The issue price for the CEO ROS will be set at the 60 trading days VWAP.  
Accordingly, the CEO ROS will be issued in line with the recent market price – ie at 
the money.  In order for Mr Mair to derive value from the Chief Executive Incentive 
Scheme, the Company’s share price will need to have increased by the time he 
requests a transfer of the CEO ROS, in which case all current shareholders in the 
Company will benefit from an appreciation in the value of their investments in 
Skellerup. 

The graph below shows that Skellerup’s share price has increased from a low of 
$0.46 in February 2010 to a high of $1.35 in April 2011.  Skellerup’s shares have 
traded at a VWAP of $1.17 in the past year, $1.24 in the past 60 trading days and 
$1.24 in the past month. 
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4 to 7 Year Transfer Period 

Mr Mair may request a transfer of the CEO ROS from the Trustee on or at any time 
after the 4th anniversary of the issue date.  However, he may not request a transfer 
which would result in more than half of the CEO ROS being transferred before the 
5th anniversary of the issue date.   

Mr Mair is not obliged to request a transfer on the 4th or 5th anniversaries.  He can 
request a transfer of any amount at any time after the 4th anniversary as long as he 
complies with the limitations above.   

The right to request a transfer terminates after 7 years.  At that point, the Trustee 
shall redeem all CEO ROS that have not been transferred to Mr Mair. 

At the time of any transfer request, he must fully pay the balance of the issue price 
for the CEO ROS being transferred. 

The benefits to be derived by Mr Mair will not begin to accrue until, at the earliest, 4 
years from the issue date and will possibly accrue over a further 3 year period.  
This provides a long-term incentive to Mr Mair and may also aid in his retention. 

CEO ROS are not Eligible for Distributions 

The CEO ROS will not be eligible for dividends or other distributions until such time 
that they are fully paid up and transferred by the Trustee to Mr Mair.  

Mr Mair will only benefit from the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme through capital 
appreciation.  He will not benefit through the receipt of dividends paid out during the 
period while the CEO ROS are unpaid.   

Non Transferability 

The CEO ROS cannot be freely transferred by Mr Mair.  Therefore he cannot 
readily realise value for the CEO ROS in the near term.  Furthermore, if Mr Mair 
ceases to be an executive of the Company, the CEO ROS will be redeemed for the 
amount paid up on each share.  However, we note that the Board may, at its 
discretion, elect to permit Mr Mair to remain in the Chief Executive Incentive 
Scheme if he ceases to be an executive of the Company. 



 

 

Skellerup Holdings Limited Page 9 Appraisal Report 

Both these terms serve to provide a long-term incentive to Mr Mair and potentially 
aid in his retention as an employee of the Company over the term of the Chief 
Executive Incentive Scheme. 

Negative Features 

When viewed overall, we do not consider any of the terms of the Chief Executive 
Incentive Scheme to be negative from the perspective of the Non-associated 
Shareholders. 

We are of the view that additional terms could have been considered by the 
Non-associated Directors in devising the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme to 
further meet their objectives of providing a long-term incentive, aiding in the 
retention of Mr Mair and more closely aligning his interests with those of the Non-
associated Shareholders. 

Such additional terms could have included setting annual performance targets that 
had to be met before the CEO ROS would become eligible to be transferred.  Such 
performance targets could have been referenced to annual increases in total 
shareholder return, share price or earnings per share.  

While additional terms such as performance targets could more closely align with 
the objectives of the Non-associated Directors, they would have negative value 
implications to Mr Mair.  Therefore, in the context of his negotiations with the Board, 
other (compensating) terms may have been negotiated - such as an increased 
number of CEO ROS.  This may have resulted in minimal changes in the overall 
value of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme to Mr Mair or its cost to the 
Company. 

2.6 Value of the CEO ROS 

Our assessment of the value of the CEO ROS is set out in section 3. 

We assess the fair market value of the 1,947,533 CEO ROS to be in the range of 
$347,000 to $388,000.  This equates to approximately $0.18 to $0.20 per CEO 
ROS. 

The assessed values equate to $50,000 to $55,000 per annum over the maximum 
7 year period of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme. 

It is important to bear in mind that while we have assessed the current value of the 
1,947,533 CEO ROS to be in the range of $347,000 to $388,000, the actual benefit 
received by Mr Mair may be anywhere from nil (if no CEO ROS are transferred) to 
considerably more than $388,000 (depending on the actual prices of Skellerup 
shares). 

Skellerup will be required to recognise the fair value of the Chief Executive 
Incentive Scheme as an expense in its statement of comprehensive income in 
accordance with NZ IFRS-2 Share-based Payment (NZ IFRS-2).  NZ IFRS-2 has 
specific requirements on valuation measurement and reporting of the Chief 
Executive Incentive Scheme that are not specifically covered in this report.  These 
requirements may result in different values being recorded in Skellerup’s financial 
statements. 
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2.7 Mr Mair’s Remuneration Package 

Although the focus of our evaluation is primarily on the Chief Executive Incentive 
Scheme, consideration needs to be given to the overall level of remuneration for Mr 
Mair. 

Mr Mair’s employment terms are set out in the CEO Employment Agreement.  The 
key components of Mr Mair’s remuneration are: 

• a base salary 

• contributions to KiwiSaver 

• a short-term incentive in the form of a performance-related annual bonus 
scheme whereby the amount of the bonus paid is based on increases in the 
Company’s earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 

• a long-term incentive in the form of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme. 

Mr Mair’s remuneration package has been approved by the Board.  In setting the 
remuneration package, the Board obtained advice from external remuneration 
consultants on remuneration levels for CEOs of similar sized organisations. 

Mr Mair’s total remuneration will be disclosed each year in Skellerup’s annual 
report.  His remuneration is likely to vary each year due to the nature of his 
performance-related annual bonus scheme which is based on increases in the 
Company’s EBIT. 

We have reviewed but not disclosed the components of Mr Mair’s annual 
remuneration as these amounts are confidential to the Company and Mr Mair. 

A summary of market remuneration levels for CEOs of New Zealand companies 
with similar market capitalisation levels to Skellerup as surveyed by Moyle 
Consulting Limited (Moyle) in the Moyle CEO Survey 2011 is set out below.  The 
survey results do not include remuneration attributable to share options schemes. 
 

Summary of Market Remuneration 
 
 Total Remuneration 1 
     

 25%ile 
$000 

50%ile 
$000 

75%ile 
$000 

Average 
$000 

     

Listed New Zealand companies with a market capitalisation 
between $200m and $500m (n = 19) 

550 627 1,295 839 

     
1  Base salary, bonus payments and benefits 
 
Source:   Moyle CEO Survey 2011 
 

Skellerup’s current market capitalisation is $243 million. 
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Given that Mr Mair has only recently commenced in the role of CEO and hence has 
not yet earned a short-term incentive bonus payment, it is not possible to compare 
his total remuneration with the market levels set out above.  However, we note that: 

• Mr Mair’s base salary equates to the 25th percentile of base salaries for 
CEOs of New Zealand companies with a market capitalisation between $200 
million and $500 million 

• the total of Mr Mair’s base salary plus the assessed annualised value of the 
CEO ROS is between the 25th and 50th percentiles of the total remuneration 
for CEOs of New Zealand companies with a market capitalisation between 
$200 million and $500 million. 

We note that the Moyle CEO Survey 2011 found that only 5% of the CEO’s 
surveyed participated in a share ownership scheme.  The lack of data means it is 
difficult to make comparisons of market levels of share ownership scheme 
packages.  The only definitive conclusion that can be drawn from the market data is 
that share ownership scheme packages similar to the Chief Executive Incentive 
Scheme are not common amongst the CEOs surveyed.     

Based on the results of the Moyle CEO Survey 2011, we are of the view that the 
overall level of remuneration for Mr Mair is reasonable.  However, the structure of 
Mr Mair’s performance-related annual bonus scheme means that his remuneration 
may vary significantly from year to year. 

2.8 Impact on Shareholding Levels 

Share Capital and Shareholders 

Skellerup currently has 192,805,807 fully paid ordinary shares on issue, held by 
4,745 shareholders. 

The names, number of shares and percentage holding of the 10 largest 
shareholders as at 5 September 2011 are set out below. 
 

Skellerup’s 10 Largest Shareholders  
   
Shareholder No. of Shares Held % 
   

AMP Investment Strategic Equity Growth Fund 20,027,663 10.39% 
Accident Compensation Corporation 10,766,754 5.58% 
H & G Limited 10,616,169 5.51% 
Investment Custodial Services Limited 9,399,947 4.88% 
New Zealand Superannuation Fund Nominees Limited 9,364,830 4.86% 
NZGT Nominees Limited 8,708,527 4.52% 
TEA Custodians Limited 4,678,038 2.43% 
Investment Custodial Services Limited 4,165,000 2.16% 
S K Shares Limited 3,877,486 2.01% 
New Zealand Permanent Trustees Limited 3,265,000 1.69% 
   

Subtotal 84,869,414 44.02% 
Others (4,735 shareholders) 107,936,393 55.98% 
   

Total 192,805,807 100.00% 
    
Source: Computershare 
    

Mr Mair and his associates hold 2,427,506 shares, representing 1.26% of the total 
shares on issue. 
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Shareholding Control 

Assuming 1,947,533 CEO ROS are issued and subsequently fully paid up and 
converted into ordinary shares and no other shares are issued, there will be 
194,753,340 ordinary shares on issue.  Mr Mair and his associates will hold 
4,375,039 shares, representing 2.25% of the shares on issue. 

In our view, the increase in Mr Mair and his associates’ shareholding from 1.26% to 
a maximum of 2.25% is unlikely to have a material impact on his ability to exercise 
shareholder voting control. 

Dilutionary Impact 

Assuming 1,947,533 CEO ROS are issued and subsequently fully paid and 
converted into ordinary shares, this will result in the Non-associated Shareholders’ 
proportionate shareholdings in the Company being diluted by 1.0%. 

We do not consider this level of dilution to be of significance to highlight it as a 
negative aspect of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme. 

2.9 Impact on Share Price and Liquidity 

Share Price 

A graph of the Company’s daily share price and volumes traded since 5 January 
2009 is set out in section 2.5. 

We consider the existence of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme is unlikely to 
have a material effect (either positive or negative) on the Company’s share price as 
the issue price of the CEO ROS will be based on the 60 day VWAP and the 
dilutionary impact of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme is not significant. 

Liquidity 

An analysis of VWAP, traded volumes and liquidity (measured as traded volumes 
as a percentage of shares outstanding) is set out below. 
 

Share Trading 
      
Period Low 1 

($) 
High 1

($) 
VWAP 1 

($) 
Volume 
Traded 1 

(000) 

Liquidity 

      
1 month 1.18 1.27 1.24 2,077 1.1% 
      

3 months 1.12 1.29 1.24 9,212 4.8% 
      

6 months 1.12 1.36 1.27 15,252 7.9% 
      

12 months 0.88 1.36 1.17 36,884 19.1% 
     
1  To 14 September 2011 
      

The Company’s shares have traded on every trading day in the past year at a 
VWAP of $1.17. 

The size of the pool of shares held by the Non-associated Shareholders will not 
change as a result of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme. 

In our view, the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme in itself is unlikely to have a 
positive or negative effect on the liquidity of Skellerup’s shares. 
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2.10 Implications of the Resolution not being Approved 

In the event that resolution 4 in respect of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme is 
not approved, the Scheme Deed will be terminated. 

The Non-associated Directors will need to re-enter into remuneration negotiations 
with Mr Mair.  Re-entering into remuneration negotiations is unlikely to be a 
desirable situation for the Company as it gives rise to a number of risks: 

• the potential distraction and lack of focus on Company operations as further 
negotiations are entered into 

• additional costs to the Company if the alternative remuneration package 
requires shareholder approval 

• in the extreme case, the possibility of Mr Mair resigning from his position if a 
suitable alternative long-term incentive scheme cannot be negotiated or 
approved by the Non-associated Shareholders. 

2.11 Voting For or Against the Resolution in Respect of the Chief Executive 
Incentive Scheme 

Voting for or against resolution 4 in respect of the Chief Executive Incentive 
Scheme is a matter for individual shareholders based on their own views as to 
value and future market conditions, risk profile and other factors.  Shareholders will 
need to consider these consequences and consult their own professional adviser if 
appropriate. 
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3. Valuation of the CEO Redeemable Ordinary Shares 

3.1 Methodology and Valuation Approach 

The CEO ROS can be transferred in the period that commences 4 years after the 
CEO ROS are issued and ends 7 years after they are issued.  In theory, Mr Mair 
would only request a transfer if the Company’s share price at the date of transfer 
exceeds the issue price.   

A CEO ROS therefore has the characteristics of an option (or more correctly a 
warrant) in that Mr Mair has the right, but not the obligation, to request the transfer 
of the CEO ROS (to exercise the option) if the amount to be paid up (if the exercise 
price) is less than the share price at the time.   

As the CEO ROS can be transferred at any time after certain dates, they are akin to 
American options (as opposed to European options which can only be exercised on 
one particular day) and can be valued using option pricing models. 

The Binomial option-valuation model (Binomial Model) and the Black-Scholes 
option-valuation formula (Black-Scholes Formula) are commonly used in 
commercial practice to value options.  The Binomial Model is more appropriate for 
the valuation of American options and options over shares which are expected to 
pay dividends during the exercise period, although variants of the Black-Scholes 
Formula exist to handle the valuation of such options. 

The key variables in determining the value of an American Option are: 

• the exercise price of the option 

• the risk free rate 

• the current spot price or market value of the underlying instrument 

• the volatility of the returns on the underlying instrument 

• the time to expiry  

• the expected distributions to be made on the underlying instrument. 

The values derived from the Binomial Model and Black-Scholes Formula represent 
the value of options over existing shares.  The CEO ROS are in effect warrants and 
hence Skellerup will issue new ordinary shares whenever the CEO ROS are 
transferred and fully paid up.  Accordingly, an adjustment must be made to the 
values derived from the Binomial Model and Black-Scholes Formula to take into 
account the dilutionary effect of the CEO ROS. 

Furthermore, the values derived from the Binomial Model and Black-Scholes 
Formula represent the value of options which are freely tradable.  Given that the 
CEO ROS are not able to be traded, we have further adjusted the values derived 
from the Binomial Model and Black-Scholes Formula to allow for the lack of 
marketability of the CEO ROS. 
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We have assessed the value of the CEO ROS under 2 scenarios, reflecting the 2 
extremes in the possible timing of transfer requests by Mr Mair: 

• Earliest Transfer – half of the CEO ROS are transferred on the 4th 
anniversary of their issue date and the 2nd half are transferred on the 5th 
anniversary of their issue date 

• Latest Transfer – all of the CEO ROS are transferred on the 7th anniversary 
of their issue date. 

3.2 Valuation Assessment – Earliest Transfer 

Valuation Parameters 

The key variables applied in our assessment of the value of the CEO ROS under 
the Earliest Transfer scenario are: 

• number of CEO ROS – 1,947,533 

• valuation date – 26 October 2011, being the date of the Company’s annual 
meeting.  If approved by the Non-associated Shareholders, the CEO ROS will 
be issued to the Trustee as soon as possible after the date of that approval 

• exercise price – $1.23 per share, being the 60 trading days VWAP to 
14 September 2011 less the $0.01 initially paid up 

• the risk free rate – 3.5%, based on the current yield on New Zealand 
Government 15 April 2015 bonds 

• the current market value of Skellerup’s shares – $1.24, being the 1 month 
VWAP up to 14 September 2011 

• volatility - 30%, based on the observed volatility levels of movements in 
Skellerup’s share price and for comparable companies 

• the time to expiry – 26 October 2015 for half of the CEO ROS and 26 October 
2016 for the other half of the CEO ROS, being the 4th and 5th anniversary of 
their issue 

• expected distributions – assumed to equate to a dividend yield of 5.0%. 

Dilutionary Effect  

The Binomial Model and Black-Scholes Formula assume that the options are over 
existing shares.  However, the CEO ROS are akin to warrants.  Skellerup will need 
to issue new ordinary shares when the CEO ROS are transferred and fully paid up 
and therefore the new shares will have a dilutionary effect.  This is taken into 
account in our valuation. 

We have assumed that the number of ordinary shares on issue prior to the transfer 
of the CEO ROS is 192,805,807 shares. 
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Discount for Restrictive Terms 

The Binomial Model and Black-Scholes Formula assume that the options being 
valued can be sold on a secondary market.  The terms of the Chief Executive 
Incentive Scheme forbid the trading of the CEO ROS.  Accordingly, a discount to 
the values derived from the Binomial Model and Black-Scholes Formula is required 
to reflect the restrictive terms.  We have applied a discount of 20% to the values 
assessed under the Binomial Model and Black-Scholes Formula (adjusted for 
dilution). 

Valuation Conclusion 

Based on the above, we assess the fair market value of the 1,947,533 CEO ROS to 
be in the vicinity of $347,000 under the Earliest Transfer scenario. 

3.3 Valuation Assessment – Latest Transfer 

Valuation Parameters 

The key variables applied in our assessment of the value of the CEO ROS under 
the Latest Transfer scenario are: 

• number of CEO ROS – 1,947,533 

• valuation date – 26 October 2011 

• exercise price – $1.23 per share  

• the risk free rate – 4.1%, based on the current yield on New Zealand 
Government 15 December 2017 bonds 

• the current market value of Skellerup’s shares – $1.24 

• volatility - 30% 

• the time to expiry – 26 October 2018, being the last day that Mr Mair may 
transfer the CEO ROS 

• expected distributions – assumed to equate to a dividend yield of 5.0% 

• dilutionary effect – assumed number of ordinary shares on issue prior to the 
transfer of the CEO ROS is 192,805,807 shares  

• discount for restrictive terms – 20%. 

Valuation Conclusion 

Based on the above, we assess the fair market value of the 1,947,533 CEO ROS to 
be in the vicinity of $388,000 under the Latest Transfer scenario. 

3.4 Valuation Conclusion 

We assess the fair market value of the 1,947,533 CEO ROS to be in the range of 
$347,000 to $388,000.  This equates to approximately $0.18 to $0.20 per CEO 
ROS. 
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4. Sources of Information, Reliance on Information, Disclaimer 
and Indemnity 

4.1 Sources of Information 

The statements and opinions expressed in this report are based on the following 
main sources of information: 

• the draft Skellerup notice of annual general meeting 

• the Skellerup 2010 annual report 

• the Skellerup annual results 2011 announcement 

• the CEO Employment Agreement  

• the draft Scheme Deed 

• share price data and shareholder data from NZX Data and Computershare 

• the Moyle CEO Survey 2011. 

During the course of preparing this report, we have had discussions with and/or 
received information from the Non-associated Directors and executive management 
of Skellerup and Skellerup’s legal advisers.   

The Non-associated Directors have confirmed that we have been provided for the 
purpose of this Appraisal Report with all information relevant to the Chief Executive 
Incentive Scheme that is known to them and that all the information is true and 
accurate in all material aspects and is not misleading by reason of omission or 
otherwise. 

Including this confirmation, we have obtained all the information that we believe is 
necessary for the purpose of preparing this Appraisal Report. 

In our opinion, the information set out in this Appraisal Report is sufficient to enable 
the Non-associated Directors and the Non-associated Shareholders to understand 
all the relevant factors and to make an informed decision in respect of the Chief 
Executive Incentive Scheme. 

4.2 Reliance on Information 

In preparing this report we have relied upon and assumed, without independent 
verification, the accuracy and completeness of all information that was available 
from public sources and all information that was furnished to us by Skellerup and its 
advisers. 

We have evaluated that information through analysis, enquiry and examination for 
the purposes of preparing this report but we have not verified the accuracy or 
completeness of any such information or conducted an appraisal of any assets.  
We have not carried out any form of due diligence or audit on the accounting or 
other records of Skellerup.  We do not warrant that our enquiries would reveal any 
matter which an audit, due diligence review or extensive examination might 
disclose. 
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4.3 Disclaimer 

We have prepared this report with care and diligence and the statements in the 
report are given in good faith and in the belief, on reasonable grounds, that such 
statements are not false or misleading.  However, in no way do we guarantee or 
otherwise warrant that any forecasts of future profits, cash flows or financial 
position of Skellerup will be achieved.  Forecasts are inherently uncertain.  They 
are predictions of future events that cannot be assured.  They are based upon 
assumptions, many of which are beyond the control of Skellerup and its directors 
and management.  Actual results will vary from the forecasts and these variations 
may be significantly more or less favourable.    

We assume no responsibility arising in any way whatsoever for errors or omissions 
(including responsibility to any person for negligence) for the preparation of the 
report to the extent that such errors or omissions result from our reasonable 
reliance on information provided by others or assumptions disclosed in the report or 
assumptions reasonably taken as implicit. 

Our evaluation has been arrived at based on economic, exchange rate, market and 
other conditions prevailing at the date of this report.  Such conditions may change 
significantly over relatively short periods of time.  We have no obligation or 
undertaking to advise any person of any change in circumstances which comes to 
our attention after the date of this report or to review, revise or update our report. 

We have had no involvement in the preparation of the notice of annual meeting 
issued by Skellerup and have not verified or approved the contents of the notice of 
annual meeting.  We do not accept any responsibility for the contents of the notice 
of annual meeting except for this report. 

4.4 Indemnity 

Skellerup has agreed that, to the extent permitted by law, it will indemnify Simmons 
Corporate Finance and its directors and employees in respect of any liability 
suffered or incurred as a result of or in connection with the preparation of the report.  
This indemnity does not apply in respect of any negligence, wilful misconduct or 
breach of law.  Skellerup has also agreed to indemnify Simmons Corporate Finance 
and its directors and employees for time incurred and any costs in relation to any 
inquiry or proceeding initiated by any person.  Where Simmons Corporate Finance 
or its directors and employees are found liable for or guilty of negligence, wilful 
misconduct or breach of law or term of reference, Simmons Corporate Finance 
shall reimburse such costs. 
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5. Qualifications and Expertise, Independence, Declarations 
and Consents 

5.1 Qualifications and Expertise 

Simmons Corporate Finance is a New Zealand owned specialist corporate finance 
advisory practice. It advises on mergers and acquisitions, prepares independent 
expert's reports and provides valuation advice. 

The person in the company responsible for issuing this report is Peter Simmons, 
B.Com, DipBus (Finance), CFIP. 

Simmons Corporate Finance and Mr Simmons have significant experience in the 
independent investigation of transactions and issuing opinions on the merits and 
fairness of the terms and financial conditions of the transactions. 

5.2 Independence  

Simmons Corporate Finance does not have at the date of this report, and has not 
had, any shareholding in or other relationship with Skellerup or Mr Mair or any 
conflicts of interest that could affect our ability to provide an unbiased opinion in 
relation to this transaction. 

Simmons Corporate Finance has not had any part in the formulation of the Chief 
Executive Incentive Scheme or any aspects thereof.  Our sole involvement has 
been the preparation of this report. 

Simmons Corporate Finance will receive a fixed fee for the preparation of this 
report.  This fee is not contingent on the conclusions of this report or the outcome of 
the voting in respect of the Chief Executive Incentive Scheme.  We will receive no 
other benefit from the preparation of this report. 

5.3 Declarations 

An advance draft of this report was provided to the Non-associated Directors for 
their comments as to the factual accuracy of the contents of the report.  Changes 
made to the report as a result of the circulation of the draft have not changed the 
methodology or our conclusions. 

Our terms of reference for this engagement did not contain any term which 
materially restricted the scope of the report. 

5.4 Consents  

We consent to the issuing of this report in the form and context in which it is to be 
included in the notice of annual meeting to be sent to Skellerup shareholders.  
Neither the whole nor any part of this report, nor any reference thereto may be 
included in any other document without our prior written consent as to the form and 
context in which it appears. 
     

 
Peter Simmons 
Director 
Simmons Corporate Finance Limited 
15 September 2011 
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